






























        August 25, 2020 

 

PROPERTIES ON TOWN SEWER THAT 
MAINTAIN THEIR OWN ON-SITE EQUIPMENT 

 
All 10 properties are connected into the Town of Bourne Sewer System. 
Property owners maintain private pumps and not the Town of Bourne. 
Property owners are responsible to maintain equipment at their own expense. 

 

1. 9R Main Street 
2. CVS Pharmacy 
3. Honora Court [16 units] 
4. Bourne Oaks  [4 buildings = 106 units] 
5. Hideaway Village [266 units] 
6. Hess Gas Station – Dunkin Donuts  
7. Wayho Restaurant 
8. 304 Main Street [Chu residential] 
9. 2 Bourne Bridge Approach [Pet Smart/Starbucks) 
10. 39 Buttermilk Way 

 



TO:  Board of Selectmen 

FROM:  Thomas M. Guerino – Town Administrator 

RE:  Issues regarding Hideaway Village 

DATE:  December 10, 2013 

 

The following is the Town Administrator’s determination as it relates to the concerns brought forward 
by residents of Hideaway Village.  These relate to the costs of waste water disposal and transmission.  
This determination has been formulated after substantial consultation with Mr. George Tribou, Mr. 
Michael Leitzel, and discussions with USDA Rural Development.  Consultation with USDA RD was limited 
to documentation on file with the Agency and those documents have apparently been purged due to 
the long time period elapsed since the original agreements were signed in the late 1980’s and early 
1990’s. 
 
As you are aware, residents at Hideaway have questioned why they are required to pay the same sewer 
use charge as other municipal users of the system when they take care of the sewer lines/pump 
replacements at their own cost and receive no assistance from the Town of Bourne.  It is their belief that 
this is not equitable. 
 
A brief history of the inception of the sewer system(s) is in order; 
 
The Town of Bourne was required to commence treatment of some wastewater in areas of Buzzards Bay 
from both an environmental and economic development perspective.  While the Town may have sought 
to have its’ own treatment facility at the time, it was determined that that the Town would enter into 
joint collection system with the Town of Wareham.  At the time there was up to 90% cost mitigation 
emanating from EPA (75%) and the then named D.E.Q.E  (15%).  At the same time, Hideaway was being 
pressured to take care of their own wastewater problems as it related to failed septic issues and 
pollution into the Buttermilk Bay area.  The governmental agencies from the Federal and State 
Governments were strongly proposing that Hideaway construct a wastewater treatment system. This  
was separate from any proposed treatment options the Town of Bourne was being required to 
undertake with Wareham.  As you can imagine, the costs were going to be prohibitive for the residents 
at Hideaway.  Thus after some dialogue with the Town, Federal and State Agencies, Hideaway was 
allowed to connect into the town’s collection and transmission system and have a reserved capacity of 
60,000 gallons per day.  In lieu of having the cost of the construction of its own treatment plant, 
Hideaway made a payment of $300,000 to the Town toward the cost of the pump station on Head of the 
Bay Road.  The DEQE directed that the Town shall maintain the pump station and lines outside the 
geographic boundaries of Hideaway.  This is the only mention of Hideaway Village in town related 
documents that we could come across from either EPA or DEQE .   
 
It is our position that Hideaway Village has no extraordinary right to reduced rates in regards to fees 
assessed for the collection/transmission of wastewater.  The Town has no additional responsibility to 
maintain any lines, equipment, additional pumping capacity, or replace same in relation to Hideaway 
Village. 
 



 
Page 2 
 
 
Hideaway is not treated or considered in any different light than any other private housing or 
condominium development connected to the wastewater collection system, nor should it be.  Examples 
of other private housing entities include the Canal Crossing, and Bourne Oaks and the currently under 
construction assisted living development in Buzzards Bay.   Additionally, any for profit entity is also 
responsible for all costs related to sewer treatment.  Most recent examples of this on the retail 
commercial end include CVS and HESS Oil.  Further, the Town of Bourne Sewer Commissioners have 
provided the owners of Hideaway consideration by billing each dwelling  unit individually as opposed to 
the historic method of billing which was only one bill to the association.  This saves on the “C” factor 
assessment (internal to Hideaway) to owners at the complex but adds an additional 266 accounts that 
the Town tracks and invoices.   
 
In conclusion, after as thorough review as possible with staff and taking into consideration the totality of 
the waste water system in Buzzards Bay, no financial or fee reduction is warranted or recommended. 
 
  













: i 
AGREEMENT 

FOR 

IMA-07-01-09-89 

WASTEWATER COLLECTION, TREATMENT AND DISPOSAL 

BETWEEN 

TOWN OF WAREHAM, MASSACHUSETTS AND TOWN OF BOURNE, MASSACHUSETTS 

This a.greement, made and entered unto this J31d. day of P@1/Jflf!:} , c:2010 

by and between the Town of Wareham, a municipal corporation within the 

County of Plymouth and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts acting through 

its Board of Selectmen, hereinafter referred to as ''Wareham" and the 

Town of Bourne, a municipal corporation within the County of Barnstable 

and the CoITU11onwealth of Massachusetts acting through its Board of 

Selectmen, hereinafter referred to as "Bourneu. 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, The Division of Water Pollution Control of the Massachusetts 

Department of Environmental .Protection endorses the recommendations of 

the 208 Areawide Wastewater management Plan for Southeastern 

Massachusetts, the Wareham 201 Wastewater Facilities Plan, the Bourne 

201 Wastewater Facilities Plan, and 

WHEREAS, the Division of Water Pollution Control has approved a plan 

whereby Bourne will discharge its wastewaters to Wareham's sewage 

work$,. and 

WHEREAS, the communities deern it· to be the most economical and in the 

pubic interest to enter into an Agreement whereby Wareham would 

receive, treat and dispose of Bourne's wastewaters through Wareham's 

sewage works. 

WHEREAS, the communities are authorized by Chapter 40, Sections ~ and 

4A ot· the General Laws of the Commonweal th of Massachusetts to enter 

into contracts and agreements for the purpose of aiding in the 

prevention or abatement of water pollution, and 

WHEREAS, Wareham agrees to sell to Bourne an annual average daily 

wastewater flow capacity not to exceed 200,000 GPO. The source of the 

wastewater flow will be from the Village of Buzzards Bay {approximately 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

140,000 GPO) and Hideaway Village (approximately 60,000 GPO) and will 

be derived only for the services of the critical needs of Bourne, as 

identified in the 1'201 Facilities Plan and Environmental Information 

Document for the Town of Bourne, Massachusetts - Final Draft'' dated May 

1984 together with the Regionalization Supplement dated March 1988, 

prepared by the engineering firm of Anderson-Nichols. Said areas shall 

include the following: Phase I, Phase II, Phase III, and Phase IV all 

as shown in Exhibit 1, attached hereto, entitled, "Figure 6-1, Sewer 

Phasing" and Hideaway Village as shown in Exhibit 2, attached hereto, 

entitled "Figure V-2, Recommended Plan for Hideaway Village", all of 

which are hereinafter referred to as critical needs in Bourne, and 

WHEREAS, Wareham and Bourne have been authorized to enter into this 

agreement by vote of their respective Town Meetings as evidenced by 

certified copies of the approved Articles, attached hereto as Exhibit 

3. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of these premises and mutual benefits 

to be derived by the parties hereto, an Agreement is prepared in the 

following form: 

Article 1 

Article 2 

Article 3 

Article 4 

Article 5 

Article 6 

Article 7 

Article 8 

Article 9 

Article 10 

Article 11 

Article 12 

Article 13 

Article 14 

Article 15 

ARTICLE 1. DEFINITIONS 

Definitions 

Wastewater Characteristics 

Terms of Agreement 

DELETED 

Payment - Capital Investment 

Payments - Operation and Maintenance 

Measurement of Flow 

Sampling of Wastewater 

Notice of Changes 

Pretreatment 

Septage 

Contract Administration 

Termination 

Approval By Emergency Finance Board 

Other Considerations 

1.1 For the purpose of this Agreement, the following terms are 

defined: 

2 



1.1. l 

l .1. 2 

1.]. 3 

1.1. 4 

1.1. 5 

1. 1. 6 

1.1. 7 

IMA-07-01-09-89 

"Average Daily Flow'' shall mean the total flow as measured 

at a metering location, divided by the same number of days 

in the flow period. 

"BOD (denoting Biochemical Oxygen Demand) shall mean the 

quantity of oxygen utilized in the biochemical oxidation 

of organic matter under standard laboratory procedure in 

five (5) days at 20° C, expressed in milligrams per liter 

(or pounds per day). 

"Bourneu is the Town of Bourne, a municipal corporation of 

the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 

"Bourne Board" shall be the Board of Selectmen acting as 

the sewer commissibners of the Town of Bourne. 

"Bourne Wastewater" shall mean wastewater originating from 

only those sources defined in Exhibits 1 and 2, · attached 

hereto, and otherwise known as Phases I, II, III, and IV 

within the Village of Buzzards Bay and Hideaway Village, 

herein referred to as critical needs. 

"Building Drainn shall mean that part of the lowest 

horizontal piping of a drainage system which receives the 

discharge from soil, waste and other drainage pipes inside 

the walls of the building and conveys it to the building 

sewer, beginning ten (10) feet outside the inner face of 

the building wall. 

"Building Sewer'' shall mean the extension from the 

building drain to the public sewer. 

l . l . 8 DELETED 

1.1.9 "Combined Sewer" shall mean a sewer receiving both surface 

runoff anQ sewage. 

1.1.10 "Common Sewage Works" shall mean that portion of the 

Wareham sewage works all in Wareham that will be used by 

3 



lMA-07-01-09-89 

Wareham and Bourne. 

1.1.11 "Communities" shall mean the Towns of Wareham and Bourne. 

1.1.12 "DEP" is the abbreviation for Massachusetts Department of 

Environmental Protection. 

1.1.13 ''GPO" is the abbreviation for gallons per day. 

1.1.14 "Industrial Wastes" shall mean the liquid wastes from 

industrial manufacturing processes, trade or business and 

distinct from sanitary sewage. 

1.1.15 "Memorandum of Intent" shall mean the nine I 9) page 

document, 

September 

including the addendum 

1, 1988 by a majority of 

thereto, signed 

the members of 

on 

the 

Wareham Board of Selectmen and the Bourne Board of 

Selectmen which outlines the general areas of mutual 

agreement setting the foundation for the agreement 

contained herein. 

1.1.16 "MGD" is the abbreviation for million gallons per day. 

1.1.17 "NPDES Permit" shall mean the National Pollutant Discharge 

Elimination System permit for the Wareham Sewag'e Treatment 

Plant. 

1.1.18 "Operation and Maintenance Cost" 

the operation and maintenance 

including but not limited to 

means costs relating to 

of the sewage works, 

labor, power, chemicals, 

administration, supplies, 

incidental costs. 

equipment replacement, and 

1.1.19 "Peak Hourly Flow" means the highest volume of wastewater, 

during a continuous sixty (60) minute period. 

1.1.20 "Person" shall mean any individual, firm, company, 

association, society, corporation, group or other legal 

entity. 

4 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

1.1 .21 "pH" shall mean the logarithm of the reciprocal of weight 

of hydrogen ions in grams per liter of solution. 

1.1. 22 "Public Sewer" shall mean a sewer in which all owners of 

abutting properties have equal rights and is controlled by 

public authority. 

1.1. 23 "Sanitary Sewage" shall mean water-carried waste from the 

sanitary conveniences such as toilets, washrooms, urinals, 

sinks, showers, drinking fountains, small laundries and 

from kitchens, restaurants, cafeterias and floor drains 

essentially free of industrial wastes or toxic materials. 

1.1.24. ''Sanitary Sewern shall mean a sewer which carries sanitary 

sewage and to which storm, surface and ground waters are 

not intentionally admitted. 

1.1.25 "Septage" means the wastes from holding tanks, septic 

tanks, and cesspools. 

1.1.26 "Sewage Treatment Plant" shall mean any arrangement of 

devices and structures used for treating sewage. 

1.1.27 "Sewage Works" shall mean all facilities for collecting, 

pumping, treating, and disposing of sewage and sludge. 

1.1.28 ~sewer" shall mean a pipe or conduit for carrying sewage. 

1.1.29 "Shall" is mandatory; "May" is permissive. 

1. 1. 3 0 DELETED 

1.1.31 "Slug" shall mean any discharge of water, sewage, or 

industrial waste which in coricentration of any given 

constituent or in quantity of flow exceeds· for any period 

of duration longer than fifteen ( 15) minutes, or more than 

five (5) times the average twenty-four (24) hour 

concentration or flows during normal operation. 

5 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

1 .1. 32 "Storm Drain" (sometimes termed "Storm Sewer") shall mean 

a sewer, which carries storm and surface waters and 

drainage, but excludes sewage and industrial waste, other 

than unpolluted cooling water. 

1.1.33 ''Total Flow11 includes the total amount of sewage flowing 

into the 

contributed 

communities. 

sewerage 

to such 

works and includes the sewage 

system by the participating 

l .1. 34 "Total Flow Capacity Allocation" shall refer to the amount 

of sewage treatment plant capacity set aside for use by 

each community. The Wareham total flow capacity 

allocation is 1. 30 MGD average daily flow and the Bourne 

total flow capacity allocation is 0.20 MGD average daily 

flow. 

1.1. 35 "Total suspended Solids" (abbreviated TSS) shall mean 

solids that either float on the surface of, or are in 

susp~nsion in water, sewage or other liquids and which are 

removable by laboratory filtering, expressed in milligrams 

per liter by weight (or pounds per day). 

1.1.36 "Warehamn is the Town of Wareham, a municipal corporation 

of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 

l .1. 37 "Wareham Board" shall be the Board of Selectmen acting as 

sewer commissioners of the Town of Wareham. 

1.1. 38 DELETED 

1. 1 . 3 9 "Wastewater" (sometimes termed "Sewage") shall mean the 

spent water of the communities a·nd may be a combination of 

the liquid and water carried waste from residences, 

commercial buildings, industrial plant.s and ins ti tut ions, 

together with any groundwater and surface water that may 

be present. 

1.1.40 "User" shall 

association, 

mean 

society, 

any individual, firm, company, 

corporation or group having a 

6 



1.1.41 

IMA-07-01-09-89 

connection to and deriving a benefit (either actual or 

potential) from the sewage works. 

"User Charges" shall 

the sewage works 

maintenance. 

mean 

for 

a charge levied on all users of 

the cost of operation and 

ARTICLE 2. WASTEWATER CHARACTERISTICS 

2 .1 Prior to introducing wastewater into. the common sewage wor_ks, 

Bourne shall adopt and conform to Sewer Use Bylaws, or 

regulations similar to Wareham's Bylaws, Division V, dated August 

1, 1986 and any amendments thereto. Prior to adoption, Bourne 

shall provide a copy to Wareham for their review and approval. 

2.2 Wareham shall receive and treat Bourne's wastewaters and septage 

in accordance with all State and Federal laws, regulations, water 

quality standards, orders or decrees of any State and/or Federal 

governmental authority having jurisdiction over the treatment and. 

disposal of wastewaters, and Wareham shall make its best effort 

to be at all times in compliance with the NPDES Permit. 

2. J Bourne shall enforce its Sewer Use Bylaws to ensure that any 

storm drain or combined sewer will not directly or indirectly 

connect into the common sewage works or local sewage works, and 

to ensure that any drainage, substances, septage, or wastewater 

containing, but not limited to, the following characteristics · in 

a volume determined to be excessive by DEF Di vision of Water 

Pollution Control will not discharge into the sewage.works. 

2.3.1 Any gasoline, benzene, naptha, lube oil, fuel oil, or other 

flammable, or explosive liquid, solid or gas. 

2.3.2 Any waters or wastes containing toxic or poisonous solids, 

liquids, gases, or hazardous materials in sufficient 

quantity, either singly or by interaction with any sewage 

treatment process, which constitute a hazard to humans· or 

animals, create a public nuisance, or create any hazard to 

humans or animals, create a public nuisance, or create any 

7 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

hazard in the receiving waters of the sewage treatment 

plant. 

2.3.3 Any waters or wastes having a pH lower than (5.5), or 

having any other corrosive property capable of causing 

damage or hazard to structures, equipment, and personnel of 

the sewage works. 

2.3.4 Solid or viscous substances in quantities or of such size 

capable of causing obstruction to the flow in sewers, or 

other interference with the proper operation of the sewer 

wOrks such as, but not limited to, ashes, cinders, sand, 

mud, straw, shavings, metal, glass, rags, feathers, tar, 

plastics, wood, inground garbage, whole blood, paunch 

manure, hair and fleshings, entrails, and paper dishes, 

cups, milk containers, etc., either whole or ground by 

garbage grinders. 

2. 3. 5 Any liquid or vapor having .a temperature higher than one 

hundred fifty (150) °F (65°C). 

2 .3.6 Any water or waste containing fats, wax, grease, or oils 

whether emulsified or not, in excess of one hundred (100) 

mg/1 or containing substances which may solidify or become 

viscous at temperatures between thirty-two (32) and one 

hundred fifty (150)°F (0 and 65°C) 

2.3.7 Any radioactive waste or isotopes of such half-life 

established 

or 

concentration as may exceed limits by 

applicable State or Federal regulations. 

2.3.8 Any waters or wastes having a pH in excess of 9.5. 

2,3.9 Materials which exert or cause: 

I 1) Unusual 

(such as, 

slurries, 

(such as, 

concentrations of 

but not limited 

and lime residues} 

but not limited 

sodium sulfate) 

inert suspended solids 

to, Fullers Earth, lime 

or of dissolved solids 

to, sodium chloride and 

8 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

(2) Excessive discoloration (such as, but not limited to, 

dye wastes and vegetable tanning solutions). 

(3) Unusual BOD, chemical oxygen demand, or chlorine 

requirements in such quantities as to constitute a 

significant load on the sewage treatment plant. 

(4) Unusual volume of flow or concentration of wastes 

constituting ''slugsu as defined herein. 

2.3.10 Waters or wastes containing substances which are not 

amendable to treatment or reduction by the sewage 

treatment process employed, or are amenable to treatment 

only to such degree that the sewage treatment plant 

effluent cannot meet the requirements of other agencies 

having jurisdiction over discharge to the receiving 

waters. 

ARTICLE 3. TERM OF AGREEMENT 

3 .1 The term of this agreement shall be for twenty (20) 

commencing from the date of execution of this Agreement, 

to provisions of Articles 12 and 13. 

years 

subject 

The Wareham Board of Sewer Commissioners and the Bourne Board of 

Sewer Commissioners shall jointly review this agreement every 

five (5) years within the twenty-year agreement. The staffs of 

the Wareham Sewer Department and Bourne Sewer Department shall 

jointly review this agreement every two (2) years within the 

twenty-year agreement. 

At the termination of the twenty {20) year term, both communities 

may renew the Agreement as appropriate. 

ARTICLE 4. DELETED 

q .1 DELETED 

9 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

4. 2 DELETED 

4. 3 DELETED 

ARTICLE 5. PAYMENT - CAPITAL INVESTMENT 

5 .1 Bourne shall pay Wareham a proportionate share for Wareham's 

works described 

but not limited 

capital investment in various common sewage 

hereinafter in Paragraphs 5.2 and 5.3, including, 

to, costs, such as easements, land takings, 

engineering, legal, administrative, interest, bond 

other costs incurred or incidental to the projects, 

amount of all grants made to Wareham by State 

construction,. 

fees, and all 

less the full 

and Federal 

agencies. 

5.2 The existing sewage works within Wareham to be shared with Bourne 

are described as follows: 

5.2.1 

5.2.2 

5. 2. 3 

The 18~inch force main from Onset and Minot Avenue, 

beginning from the point of connection with the 

proposed Cranberry Highway force main at the 

intersection with Depot Street, and extending to its 

terminus at the Wareham Sewage Treatment Plant. 

DELETED 

The Wareham Sewage Treatment Plant as initially 

constructed in 1972 and the additions thereto 

constructed in 1983 and the 2005 upgrade. 

5. 3 Bourne's estimated proportionate share shall be adjusted after 

exact costs are determined by audit and shall be based on the 

allocated capacity for the proposed common sewage works as 

presented in Exhibit 4 attached hereto. 

5. 3. 1 Portions of the Cranberry Highway project consisting 

of intercepting sewers, force mains, and pump 

stations, as defined in Exhibit 4, for the purpose of 

conveying wastewater flows generated in Bourne within 

the Village of Buzzards Bay and Hideaway Village. 

10 



5.3.2 

5.3.3 

5. 4 DELETED 

IMA-07-01-09-8 9 

Portions of the Indian Mound Beach project consisting 

of an in_tercepting sewer, as defined in Exhibit 4, 

for the purpose of conveying wastewater flows 

generated within Hideaway Village in Bourne. 

Additions and modifications to the existing Sewage 

Treatment Plant, as defined in Exhibit 4. 

5.5 In the event Wareham undertakes major repairs, replacement, 

or improvements to the conunon sewage works, or is directed 

or ordered to provide higher degree of treatment in the 

future, then, the capital cost, less any State and/or 

Federal grant(s), related thereto shall be apportioned 

between the parties on the basis of 82 .09%, representing 

Wareham's share, and 17. 91%, representing Bourne's share. 

Percentages shown are based on the wastewater flows and 

characteristics presented in Exhibit 4 attached hereto. 

5.6 Non-compliance fines levied against Wareham by a regulatory 

agency shall be apportioned between the parties. The 

apportionment shall be based on 82. 09%, representing 

Wareham's share, and 17.91, representing Bourne's share. 

Percentages shown are based on the wastewater flows and 

characteristics presented in Exhibit 4 attached hereto. If 

Wareham is found to be grossly negligent in its operation 

of the common sewage works, the non-compliance fines 

apportioned to Bourne will be waived. 

5.7 Bourne will pay for all costs, both capital and extraordinary 

operating and maintenance, incurred by Wareham for r~storing 

the Wareham sewage works should damage occur due to sewage 

and/or septage from Bourne. 

5. 8 In the event Wareham undertakes an expansion o_f the common 

sewage works to address its own needs, then the capital 

cost, less any State and/or Federal grants (s), related 

thereto shall be paid by Wareham. 

J l 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

5.9 Requests for connections beyond the critical needs areas 

shall be submitted by Bourne to the Wareham Board. Bourne 

shall be notified of Wareham's decision within forty-five 

(45) calendar days. It is understood that Wareham is under 

no obligation to accept additional wastewater flow beyond 

the annual average of 200,000 gpd resulting from Bourne's 

sewering beyond its critical needs areas. For· tiows in 

excess of 200,000 gpd, Bourne acknowledges that Wareham 

must give priority to its own needs. 

5.10 

5 .11 

5.12 

5. 13 

5.14 

In the event Bourne must undertake and request Wareham for 

an expansion of the common sewage works or request 

connections beyond the critical needs to which Wareham 

agrees, as hereinbefore defined a-s Phases I, II, III, and 

IV within the Village of Buzzards Bay as shown in Exhibit 1 

and within Hideaway Village as shown in Exhibit 2, then the 

capital cost, less any State and/or Federal grants(s), 

related thereto shall be paid by Bourne. 

In the event that Wareham and Bourne jointly undertake an 

expansion of the common sewage works then, the capital 

cost, less any State and/or Federal grant {s), related 

thereto shall be apportioned be.tween the parties based on 

wastewater flow and its characteristics. 

When any of the capacities allocated to Bourne under 

Exhibit 4 are equaled or exceeded, Bourne shall impose an 

immediate ban on all further connections to its system 

which are tributary to the Wareham sewage works. 

DELETED 

In the event payment is not received by Wareham from Bourne 

on the dates referred to herein under Paragraphs 5.2 and 

5. 3, interest on overdue payments shall be assessed at the 

current prime rate of the Chase Manhattan Bank plus one 

percent, per annum, on the unpaid balance from said day, 

subject to State limitations on maximum interest rates. 

12 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

ARTICLE 6. PAYMENTS - OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE 

6 .1 Wareham shall maintain an adequate and separate cost accounting 

system which shall be the basis for the determination and 

allocation of costs for the operation, maintenance and repair of 

the common sewage works. The accounting system shall be 

available for inspection by Bourne during normal business hours. 

The operation, maintenance, and repair Costs will be grouped into 

the following three (3) categories: 

6 .1 .1 

6. 1 . 2 

6.1.3 

Costs associated with the sewage treatment plant. 

Costs associated with the common pump stations, 

interceptor sewers, force mains, and collector sewers. 

Costs associated with the Wareham sewer collection system 

not shared by Bourne. 

6 .2 Bourne agrees to pay to Wareham, quarterly for costs relevant to 

operation, maintenance, and repair of- the common sewage works. 

Bourne will participate in the following items: 

6. 2 .1 

6.2.2 

Common Collection Facilities: The term "Common Collection 

Facilities" shall mean the interceptor sewers 1 pump 

stations, force mains, and any other sewers utilized to 

convey Bourne's wastewater through the common sewage works 

to the sewage treatment plant. The costs of operating, 

maintaining and repairing these common collection 

facilities shall be apportioned on the basis of the actual 

total quarterly flows through the common collection 

facilities from each of the communities as defined in 

Exhibit 5, attached hereto. 

Sewage Treatment Plant: The cost of operating, 

maintaining and repairing the sewage treatment plant shall 

be understood to be the net cost after subtracting 

revenues received from the septage haulers. 

6. 3 In the event that financial assistance from State and/or Federal 

agencies not otherwise provided for herein becomes available 

]3 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

toward the annual operating costs of the common sewage works, 

then such assistance shall be used to reduce the total operation, 

maintenance and repair costs. 

6. 4 The various parameters of flow and strength shall be determined 

for Bourne on the basis of the records obtained from the metering 

and sampling equipment referred to in Articles 7 and 8. 

6.5 BOD and Total Suspended Solids for each of the participants shall 

be determined from proportional, composite, 24-hour samples 

obtained f.i:-om sampling equipment referred to in Paragraph 6. 4. 

Saniples shall be collected at intervals of not more than thirty 

(30) days taken coincidentally at each measuring location on 

different weekdays to monitor the strength of wastewater from 

Wareham and Bourne. 

6.6 User charges may be payable in advance and due on July 1, October 

1, January 1 and April 1. Payments shall become overdue after 

the dates herein provided. Interest on overdue payments shall be 

assessed at the current prime rate of the Chase Manhattan Bank 

plus one percent, per annum, on the unpaid balance from said day, 

subject to State limitations on maximum interest rates. 

6.7 Wareham shall submit to Bourne its estimated operating and 

maintenance cost of the common sewage works for the next fiscal 

year, in writing, by January 30 th of each year so that Bourne can 

budget acco'rdingly. The final appropriation, as approved by the 

Wareham Town Meeting, shall be submitted to Bourne within th.irty 

(30) days after approval. 

6.8 Bourne's user charge for any quarter shall be estimated from flow 

records of the previous C]uarter and from the budget for that 

quarter. 

6.9 Within sixty (60) days of the end of each fiscal year Wareham 

shall determine the actual operating 

works for the previous fiscal year. 

costs of the common sewage 

In the event that the total 

the amount of the quarterly payments exceeds 

from Bourne, any excess shall be 

annual 

the credited on 

total amount 

costs due 

subsequent 

quarterly payments. In the event that the of 

14 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

payments is less than the actual annual cost, the difference will 

be payable by Bourne within thirty (30) days of notice from 

Wareham. 

6.10 Operating and maintenance costs for the use of the sewage 

treatment plant shall be co.mprised of semi-fixed costs and flow 

variable costs. Bourne's user charge shall include its share of 

total flow capacity allocation and its se'ini-f"fxed cc:ists based on 

share of flow variable costs based on actual use according to the 

formula defined in Exhibit 5, attached hereto. The total flow 

capacity allocation for Wareham shall be 1. 30 mgd or 86. 67% of 

the total flow and Bourne 1 s total flow capacity allocation shall 

be 0.20 mgd or 13.33% of the total flow. 

6.11 For the purpose of this agreement, the various elements or 

components of the cost of operation, maintenance and repair shall 

be defined and categorized as to ''semi-fixed" or "flow variable'' 

as follows: 

6. 11. l Sewer Enterprise Salaries, which are overa·11 

ad.mini strati ve salaries and include, but are not limited 

to, a portion of the Director of Municipal Maintenance, 

Town Administrator, Purchasing Agent/Business Manager, 

Town Accountant, Town Treasurer salaries, are semi-fixed 

costs. These costs shall be considered as an overhead 

charge and shall equal 11.0 percent of the total operation 

and maintenance costs of the sewage treatment plant and 

the common collection facilities. 

6.11.2 Common collection facilities salaries and opera ting, 

maintenance and repair expenses are flow variable costs. 

The total of these costs shall also include an overhead 

charge as defined herein under Paragraph 6.11.1. 

6 .11. 3 Sewage treatment plant salaries, including overtime, are 

all semi-fixed costs. 

6.11.4 treatment plant expenses such s·ewage 

building heat, water, supplies, uni£ orms, 

are semi-fixed costs. 

as 

and 

telephone, 

insurance 

l 5 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

6. 11 . 5 Sewage treatment plant expenses such as equipment 

maintenance costs, gas and oil (for vehicles), electricity 

and chemicals, are flow variable costs. 

6.12 Any costs that have not been considered under this article but 

that may arise in the future, will be designated as semi-fiXed or 

flow variable by the Wareham Board. Bourne shall be notified in 

writing thirty (30) days prior to being charged. 

6.13 In the event that Bourne's total average daily wastewater flow 

entering the common sewage works within any two consecutive 

guarters exceeds 180,000 gpd, then Bourne shall 

and define measures that will be taken to manage 

flow increase to keep the total within the total 

allocated to Bourne. 

notify Wareham 

the guarterly 

flow capacity 

6.14 Bourne may reasonable inspect and audit Wareham cost records, at 

its own expense, relevant to the operation and ~aintenance of the 

common sewage works. 

ARTICLE 7. MEASUREMENT OF FLOW 

7 .1 Wareham and Bourne both agree that measurement of flow shall be 

as follows: 

7. l. l The volume of flow used in computing the operation and 

maintenance costs shall be based.upon readings obtained by 

metering 

equipment 

equipment approved 

shall consist of a 

by Wareham. 

flow measuring 

Metering 

device, 

continuous flow recorder, and flow totalizer. Such 

metering equipment shall be installed by Bourne, at no 

cost to 

collection 

computing 

Wareham, withio their town 

of 

and 

flow meter readings for 

distributing charges 

boundary. 

the purpose 

shall be 

The 

of 

the 

responsibility of Wareham and/or its authorized agent, and 

all costs related to the collection of the data and the 

calculation of the charges shall be a part of the 

operating costs of the sewage treatment plant. Once a 

month Bourne will provide Wareham with the wastewater 

16 



7.1.2 

7. l_. 3 

7.1.4 

IMA-07-01-09-89 

volume for the preceding month, based upon the meter 

readings. Wareham shall have access to Bourne's metering 

equipment at all times. 

Bourne shall provide metering equipment at its own expense 

to monitor all wastewater flows from Bourne, which cross 

town lines and enter the common sewage works. The general 

arrangement, equipment and physical location of the flow 

meters shall be subject to Wareham's, review· afl-d approval 

prior to any construction. The cost of installing and 

maintaining the metering equipment shall be at Bourne's 

expense. 

Bourne shall acquired a maintenance agreement, subject to 

Wareham's approval, at its own expense for the purpose of 

checking the accuracy and reliability of the flow metering 

equipment twice a year and agrees to keep such equipment 

functional, operational and accurate. Wareham shall be 

furnished two (2) certified copies of the results of any 

test on the equipment and the methods employed. 

Volume of wastewater from Wareham and Bourne shall be 

obtained as follows: 

(a) Bourne's total wastewater volume shall be determined 

by directly summing the meter readings conducted at 

each of its pumping stations d~livering flow into 

Wareham. 

(b) Wareham's wastewater volume at each of the common 

pump stations (Cohasset Narrows, Dicks Pond, Depot 

Street shall be determined indirectly by subtracting 

Bourne's total wastewater volume from the total 

volume of wastewater measured at each common pump 

station. 

(c) Wareham's wastewater volume at the sewage treatment 

plant shall be 

Bourne's total 

determined 

wastewater 

ind.irectly by 

volume from 

subtracting 

the total 

volume of wastewater measured at the sewage treatment 

plant. 

17 



7. 1. 5 

IMA-07-01-09-89 

In the event the metering equipment is temporarily out of 

order or service for any reason, the volume of wastewater 

will be estimated by Wareham on the basis of past 

experience or available records. 

ARTICLE 8. SAMPLING OF WASTEWATER 

8.1 Both Wareham and Bourne agree that the determination of character 

and concentration of wastewater will be in accordance with the 

latest edition of ''Standard Methods for the Examination of Water 

and Sewage" as proposed, approved and published jointly by the 

American Public Health Association, the American Water Works 

Association and the Water Pollution Control Federation, unless 

any other method is mutually agreed upon. 

8.2 Bourne shall furnish, install, and operate suitable automatic 

flow proportional (24-hour composite} wastewater samplers as 

approved by Wareham. A sampler shall be located in each of the 

pumping stations delivering flow into Wareham. 

8. J Wareham shall collect and transport the samples to the Wareham 

Sewage Treatment Plant. The cost incurred by Wareham in 

collecting the samples, making the analyses, and calculating and 

distributing chargers shall be a part <;Jf the operati_ng costs of 

the sewage treatment plant. 

8.4 The sampling and determination of the character and concentration 

of Bourne's wastewater for the purpose of computing the charges 

shall be the responsibility of Wareham or its authorized agent. 

Bourne shall give Wareham full and free access to Bourne's 

sampling equipment for this purpose. Wareham shall provide a 

8.5 

schedule to Bourne detailing said sampling dates. Wareham shall 

furnish Bourne with copies of all such determinations. 

Samples shall be collected by Wareham in 

representative of the actual quality 

such 

of 

a manner as to be 

the wastewater. 

Representative twenty-four (24) hour flow weighted composite 

samples shall be provided by Bourne at intervals of not more than 

thirty (30) days. Wareham shall have access to said locations as 

18 



required 

sampling. 

to conduct intermittent 

IMA-07-01-09-89 

or continuous wastewater 

8.6 Bourne may, however, conduct its own sampling and analytical 

program and submit the results relating to the character and 

concentration of the wastewaters to Wareham. Portions of 

wastewater samples collected by Bourne as part of a sampling and 

a·nalytfral program shail be made available to Wareham at no cost 

and in adequate quantities for analysis by Wareham for 

characteristics and concentrations. 

8. 7 In the event that the sampling equipment is temporarily out of 

order or service, for any reason, the equipment shall be repaired 

at Bourne's expense and placed back in operation within a period 

not tb exceed 60 calendar days. Until such time that the 

permanent equipment is placed back into operation, Bourne shall 

either substitute portable equipment or manually collect the 

samples, all at its own cost. 

8.8 Bourne shall acquire a maintenance agreement, subject to 

Wareham's approval, at its own expense, for the purpose of 

checking the accuracy and reliability of 

tWice a year and agrees to keep such 

operational and accurate. Wareham shall 

the sampling equipment 

equipment functional, 

be furnished two (2) 

certified copies of the results of any test on the equipment and 

methods employed.· 

ARTICLE 9. NOTICE OF CHANGES 

9.1 Bourne agrees to notify Wareham as far in advance as possible of 

any anticipated or planned significant increases or decreases in 

both the quantity and quality of the wastewater to be discharged 

into the common sewage works. In no case shall Bourne discharge 

into the common sewage works wastewater exceeding parameters 

stated in this Agreement without prior written Agreement. 

9. 2 DELETED 

ARTICLE 10. PRETREATMENT 

19 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

10.1 Each town reserves the right at any time to pretreat or improve 

the quality of the wastewater or to otherwise give preliminary 

treatment to its wastewater prior to discharge to the common 

sewage works. 

10.2 In accordance with the Wareham Sewer Use Bylaws, Division v, 

Wareham may require pretreatment of wastes by individual users. 

Bourne recognizes and agrees to Wareham's auihori ty to require 

such pretreatment and agrees to apply it's fully authority or 

acquire the necessary authority by amending its Sewer Use 

Ordinance to enforce such requirements. The parties agree that 

the failure of Bourne to do so shall be considered a material 

breach of this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 11. SEPTAGE 

11.1 Wareham agrees to accept and treat, at its sewage treatment 

plant, septage originating from sources within Bourne excluding 

Otis Air Force Base. All persons operating vacuum or "cesspool" 

pump trucks desiring to discharge septage to the sewage treatment 

plant shall first acquire a trucker's discharge permit from 

Wareham, make payment to Wareham for treatment costs at the rates 

fixed from time to time by Wareham for such wastes, and shall be 

subject to the conditions of Wareham's sewer use policy 

regulating trucker's discharges. 

11.l.l Bourne shall not allow the discharge of sanitary and/or 

industrial wastes containing heavy metals, cyanide and/or 

toxicity. All wastes to be discharged must be in 

accordance with the industrial pretreatment guidelines 

presently in effect or any, other which may take effect in 

the future. 

11.1.2 Bourne hereby agrees that at no time will it intentionally 

allow the discharge of any wastewaters which are 

economically and/or technically more burdensome to treat 

than those described in this Article 2. 

11.2 Wareham shall maintain record for such receive septage and make 

same available to Bourne. 

20 



11. 3 Wareham 

minimum 

agrees to 

rate of 

IMA-07-01-09-89 

accept septage from licensed haulers at 

2,500 gallons per business day except 

a 

as 

hereinafter provided in Paragraph 11.4. 

11.4 Wareham shall have the right to limit the total septage delivered 

to the sewage treatment plant, allocate capacity for septage 

handling, or · modify or chang·e the allocation as operating 

conditions require. 

11.5 Bourne shall require that all septage haulers discharging septage 

at the Wareham Sewage Treatment Plant originating from sources 

within Bourne, excluding sources as hereinbefore stated in 

Paragraph 11.1, obtain a septage handler's permit from the Bourne 

Board of Health pursuant to G.L. Chapter 111, Section 31A and 310 

CMR 15.02 (3) Wareham shall have the authority pursuant to 310 

CMR 15.19(5) .to approve the septage haulers authorized to dispose 

of septage at the Wareham Sewage Treatment Plant. Bourne shall 

adopt sept age handler regulations, acceptable to Wareham, 

pursuant to G.L. Chapter 111, -Section 31B. 

ARTICLE 12. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 

12. l 

12.2 

The responsibility 

Agreement for the 

for enforcement and administration of this 

Town of Wareham shall be assigned to the 

Wareham Town Administrator. All reports, requests for 

be 

Any 

extensions, permit 

addressed to the 

applications, questions, 

Town Administrator or his 

etc. shall 

designee. 

reques~s by Bourne concerning the need for additional flow 

capacity in excess of 200,000 gpd shall be addressed to the 

Wareham Board. 

In the event 

Administrator's 

that a dispute arises 

enforcement of the terms 

regarding 

of this 

the Town 

Agreement, 

Bourne may petition the Wareham Board of Selectmen. The petition 

shall be addressed to the attention of the Wareham Town 

Administrator, who shall present it to the Wareham Board of 

Selectmen at its next regularly s,cheduled meeting. The Wareham 

and Bourne Boards of Selectmen will attempt to resolve the 

dispute, however if the matter cannot be resolved, then the 

21 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

[flatter shall be resolved as set forth herein under Paragraph 

12.3. 

12.3 In the event that a controversy or claim exists which arises out 

of or relates to this Agreement, either party may file a 

declaratory jud9ment action in the Superior Court to resolve the 

dispute. 

12.4 No failure or delay in performance shall be deemed to be a breach 

of this Agreement When such failure or delay is occasioned by or 

due to any Act of God, strike, lockout, war, riot, epidemic, 

explosion, 

·or pipe, 

authority, 

sabotage, breakage or accident 

the binding order of any 

or any other cause whether 

to machinery or lines 

court or governmental 

of the kind herein 

enumerated or otherwise not within the control of the Party 

against whom a breach is alleged. 

ARTICLE 13. TERMINATION 

13.1 For any material breach of this Agreement continued for four (4) 

months after notice thereof in writing by the other party, either 

party may terminate this Agreement by giving written notice 

thereof to the other party with an effective date ninety ( 90) 

days after receipt of the notice to terminate. 

13.2 The parties have agreed that each of the circumstances set forth 

in Articles 10.2 and 15.1 shall constitute a material breach of 

this Agreement. 

has been made 

However, the parties acknowledge that no attempt 

to identify in advance all circumstances 

constituting a material breach, and each party expressly reserves 

the right to assert in the future that any other violation of 

this Agreement may constitute a material breach. 

13.3 Upon termination of this Agreement for any material breach caused 

by Bourne, Bourne shall forfeit its capital contribution as paid 

in accordance with Article 5.0, and shall be responsible for 

payment of user charges up to the date that said termination 

becomes effective. 

22 



13. 4 be 

G.L. 

terminated 

Chapter 

This Agreement may also 

procedures set forth in 

event that Bourne is the 

Paragraph 13.3 shall apply. 

terminating 

IMA-07-01-09-89 

in accordance with 

In 40, Section 

party, the 

4A. 

provisions 

the 

the 

of 

ARTICLE 14. APPROVAL OF EMERGENCY FINANCE BOARD 

14. 1 Before this 

parties, the 

Massachusetts 

40 1 Section 4. 

Agreement becomes effective and blnding upon the 

terms must be approved by the Commonwealth of 

Emergency Finance Board. pursuant to G. L. Chapter 

ARTICLE 15. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

15.1 Wareham shall have the right to require Bourne, at Bourne's 

expense, to take appropriate legal action against any system user 

to enforce Bourne's Sewer Use Bylaws or to comply otherwise with 

the terms of the Agreement. However, in the event that Bourne 

fails to enforce its Sewer Use Bylaws in the manner prescribed in 

Article 2.3 or fails to require system users in Bourne to comply 

with this Agreement, Bourne agrees to indemnify Wareham for all 

costs, including legal fees,· which Wareham incurs in requiring 

users located in Bourne to comply with the terms of this 

Agreement. The parties agree that the failure of Bourne to 

enforce its Sewer Use Bylaws or to require system users located 

in Bourne to comply with the Agreement shall be considered a 

material breach of this Agreement. 

15.2 Bourne is to receive advance notice of all meetings of the 

Wareham Board and Wareham is to receive advance notice of all 

meetings of the Bourne Board relevant to matters concerning the 

sewage works. 

15.3 Bourne will submit to Wareham, for review and approval, the 

design documents (plans and specifications) for any proposed 

wastewater facilities to be constructed, which will be used to 

convey Bourne's wastewater to the common sewage works in Wareham. 

During the construction phase, Wareham reserves the right to 

inspect such facilities prior to backfilling. 

23 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

15.4 Wastewater flows and septage from Massachusetts Maritime Academy 

and Otis Air Force Base are considered excluded from this 

A(Jreement. 

15.5 In accordance with this agreement, the Town of Bourne, subject to 

written approval from DEP Division of Solid Waste, agrees to 

allow the disposal of up to 200 tons of inorganic grit and 

screenings from Wareham at the Bourne sanitary landfill site. 

There shall be no charge to Wareham for this disposal. Wareham 

shall be responsible, at its cost, for trucking the material to 

the Bourne landfill. 

15 . 6 DELETED 

15. 7 DELETED 

15.8 This Agreement may be amended from time to time with the written 

consent of both participating parties. 

24 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the TOWN OF WAREHAM, acting through it's BOARD OF 

SELECTMEN, and the TOWN OF BOURNE, acting through its BOARD OF 

SELECTMEN, has each caused this Agreement, and three others of like 

nature, to be executed, after authorization by their respective Town 

Meetings, and said Towns have caused their respective seals to be 

hereto fixed by their respective Town Clerks, and this Agreement shall 

be construed as an Agreement under seal. 

FOR THE TOWN OF 
WAREHAM 

MASSACHUSETTS 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN 

d3 J[>I[) 
DATE / 

A TRUE COPY ATTEST: 

FOR THE TOWN OF 
BOURNE 

MASSACHUSETTS 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN 

A TRUE COPY ATTEST: 

25 



C) 
z 
rJ) 
<( 

r 
Q_ 

0:: 
w 
5 
w 
(j) 

.,. 
I 

(D 

Q) 
L 

::J 
Ol 

LL ' 

]] 

I 
X: 
lJ 

[ 

[ 

[ 

- , 
•C•••-. - •••• ,J.• 

I' 

/ 

\, 
I 
' ' 

\ 
I 

> 
V) 
Q) 
V) 

rn 
,.C 

[L 

' \ 

·,, 



·11~; .''I/ _j
· .. ,1,, I ' . ,; - , I' ,, \ 
,; 8 "i., 

., 

\ .. 

f 
\ 

Pl 1 

0 

I 

I. 

M.ri1i1nt-. 
Ai a,lrm)' 

--Bn\1 

EXHIBIT 2 

,1•-.pa x-• 
i'ff.ECOMMENOEO PL.AN FOA 

~DEAWAY VIUJ:J.0[ 
ra,...,,..s,,i ,o,-.o'l"" .. · ., .... >c .... u•it~~

.,,,;;,,.v ..... ~(lN.l,ICl-<01..Y I> \:ti. I ... C. 

c,;, .. ,v~tiN• ••-'"'I"'' 
-.,'»'.:r-c,>-1 • .,,., . ~,;:, ... o_., .. 

' ,,., .. .,......,. --•· 



J>!.Y ,:. Hontavu• 
-Ii""' ..................... . 

,-· 

IMA-07-01-09-89 

i!lUHBX~ 3 

om.. .1,1. -, 
TOWN GLcllK ~mJ Tll:EASURER 

W ARW/1\. Ml,$. 

October 22, 1987 

t ~seby cntHy t~e ·roll ovina .-..,,. nf th~ 
ToWn of I/Oro••· 1•11 7""" ».etina- he?d .,. O<tobc< 
19. %0, ... ., ,21, 19871 

~•ieh 41; Vou<I U11t tbe ro.m ..,,hor1•e 
tb!f.'J.o.itd',uf.·:;ei-•i:-n, ••t~ •• rlic. •~•d ot 
~;r ;¢.~~,dlll)en,• to eatt:r ht~ •n·1ntn1N21kip.d 
l'..a~·•ir1DA:cit.11Jth tbr '2'Ull'n ol lou™, pv.T.-.$JiDt t(I l(.G.L~ 
,;,.tO• J.;,;.li •ll'-t ,U,, v.ith NtAp&ct t.o tb• 11•• ~ thlf!' 'rm,n 
~- ~~• ·of• • ~t-:Swa of th~ !l'fl\m of Virdin' ;11 

~t~t ·p,e)'lp_t.i.~ Con·trol htU:lty. and ful't'hcr tbet f 

pobl:lc h;_itt>'i~ ~• hdd ~n,1 aaffrt:!1..J i.o • looal 
niv•P.P•n .,t~,lt t'h,e vhQJ.1!' •e::r&em•nt he a,;lve,rtiHd :bl 
1.oi.o, ~e-~·or.• t·b• •_Ctu&1 •iln.t.n& ot t.h• a11:u.-..nt,. 

28 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

l!lQll'B 1 T 3 

TOWN OF BOURNE 

Town Clerk and Treasurer 
Ltma Fult:o 

Jhe !ulluwins is a co~1 of th~ ilfial vote take~ und~r Arc!cle 9: 

At a l•s~l meetlna of rhe qualified voters of tb• Tm1n of Bourne 
h•ld Sep.teml,er 19, U88, th• tollowin& bu•in~•• vu tnn .. ct1>rl 
1JJ1de,:- At"tiel• 9: 

J\kTJC'U.: 9: 'lo- s~e ii the Tq"'"'ll wtil ~.ote tp ~t!..-1'Ge an:i ,19pr-o;:~"\iu:~. 
btirro,1,1 or :h'iilnJJf.e,.,r tr-uw, d-vailablt fund, .a. • .surn Of ltoht-~ in :i1adtu<.i.:-, 
lo su""' povi<1usly •ppropr1•ted for the •ame pnrpo,e tor th~ , 
putp,oso of con,tn.te-tAtia .w. .sey,et.age. 1.')1'Jr·te:in Q:r sy»teTl!!t fq,:- 1u~rtion9 
-of.~h• VU lea• '.of Uu,:~~.,,i~ .l!»y, for pa)nlll!1'ts to· ·the To,m of · 
Wa.:re.ham for tilil c-~,t -of. ti11'-in of this isys-rt-ni cc· 1-:'.s.1·-•lam", 
a~t~tinJJ ws.is:tewata\- 'l;:x-ea.tmerit:· _fatil11:t-e-,J, and for ccati ir,,eidl!1lt'.el 
and r:.el4tQ-d to cha S"l'Oj,'ect.- Gr C!,i,kfl. auy otl1Br.- Ac::.icm rt'l!iitlV• 
t:•:etTf:CL'J. . 

1-It?'TlON: We XP.O'\.e th,ii,( rhf't ._um .ct $-~,.2-0f\-,5oO-.OIJ h her-.a-by upptapri.au:d 
i"n- additton to £"U&2-· ~r .. v-i;>U!i"y ..:,rprop."r;'iate-d for th.,e S~r:ia _p-urpoee 
for c.Pnu:ruct1ng .:, sa-;..-er.Ot-e i.yate~ for the Du:ta:-.sidl!> rJ01 an1a., 
for 11. l1m1p zuli1: ~a.ymer:a:· t-~ .~he T<l'l,ffl of \il.ar~hm oi ti:le ti)&t of a 
tie••ln of tbi:s ·sf.t:rten:i to V1ue_hm 1 a $1?W~rage t'-reat1Utmt facUitif!.& 
and for cotite .t.ncident:a.J and r-elated the't'eto; thnt to rai~e thla 
apFTOpr1etlq,n the T:f'~aaurer with i:P,~ _.app,;ovaJ of the_ Selt-ctm.en ii; 
aothorh.ed to bor<<iw· thi: •·""' of S5,203,500.00 ui,der •lid ptt«uMt 
to Ch.apter 44, S•ct-fon 8(15}, o.f the .Ga.neral }..a~.1, or 3.rJY other 
e:n-abH.na auth~rtt·:,. ·;u,d t:u !~s\Jt bond~ OTUOteA th-R-rtfo.rl _th,'1t. 
t'.ht- S~l•t;t.a,en a.yii· be'l"'eby l}'Utht)ri:r.e-d tO f!flt.e-T in.,to ivv.ch ag-ree~11ta 
Yith che _T<An'l Of lJ~t:ehlm) ij-B_, ,au.i)'" b-e spproprlete il-~ cwn,ct-:fon w!.Lh 

· ~~• prajatt, 11-r1~ t'1~t- th(:.· .Sel-1:·cmpen- are (\.lttl,-tl:.r ~ • .u:hO . .ri.2.-aHi 'CO 
apply f'or l accept .qid ~XP,l!O\l a.nj F"e-da:ral,. St;ite or- pther $.'U-nt:e 
that may be avaiU!?h for tli• fore~o1ns purpt1sos, pr.ovtded tl1at 
t.he amount of •n)'- bond_1. ·or not.,ef' U-8\lt.d hereunder 1;ha,ll be recfuc-e.d 
by the .afl)ount of any iU:ch gr.a.nt'S· th.'!lt a:;re rtcelved p'f-itfr to .the 
Bale ?f ~uch bond, Or notet~ 

VOTED. App<QYo<l by two-iMrd• vore, 516 Ay .. , 11 N•·Y•. 

A truP- copy • 
.A.ttt:!5t: 

l• l'<n, '°"""' lunuds. Bly, MI\S:J&ffillf(Ul Ol::i32 

.! 

29 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

EXHIBIT4 

W AREBAM, REGIONAL 
WATER POLLUTION CONTROL FACILITY 

Treatment Capacity 
Facility Allocated 
Capacity To·Bourne 

Flow (Million gal/day) 

Average Wastewater J.50 0.20 

Peak hourly wastewater 4.00 0.62 

Biochemical Oxygen Demand (Lbs/day) 

Average wastewater (@250 mg/]) 3,128 417 

Average septage (@3000 mg/1) 876 375 

Total Average 4,004 792 

Suspended Solids (Lbs/day) 

Average wastewater(@ 250 mg/]) 3,128 417 

Average seplage (@ 10,000 mg/I) 2,919 1,250 

Total Average 6,047 1,667 

30 



0 
0 

DISTRICT 1 

® 1s CD r
- ...J 

t 
~ 121 ® 
.c 24 • 
2 • 
"' 3: 
w 

CD r-
1 

12 I I 
1 s I f 

1---~_l 

Depot Streel 
Pump Station 

18 
-- ----5 

DISTRICT 2 

Dicks Pond 
Pump Si a lion 

0 
10 I 

_-=:;-_ _j 18 

-
@ 8 ® 

18 - ® 18 

Riverside 

DISTRICT 3 

Hide-Away Village 

® 

I ' 
L,._ 

® 

0 
\ \ 8 

0 
. 

10 0 -
12 q 

8 

- ® - 10 

Lti;6~Nb 
18 

12 

Village 
ol Buzzards 

@ Bay -
18 

--•@ 
Cohasset Narrows 
Pump SIaIion 

10 

Gravity Sewer & Diameter [inches) 

Force Main & Diameter (inches) 

FICURE I. SCIIEMATIC OF CR/\NflF.RRY IIIGllW/\Y SEWER PROJECT 



EXHIBIT 5 
COMPUTATION OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE 

FOR 

IMA-07-01-09-89 

TOTAL OPERATION, MAINTENANCE, AND REPAIR COST 
FOR 

COMMON COLLECTION SYSTEM FACILITIES 

QI = Cohasset Nanows Pump Station Flow 

Q2 = Dicks Pond Pump Station Flow 

Q3 = Depot Street Pump Station Flow 

QBT = Total Bourne Flow= Monitoring Station I - Monitoring Station 2 

El = Electrical Cost for Cohasset Nanows Pump Station 

E2 = Electrical Cost for Dicks Pond Pump Station 

E3 = Electrical Cost for Depot Street Pump Station 

ET =El+ E2 + E3 = Total Electrical Cost for Common Pump Stations 

OMNE= Total operation, maintenance, repair, and administrative cost for the common 
collection system facilities excluding total electrical cost for common pump 
stations. 

TOM = Total operation, maintenance, repair, and administrative cost for the common 
collection system facilities. 

Electrical Cost~ Proportionate Shares: 
Electrical Bourne Share 
EI (QBT) + E2 (QBT) + E3 (QBT) 

Q1 . Q2 Q3 

Electrical Wareham Share 

32 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

EXHIBIT 5 (Continued) 

Operation, Maintenance, and Repair Cost for Common Collection System Facilities 
Ex chiding Total Electrical Cost Proportionate Shares: 

E!ectri-OlBournsShar,; X OMNE OMNE Bourne Share= =:....:..:-=-==--=-='-' 
ET 

OMNE Wareham Share = EWtri.ca.lWarshamShar. X OMNE 
ET 

Total Operation, Maintenance, and Repair Cost for Common Collection System 
Facilities - Proportionate Shares: 

TOM Bourne Share = Electrical Bourne Share + OMNE Bourne Share 

TOM Wareham Share = Electrical Wareham Share + OMNE Wareham Share 

SAMPLE CALCULATION 

Assume the following: 

Ql 0.415 MGD El $8,000/yr 

Q2 0.629 MGD E2 $7,500/yr 

Q3 = 0.798 MGD E3 = $13,000/yr 

QBT = 0.181 MGD ET = $28,500/yr 
O&M Cost Subtotal = $ 120,000/yr 

Administrative Cost 
@]]% 

TOM 
OMNE 

$ 13,200/yr 

$ l 33 ,200/yr 
$ l 33,200/yr - $28,500/yr $ 104, 700/yr 

33 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

EXHIBIT 5 (Continued) 

Electrical Cost - Proportionate Shares: 

Electrical Bourne Share = 

$ 8 000 (°"181 MG_l:)1 + $7 500 (O.lBl MGD) 
' 0,415 MGD1 ' 0.629MGD 

+ $ ] J 000 (181 MG_I:, 
' 0. 798 MGIY 

$ 3,489 + $ 2,158 + $ 2,949 = $ 8,596 

Electrical Wareham Share= 

$ 8 000 t415MGD-0.181MGD) + $7 500 t62"MGD-0.181MGD) 

' 0.415-MGD ' 0.629MGD 

+ $ ] J 000 (798 MGD--0.181MGD) 
' dO. 798M-GD 

$ 4,51 l + $5,342 + $10,051 = $19,904 

Operation, Maintenance and Repair Cost for Common Collection Systems Facilities 
Excluding Total Electrical Cost-Proportionate Shares: 

$ B,596 
OMNE Bourne Share = (--) X $ I 04, 700 = $ 31,579 

$28,500 

$19,904 
OMNE Wareham Share = (--) X $104,700 = $73,121 

28,500 

Total Operation, Maintenance and Repair Cost for Common Collection Systems 
Facilities - Proportionate Shares: 

TOM Bourne Share= Electrical Bourne Share + OMNE Bourne Share 

$8,596 + $31,579 = $40,175 

TOM Wareham Share = Electrical Wareham Share+ OMNE Wareham Share 

$19,904 + $ 73,12] = $ 93,025 

34 



IMA-07-01-09-89 

EXHIBIT 6 
Computations of Proportionate Share 

For 

Total Operations, Maintenance, and Repair Cost 
For 

Sewage Treatment Plant 

l. Each community shall pay a share of semi-fixed sewage treatment plant operating costs 
and overall administrative costs based on its total dedicated allocation compared to the 
total dedicated allocation of the plant for all users. The following, formula applies: 

Bourne User Cost = 0.1333 X Total Semi-Fixed Costs 
(Senti-Fixed Costs) 

Wareham User Cost 0.8667 X Total Semi-Fixed Costs 
(Semi-Fixed Costs) 

2. Each commmiity shall pay a share offlow variable sewage treatment plant operation 
costs based on its share of total actual use compared lo the total actual use of all users. 
The following formula applies: 

Bourne User Cost 

(Flow Variable Cost) 

Wareham User Cost 

(Flow Variable Cost) 

Bourne Actual Use 
------ X Flow Variable Costs 
TotalActual Uss 

Wareham Actual Us.e 
X Flow Variable Costs 

Total Actual. US€ 

3. Each community shall pay its share of the total operation, maintenance and repair costs 
for the sewage treatment plant based on the following formula: 

Bourne Total User Cost = Bourne Semi-Fixed+ Bourne Flow Variable 

Wareham Total User Cost = Wareham Semi-Fixed+ Wareham Flow Variable 

4. The communities hereto agree that the proportionate shares for the operation, 
maintenance, and repair costs for the sewage treatment plant are based on wastewater 

_flows and do not consider, at this time, the strength of the wastewater. However, it shall 
be agreed by Bourne, That if its wastewater strength in BOD and TSS exceeds its 
allocated portion shown in Exhibit 4 by more than l 0% in any annual average, the 
formulas shown above in items 1,2, & 3 shall be revised as mulually agreed to account 
for both wastewater flow and wastewater strength in BOD and TSS. 

35 



EXHIBIT 6 (Continued) 
Sample Calculation 

Assume the following: 

Bourne Actual Flow 
WarehamActual Flow 
Total Actual Plant Flow 

Revenues from Septage 
Reimbursement for Chemicals 

0.176MGD 
1.266 MGD 
l.442 MGD 

$100,000 
$ 19,350 

IMA-07-01-09-89 

Operating and Maintenance Cost for Plant = 
Broken down in the following table: 

$432,000 as 

Cost Type 

Semi-Fixed 
Semi-Fixed 

Flow-Variable 
Semi-Fixed 
Flow-Variable 
Flow-Variable 

Semi-Fixed 

Semi-Fixed 

Item Description 

Labor 
Utilities 
(Heating Fuel, Water, Telephone) 

· Electricity 
Materials and Supplies 
Chemicals 
Repair and Maintenance 
And Vehicle Fuel 
Miscellaneous 
(Includes Telemetry and Alarms 
Contracted Services, Advertising, 
And Medical Services) 

O&M Cost Subtotal 

Administrative Cost @ 1 l % 

Total O&M Cost 
Revenues from Septage 
Reimbursement - Chemicals 

Net O&M Cost 

Total Semi-Fixed Costs = $285,620 
Total Flow-Variable Costs = $193,900 

Net Semi-Fixed Costs= 

$285 620- ($
28

5.
620 

X $100 000) = $ 226,056 
' $479,520 ' - -

Net Flow-Variable Costs= 

$193,900-$19,350-(:
19

s.
900

X$100,000) = $134114 
479,520 

Cost 

$206,000 
12,600 

$122,000 
$ 17,000 
$ 38,000 
$ 33,200 

$ 2,500 

$432,000 

47 520 

$479,520 
<$100,000> 
<$ 19 350> 

$ 360, 170 

36 



EXHIBIT 6 (Continued) 

Semi-Fixed Cost Shares: 

Bourne User Cost 0.1333 X $226,056 = $ 30,133 

Wareham User Cost = 0.8667 X $226,056 = $195,923 

Flow-Variable Cost Shares: 

Bourne User Cost 

Wareham User Cost 

Total Cost Shares: 

Bourne Total User Cost 

c"-116
MG£, X $134, l 14 = $ 16,369 

1.442MGIY 

= (1.266
MG£, X $134,114 = $ 117 745 

1.442MGIY 

Wareham Total User Cost 

$30,133 + $16,369 

$195,923 + $117,745 

IMA-07-01-09-89 

$ 46 502 

$ 3 l 3 668 

37 



Bourne/Wareham IMA Billing Worksheet 
Instructions for preparing the Fiscal Year (FY) Billings 

General 
1 Only cells that are highlighted in yellow should havi.i information entered into. All other cells have been tocked to prohlb!t any changes to necessary formulas. 
2 !f any locked information needs to be edited, the sheets must be unlocked. To unlock any of the sheets, first crick on the sheet tab to be unlocked, then go to "Tools-Protection~ 

Unprotect Sheet" on the top toolbar and enter password. This wm have to be done to each sheet that needs editing to locked cells. 
3 !tis recommended that after unlocking a spreadsheet tab and making any changes, the spreadsheet be re-locked to prohibit any changes to necessary formulas. To re-lock the 

spreadsheet, first c!ic:k on the sheet tab to be locked, then go to ''Tools-Protection-Protect Sheet" on the top toolbar and enter the password. Again this will have to be done to each 
sheet that was unlocked and edited. 

WPCF Budget Tab 
1 Enter the fiscal year for the billings in the top left cell C4. 
2 Enter whether the billings are the "Actual" or "Estimated" for this worksheet iteration in cell EB. 
3 Enter budget information Into .the appropriate cells in column E. This sheet has been formatted to match previous Wareham WPCF Budget form. lf no like items have been removed or 

added, data can be copied from the WPCF budget form directly Into this sheet. 

CostAllocations Tab 
1 Enter any revenues from septage as a negative number or as zero in cell G159. 
2 Enter any reimbursements from chemicals as a negative number or as zero in cell G161. 

Flow Calcula6ons Tab 
(for Actual Billings) 

1 Enter actual monthly flows {gallons per month) for the total Wareham Share and Bourne Share of the flows to the WPCF in cells E11:F22. 
2 Enter. actuaj monthly flows (gallons per month) for each of the Wareham and Bourne PS's in cells C35:H46. 
3 Enter actual amount of septage received (gallons per month) at the WPCF from wareham, Bourne and other communities in cells D57:F68. 

(for Estimated Billings) 
1 Enter~ yearly flow {gallons) for the total Wareham Share ~ind Boume·Share of the flows to the VVPCF in cells E11 and F11 respectively. 
2 Enter estirriated yearly flows {gallons) for each of the Wareham and Bourne PS's in cells C35 to H35 respectively. 
3 Enter the~ amount of septage received (gallons) at the VVPCF from Wareham, Bourne and other communities ln cells D57 to F57 respectively. 

OM & Repair for Collection System Tab 
1 Enter monthly electrical cost for the Wareham and Bourne PS's associated with the !MA. NOTE: if monthly electrical cost are not available, leave cells blank and spreadsheet will use 

total IMA Electrical Costs from budget value entered in "Cost Allocations" sheet divided by the total number of PS's with shared inter-municipal flow (four PS's). 

OM & Repair for WPCF Tab 
1 Thls spreadsheet tab automatically calculates. Na need to enter any information on this sheet 
2 If the semi-fixed cost share percent should change in future IMA agreements, these values may be changed accordingly. 

Boume Memo Invoice Tab (Common for Both) 
Please note that these tabs were only proviQed tor use in creating billing memos and are not ner;essary for ca/culations. All values required for billing are provided on both the "OM & Repair 
for Collection System· tab and the "OM & Repair for the WPCF" tab. The user may choose to use these values in the billing format used prior to the creation of this spreadsheet if the Invoice 
Tabs in this spreadsheet are not sufficient for the user. 

1 Enter appropriate items in the ''TO:", "FROM:" and "DATE:" cells 
2 Enter any future changes to the amount of agreed upon credit Bourne receives for septage 'in cell C43. 

(for Estimiillea Billings) 
3 Insert current quarter (as~ that the estimated billing period is for in cell G19 (i.e. enter ettt,er 'First' for first quarter, 'Second' for second quarter, 'Third' for third quarter, or 'Fourth' for 

fourth querter) 
4 The Quarterly Billings will be calculated automatically (''Total Estimated Amount Due" divided by 4) in cells H49. 

(for Estimated Billlngs in SeCOlld Quarter only) 
5 Insert amount owed (as positive) or any credlls (as negative) for the Town of Bourne based upon the previous FY actual billing calculations in cell H51. 
6 The Second Quarter Billing will be calculated automatically (''Total Estimated Amount Due" divided by 4, minuslplus any money owned/credits) in cells H53, 

(for Actual Billings) 
3 Insert the Total Amount Paid from the FY Total Estimated Billings in cell H49. 
4 ''Actual Amount Due" in cell H51 will be calculated automatically by subtracting the ''Total Paid from Estimated Bllling" cell from the "Total Amount Due" cell. A negative number in this 

cell will denote a credit due the Town of Bourne. 



Departmental Expense Budget 
Water Pollution Control Facility 

Fiscal Year 

060-2405-631-11-01 Regular 

060-2405-631-11-04 Overtime 

060-2405-631-11-07 Longevity 

060-2405-631-11-24 Regular Pay Dewaterlng 

060-2405-631-11-25 Overtime Dewatering 

060-2405-631-11-27 On-Call Wages 

TOTAL SALARIES 

060-2405-631-21-11 Electricity 
060-2405-631-21-19 Elect. lMA Pump Stations 

060-2405-631-21-20 Elect. Non-lMA Stations 

060-2405-631-21-21 Elect. Dewatering Plant 

060-2405-631-21-22 Pro. Gas Dewatering Plant 

060-2405-631-21-25 Natural Gas - IMA 

060-2405-631-21-26 Pro. Gas Main Plant 

060-2405-631 :21-27 Pro. Gas Non IMA 

060-2405-631-21-28 Natural-Gas-Non-lMA 

060-2405-631-21-41 Natural Gas -MP 

060-2405-631-21-42 Natural Gas - Dewater 

060-2405-631-23-01 Water 
060-2405-631-23-06 Water-lMA Pump Station 

060-2405-631-23-07 Water-Non IMA Pump Sta. 

060-2405-631-23-08 Water-Dewalering Plant 

060-2405-631-24-02 Vehicles 

060-2405-631-24-10 Office Equipment 

060-2405-631-24-11 Bulldin_gs 

060-2405-631-24-12 IMA Pump Station 

060-2405-631-24-13 Non IMA Pump Station 

060-2405-631-24-14 Building Dewatering 

060-2405-631-24-15 Equipment 

060-2405-631-24-16 Equip. lMA Pump Station 

060-2405-631-24-17 Equip. Non-lMA Pump Sia. 

060-2405-631-24-18 Equip. Dewatering 

060-2405-631-27-06 Equip. Rental Dewatering 

060-2405-631-27-07 Equip. Rental Main Plant 

060-2405-631-28-01 Main Plant 

060-2405-631-28-06 Dewa!ering Plant 

060-2405-631-30-03 other Professional 

060-2405-631-30-04 Contract Services Admin. 

060-2405-631-30-08 Contracted Serv. Dewater. 

060-2405-631-30-09 NPDES Testing 
060-2405-631-30-10 NPDES Testing Dewalering 

060-2405-631-32-01 Reimbursement 

060-2405-631-32-02 Tuition Other 

060-2405-631-34-01 Telephone 

0,00 



060-2405-631-34-02 Printing & Mailing 

060-2405-631-34-03 Postage 

060-2405-631-34-04 Advertising 

060-2405-631-34-06 Advertising Dewatering 

060-2405-631-34-07 Postage Dewatering 

060-2405-631-34-08 Telemetry & Alarms 

060-2405-631-34-09 Telemetry IMA Pump Station 

060-2405-631-34-1 O Non IMA Stations 

060-2405-631-34-13 Cellular 

060-2405-631-38-01 Other Purchased Services 

060-2405-631-38-03 Medical Services 

060-2405-631-38-04 Medical Serv. Dewatering 

060-2405-631-38-05 Administrative Expense 

060-2405-631-38-15 Sludge Disposal 

060-2405-631-38-16 Grit and Screenings 

060-2405-631-42-01 All Office Supplies 

060-2405-631-42-02 Dewatering 

060-2405-631-42-03 Pre-Printed Forms 

060-2405-631-42-04 Pre-Printed Forms Dewater 

060-2405-631-42-05 Copy Machine-MP 

060-2405-631-42-06 Copy Machine-Dewater 

060-2405-631-46-07 Gasoline 

060-2405-631-46-08 Gasoline Dewatering 

060-2405-631-46-09 Diesel IMA 

060-2405-631-46-10 Diesel Non IMA 

060-2405-631-46-11 Diesel 

060-2405-631-46-12 Diesel Dewaterlng 

060-2405-631-47-01 Chemicals 

060-2405-631-47-02 Chemicals Dewatering 

060-2405-631-47-04 Reimbursement Protec.ltm 

060-2405-631-47-05 Operating Supplies 

060-2405-631-47-06 Operating Supp.Dewater 

060-2405-631-47-07 Laboratory Supplies 

060-2405-631-47-08 Laboratory Supp. Dewater 

060-2405-631-47-09 Protective Clothing 

060-2405-631-47-10 Protec. Cloth. Dewatering 

060-2405-631-47-11 Chemlcals-lMA 

060-2405-631-47-12 Chemlcals-Non-lMA 

060-2405-631-47-13 Operating Supplies-lMA 

060-2405-631-47-14 Operat Supplies-Non-I MA 

060-2405-631-58-09 Books & Subscriptions 

060-2405-631-61-01 Travel/Conferences 

060-2405-631-61-02 Conferences-DELETED FY09 

060-2405-631-65-01 Dues 

060-2405-631-65-02 Dues/Prof. Organ Dewater. 

060-2405-631-85-07 WPCF Equipment 

060-2405-631-85-08 Data Processing 

060-2405-631-85-09 Spare Parts 

060-2405-631-85-1 O Spare Parts Dewaterlng 

060-2405-631-85-11 Leose I Purchase 

060-2405-631-85-12 Equipment Replacement 

060-2405-631-85-13 Equip Replace. Dewatering 



060-2405-631-85-14 Equip. Replacement IMA 

060-2405-631-85-15 Equip Replac Non IMA 

060-2405-631-85-17 Equipment Dewatering 

060-2405-631-85-18 Equipment New-lMA 

060-2405-631-85-19 Equipment New Non IMA 

060-2405-631-85-20 Equip. Spare Parts-lMA 

060-2405-631-85-22 Equip. Spare Parts Non IMA 

060-2405-631-86-00 Reserve Account 

060-2405-631-89-01 WPCF Capital Additions 

060-2405-631-91-01 Principle on Debt 

060-2405-631-92-01 Long Term Interest 

060-2405-631-92-02 Short Term Interest 

TOTAL EXPENSES 

060-2405-631-93-23 capital outlay ftm03 art4 

060-2405-631-93-24 capital outlay ftm art3 

060-2405-631-93-25 pumping station des/cons! 

060-2405-631-93-26 Infiltration/Inflow study 

060-2405-631-93-27 Flow - Meters 

060-2405-631-93-28 capital outlay stm 10/00 

060-2405-631-93-29 Sewer 88 1-4 & 6 

060-2405-631-93-30 Sewer 88 5 

060-2405-631-93-31 Sewer Feas. MWPAT 95-31 

060-2405-631-93-32 O.H. Riverside construt. 

060-2405-631-93-33 Rep.Pump Stat.at31 atm4/3 

060-2405-631-93-34 Rose Pt design 1910/03 

060-2405-631-93-60 Remove Storage Tanks 

060-2405-631-93-65 Sewer Capital Projects 

060-2405-631-93-68 design engineer (272,000) 

060-2405-631-93-69 Construction Webanlt Shr 

060-2405-631-93-72 upgrade faci. Art 16 stm 

060-2405-631-93-75 upgrade facility construe 

060-2405-631-93-76 Rose pt/Bria bch/Bver dam 

060-2405-631-93-77 Design Webanit Sh 4/27/92 

060-2405-631-93-78 Design Sunset Isl 4/27/92 

060-2405-631-93-80 art24 4/97 Generators 

060-2405-631-93-83 River Testing Program 

060-2405-631-93-84 Inflow & Infiltration sty 

060-2405-631-93-86 paving & Var. Frqu. Pumps 

060-2405-631-93-88 Thatcher Lane/Cranberry h 

060-2405-631-93-89 Construct Sunset Island 

060-2405-631-93-92 Bobcat/ Flowmeter 

SPECIAL ARTICLES TOTAL 

WPCI' TOTAL 

' . . ~,, tvJ .. ., 
' ' -

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

O:\Boume MA\2008 Wareham billing spreadsheet\Presentation Files\[IMA Cost Spreadshee/JINAL.x/s]lnstructio, 



Bourne/Wareham IMA Cost Allocations 
Water Pollution Control Facility 

F iscaf Year 0 

-060-2405-631-11-01 Regular 

060-2405-631-11-04 Overtime 

060-2405-631-11-07 Longevity 

060-2405-631-11-24 Regular Pay Dewatering 

060-2405-631-11-25 Overtime Dewatering 

060-2405-631-11-27 On-Call Wages 

TOTAL SALARJES 

Fringes & Benefits (40% of total wages) 
Grand Total L.abot 

LABOR F=O~ COMMON FACILITIES (80% of Grand Total Labor) 

060-2405-631-21-11 Electricity 

060-2405-631-21-19 Elect. IMA Pump Stations 

-9€iG~~ el-eeh-NeR-1-MA-S-t-atiGA-S 

050-2405-631-21-21 Elect. Dewatering Plant 

060-2405-631-21-22 Pro. Gas Dewatering Plant 

060-2405-631-21-25 Natural Gas - IMA 

060-2405-631-21-26 Pro. Gas Main Plant 

--969~01':i 531 21 2 7 f4e.---Ga.s.-Nert---lMA 

--9@~Q&.€i3-:J41-2-8 l\tawr-a/..G-a-s--Nafl-1-MA 

060-2405-631-21-41 Natura[ Gas - MP 

060-2405-631-21-42 Natural Gas - Dewater 

060-2405-631-23-01 Water 

060-2405-631-23-06 Water-lMA Pump Station 

---fJ€l~---63-'l-2-a-Q..7 Water-Nen----1-1\JlA---Pp---S-t:a. 

060-2405-631-23-08 Water-Dewatering Plant 

060-2405-631-24-02 Vehicles 

060-2405-631-24-10 Office Equipment 

060-2405-631-24-11 Buildings 

060-2405-631-24-12 IMA Pump Station 

---fJeG-24-QS--~ N9-fl----l-MA---mp--StatieA 

060-2405-631-24-14 Building Dewatering 

060-2405-631-24-15 Equipment 

060-2405-631-24-16 Equip. IMA Pump Station 

---fJGG 2408 €31 21-4-7 ~eA-1-MA----P-u-mp----Sta-. 

060-2405-631-24-18 Equip. Dewaterlng 

060-2405-631-27-06 Equip, Rental Dewatering 

060-2405-631-27-07 Equip. Rental Main Plant 

060-2405-631-28-0i Main Plant 

060-2405-63f-28-06 Dewatering Plant 

---fJ@G-249§---6a.:J---.&Q--OO Gther Pre~essional 

060-2405-631-30-04 Contract Services Admln. 

060-2405-631-30-08 Contracted Serv. Dewater. 

060-2405-631-30-09 NPDES Testing 

060-2405-631-30-10 NPDES Testing Dewatering 

---950--24-Ga--6J4--a2-04 Retm-13-uicsemem 

060-2405-631-32-02 Tuition Other 

060-2405-631-34-01 Telephone 

060-2405-631-34-02 Printing & Mafllng 

060-2405-631-34-03 Postage 

060-2405-631-34-04 Advertising 

060-2405-631-34-06 Advertising Dewatering 

060-2405-631-34-07 Postage Dewatering 

•60-2405-631-34-08 Telemetry & Alarms 

$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
.$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 

WPCF Cost 

Semf-Fixed Flow Variable 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0/ 

10I 

$0/ 
$0/ 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

PS Cost 

Flow Variable 

$0/ 

$0/ 

$0/ 

$0/ 



Bourne/Wareham IMA Cost Allocatio111s 
Water Pollution Control Facility 

Fiscal Year o 

060-2405-631-34-09 Telemetry IMA Pump Station 

...Q§Q.--a4G§..~4--1.Q NeR----1-MA-St-at-ieA-5 

060-2405-631-34-13 Cellular 

060-2405-631-38-01 Other Purchased Services 

060-2405-631-38-03 Medical Services 

060-2405-631-38-04 Medical Serv. Dewatering 

-fl6{l~Qe-e34---JS---OO Aamifl~-stFative--€~ew.;e 

060-2405-631-38-15 Sludge Disposal 

060-2405-631-38-16 Grit and Screenings 

060-2405-631-42-01 All Office Supplies 

060-2405-631-42-02 Dewatering 

060-2405-631-42-03 Pre-Printed Forms 

060-2405-631-42-04 Pre-Printed Forms Dewater 

060-2405-631-42-05 Copy Machine-MP 

D60-2405-631-42-06 Copy Machine-Dewater 

060-2405-631-46-07 Gasoline 

060-2405-631-46-08 Gasoline Dewaterlng 

060-2405----631----46----09 Dlesel !MA 

--9€i~:34-4e-4-Q 9-ie-sei----NGA--1-MA 

060-2405----631----46----11 Diese·I 

060-2405----631----46----12 Diesel Dewatering 

060----2405----631----47----01 Chem!cals 

060----2405----631----47----02 Chemicals Dewatering 

060----2405----631-47----04 Reimbursement Protec.ltm 

060----2405----631-47-05 Operating Supplles 

060-2405-631-47----06 Operating Supp.Dewater 

060-2405----631----47----07 Laboratory Supplies 

060----2405----631----47----08 Laboratory Supp. Dewater 

060----2405----631----47----09 Protective Clothing 

060----2405----631----47----10 Protec. Cloth. Dewatering 

060----2405-631----47-11 Chem!cals-lMA 

----9@~4.]-'1~ Gllemttra-1--s-Ne-R-fMA 

060-2405----631----47-13 Operating Supplies-lMA 

----G694499--€iJ4....47... Gfletat S1cJ1313lies----l\lmHNIA 

060-2405-631-58-09 Books & Subscriptions 

060-2405----631-61-01 Travel/Conferences 

---G@Q---;Mfl&-6d!J-64--Q2 Geffier-eRGe&-9-E--b-H-E-0---F-V---M 

060----2405-631-65-01 Dues 

060-2405----631-65-02 Dues/Prof. Organ Dewater. 

060-2405-631-85-07 WPCF Equipment 

060-2405----631----85-08 Data Processing 

060-2405-631-85-09 Spare Parts 

060----2405-631-85-10 Spare Parts Dewatering 

060-2405----631----85----11 Lease/ Purchase 

060----2405----631-85-12 Equipment Replacement 

060-24D5----631----85-13 Equip Replace. Dewaterlng 

060----2405-631-85-14 Equip. Replacement lMA 

--GW-----2-40§..§~ E---€j-t,lijS--Rep-la-€----NeR-IMA 

06D-2405-631----85-17 Equipment Dewaterlng 

060-2405-631-85-18 _ Equipment New-lMA 

--9eG-----24Ga----@34-8§-4-9 ~t-----New---NeR----l-MA 

060-24D5-631-85-20 Squlp. Spare Ports-lMA 

...QW----2409~ ~ifh-Spa-fe---Flaw .. ,---NeR-----1-MA 

060-2405----631-86-0D R.11sorve Account 

060-2405-631-89----01 WPCF Capital Additions 

--9@----24-0~Q-4 Pr~-AGiple--0»----9-eh-t 

---969 240§ §31 92 01 be-A§------T..er-m---m-t-e-K.-st 

' 
' 

$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 

WPCFCost 

Seml-Fl.xed Flow Varlable 

$0/ 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$01 

PS Cost 

Flow Variable 

$0/ 

$0/ 

$0/ 

$01 

$01 

$0/ 



Bourne/Wareham IMA Cost Allocations 
Water Pollution Control Facility 

Fiscal Year 0 

TOT AL EXPENSES 

-f>6Q-24G§-GJ..1--00~ ~if:.a+-01:1tl-ay---ftm-Gkft4, 

---96~~3--2-4 Gapit:a-1--offifa~ 

..Q99---2-4-Q§-GJ.1-96--2€i ~g----sWiafl---tlesle-eR-St 

--900~~34--00~ ffifflt-f.at.i0flliflf.lew-sNE!y 

---969--2-4G&-~ F-lew-----Metefs 

-G€i944-Q§-6-34--93~ eapUa 1-ebltl ay-stm-40/00 

...fl@~e-JH~ Sev,•ef--88--4-4-&--6 

..Q€iQ~5-~Q Sewef--.88-.-£ 

--Q€i~-634-fl6-34 S€-Wef-F---ea-s--.--M-WPA+--G44 

--96~ 631 93 32 O.1-l. RIVefSfde e8-ll-5ffi!t~ 

..Q€iQ~496+~ ~-S-f.a-bat34--atm413 

---969---2400-~4 Re-se-Pk.lesi§n 1910/93 

--9~96-e24--W--€iG Reme-ve---storage TaRks 

...Q€iG--2-4Ge--~§ S~ital-f!f9jeet-s 

-G@o 210s sa1 ea-@s --e§laeecf=,<JOOJ 
..Q6~634--9J.-e9 Genstfu€tieA-We9amt-St+F 

--G6Q~G5-€i~ !!p~i,-A-Fl-46----stm 

--GGQ-24Q9-~--76 1.1-pg-raae-fae!IJty--<::---GR-Stru& 

-060---24Q§--6a.f-92---7-8 R-ese-piJBFla-b.m/Bv-er--aaffi 

--G&IH4G-5-€i~ 9esi§-fl-Weaaflit-S~ 

---9€iG-24G~--78 Qe&i§-fl--Sll-Rset---f-s.1---41-27/-82 

--G€i~~3-8G a-FtU--4187-GefleFa_tar-s· 

--G@G~S-63:t~ R-iver-l-e5ffflij-P-fegr-am 

---969~9§-~84 I Rf-lew---&----1-rtr-at-tell---Sty 

---96G--24-Qa..-.e-34--W-86 pa-v-i-R§-&-V~~-s 

---96~34--92--88 +-Raffiflef-ba-AelGFa-n~effY-fl 

-0~634-fla...gg Ge~n-set---1-staft.el-

~§...~~ 809Gat----/--F---ffiW-metef 

SPECIAL ARTICLES TOTAL 

TOTAL 

o&r>:1 Cost Subtotal 

Admfr,isttatlve. $alarlM (11% of WPCF O&M Subtotal} 

Revenues, from Septage 

Net iota! O&M Cost \Seml~flxed & Flow Variable) 

~ 
WPCF Cost 

Semi-Fixed Flow Variable 

[-J I $01 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$D 

$0.00 

PS Cost 

Flow Varfable 

$01 

Common PS 

$0 I 



Common Collection System Flows 
Fiscal Year O 

Water Pollution Control Facility 

Month_ 
July 
August 
September 
October 

November 
December 
January 

February 
March 
April 
May 
June 

Total 

0.00 Wastewater Flow 
(based on previous FY total) 

Year 
-1 
-1 
-1 
-1 
-1 
-1 
0 

0 
0 

0 

0 

0 

Wastewater Pump Stations 
0.00 Wastewater Pump Slatlon Flows 

(based on previous FY total) 

(NOTE: for estimated flows just enter est. yearly total flow In July ce/J) 

Total WPCF Wareham Share Bourne Share 
0 1------+---~----lga/lons per month 
1------+--------lgaffons per month 
1------+--------lgallons per month 
1------+--------lgallons per month 
1------+------fgal/ons per month 
+-------+--------I gallons per month 
+-------+------I gallons per month 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 gallons per month 
1-------+--------lgaffons per month 0 

0 
0 
0 

0 

1--------+--------lgallons per month 
gallons per month 

1--------+--------lgallons per month 

0 0 gallons per month 

(NOTE: for estimated flows rust enter est. yearly total flow In July cell\ 
Wareham Puma Stations Bourne Pumo Stallons 

Month 
July 
August 

September 
October 

November 
December 

Janumy 
February 
March 
Aprll 
May 

June 

Total 

Year 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
0 
0 
0 

0 
0 

0 

uohasset 
Narrows PS 

Septage Received at WPCF 
0.00 Septage Received at WPCF 

(based on previous FY total) 

IJlck's Ponf! Hynes Fie,u 
PS Depot Streat PS PS Main Street PS 

0 0 0 0 0 

(NOTE; for estfmated seotage just enter est. yeiirly totiil seotage recei ved in July cell) 

Month 
July 
August 
September 
October 
November 
December 
January 
February 
March 
April 
May 
June 

Total 

Year 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
0 

0 
0 
0 

0 
0 

Total Septage at 
WPCF 

0 
0 

0 

0 

0 
0 
0 

0 
0 
0 

0 
0 

0 

Septage from Septage from 
Warehiim Bourne 

0 0 

Septage from 
Other Towns 

gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per mont/J 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gellons per month 

0 gallons per month 

nlueaway 
VIiiage PS 

gallons per month 
gallons. per mon/h 
gallons per month 
gal/ons,per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 
gallons per month 

o gallons per year 



Fisc21l Ye.1or a 

a, ,,, Cohasset Narrows Pump Station Flow 

a, = Dicks Poni:l Pump Station Flow 

0 3 Depot Street Pump Station Flow 

0 4 = Hynes Field Pump Station Flow 

0.-r = Total Bourne Flow (Monitoring Station 1 + Monitoring Station 2) 

E1 = Electrical Cost for Cohasset Narrows Pump Station 
E2 = Bectrical Cost for Dicks Pond Pump station 
E3 = Electrical Cost for Depot Street Pump StaLion 
E4 = Electrical Cost for Hynes Field Pump Station 
ET "' E1+E2+E3+E4 = Total Elec. Cost for Common Pump Sla~ons 

060-2405-631-21-19 Elect IMA Pump Stations 
Calculation of Actual Cost Breakdowns 

Electrical Costs for 11111A Pump Stations 
Cohasset Dick's Pond 

Month Ye>lr Narrows PS PS De not Street PS 

OM,., 

TOM 

E, E2 E3 
NSTAR NSTAR NSTAR ConEd" 

Joi 
_, 

Auaust _, 
Se temb 

_, 
October _, 
Novembe ' Deeembe _, 
Januarv D 
Februarv 0 
Marci, 0 
Aoril 0 
Ma, 0 
June D 

Total FYD $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Total operation, maintenance, repair and administrative cost for the common 
collection system facir,lies excluding total electrical cost for common pump 
stations, 

Tolal operation. maintenance, repair and administrative cost for the common 
collection system facilities. 

0 gellons per year 

0 gallons per year 

0 gallons per year 

0 gallons per year 
0 gallons per year 

$0 p,aryear 
$0 perye,.r 
$0 per year 
$0 per year 

SO.DO per year 

Hynes Field 
PS 
E4 

so.oo 

SO.OD 

$0.00 

Page 9 of 13 



Electrlcal Cost - Proportionate Shares 

!;!ectrical Bourne Share"' 

El [ Q,. ] E2 [ o., ] • 
Q, Q, 

E3 [ o., ] . E4 [ Q., ] o, Q, . Q, 

$0 [ 0 l $0 [ 0 l 0 0 
$0 [ 0 l • $0 [ 0 l 0 0 • 0 

#DIV/DI . #DIV/QI #DIV/DI • #DIV/01 

Electrlcal Bourne Share #DIV/DI 

!;lecbical Wareham Share "' 

El [ Q, Q, Q.,J E2 [ Q, Q., 

J E3 [ Q, O,n l E4 [ 0. . Q3 Q_, J Q, Q, Q, . Q, 

$0 0 $0 0 0 . so 0 0 . $0 ( 0 . 0 0 l 0 0 0 . 0 

#DIV/01 #OIV/01 #DIV/0! #DIV/DI 

Electrical Wareham Share #OIV/0! 

Operation Maintenance and Repair of Common Collection System Facilities - Proportionate Shares 

Operation, maintenance repair and administrative cost for the common collection system facilities excluding total electrical cost for common pump stations 

OMNe (Bourne Share) . [ Electrical Bourne Share J OM.,,,(Tolal) 
E, 

QM,,, (Bourne Share) . [ #DIV/01 
$0.00 l $0.00 

QM~ (Bourne Share) . #DlV/01 

Total operation maintenance repair and administrative cost for the common collection system facilities. 

TOM (Bourne Share) . Electrical Bourne Share • OMNe (BOume Share) 

TOM (Bourne Share) . #DIV/01 #OIV/01 

TOM (Bourne Shar.,) . #DIV/0! 

TOM (Wareham Share} . EJ.,ctrical Wareham Share OM..,.(Tolal) OM.,. (Bourne Share) l 
TOM (Wareham Sh;;ire} . #DIV/01 . [ $0.00 #DIV/OJ l 
TOM (Wareham Share) . #DIV/DI 

Page 10 of 13 



Fiscal Year 0 

Total of WPCF Semi-Fixed Cost 
Total ofWPCF Flow Variable Cost 

WPCF O&M Cost Subtotal 
Administrative Salaries (11 % of WPCF O&M Subtotal) 

Total O&M Cost 
Revenues from Septage 
Reimbursement- Chemicals 

Net Total O&M Cost (Semi-fixed & Flow Variable) 

Total Semi-fixed Costs (No revenue deductions) 
Total Flow Variable Costs (No revenue deductions) 

Net Semi-fixed Costs (deduct proportion of revenues) 
Net Flow Variable Costs (deduct proportion of revenues) 

Semi-fixed Cost Allocations 
Bourne User Cost Share Percent 
Bourne User Cost Share (Bourne% ofWPCF Net Serni-fixed Costs) 

Wareham User Cost Share Percent 
Wareham User Cost Share (Wareham % of WPCF Net Semi-fixed Costs) 

Flow Variable Cost Allocations 
Bourne Flow 
Wareham Flow 

Total Flow 

Bourne User Cost 
Wareham User Cost 

Total Cost Allocation 
Bourne 
Wareham 

$0.00 
$0.00 

$0.00 
$0.00 

$0.00 
$0.00 
$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 
$0.00 

#DIV/0! 
#OIV/0! 

13.33% 
#DIV/QI 

86.67% 
#DIV/0! 

0 mgd 
0 mgd 

O mgd 

#OIV/O! 
#DIV/0! 

#DIV/0! 
#OIV/0! 

O:\Bourne MA\2008 Wareham billing spreadsheet\Presentation Files\[lMA Cost Spreadsheet_FINAL.xlsjlnstruction Sheet 

Ref# Note 
A (from 'Cost Allocation' spreadsheet) 
B (from 'Cost Allocation' spreadsheet) 

C (A+ B) 
D (0.11 X C) 

E (C+D) 
F (From Wareham WWTF) 
G (From Wareham WWTF) 

H (E + F + G) 

I (A +D) 
J (E - I) 

K (I+ {(I IE) x F}) 
L (J + G + {(JI E) x F}) 

M (From /MA) 
N (Kx M) 

0 (From /MA) 
p (Kx 0) 

Q (From 'Flow Calculation' spreadsheet) 
R (From 'Flow Calculation' spreadsheet) 

s (Q + R) 

T (Lx QI S) 
u (LxRIS) 

V (N + T) 

w (P + U) 



TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

CC: 

RE: 

FY 0 

FY 0 

FY 0 

WAREHAM WATER POLLUTION CONTROL FACILITY 
6 TONY'S LANE 

WAREHAM, MASSACHUSETTS 02571 
TELEPHONE (508) 295-6144 

FAX (508) 291-0155 

Memorandum 

FY 0 0 Bourne Sewer Usage Billing - IMA 

Please accept the following information as the final cost allocation forFY 0 
for Bourne usage for this period. 

The costs breakdown is as follows: 

0 Total Sewer Usage Billing -

Total Cost - Treatment Plant 

Total Cost - IMA Pumping Stations & Collection System 

Total Cost 

0 Bourne Sewer Usage Billing -

Bourne Total Cost Share - Treatment Plant 

Bourne Total Cost Share - Pumping Stations/Collection System 

0 

Bourne Total Cost Share 

Septage Credit 

0 gallons of Bourne septage received at 
$0.01 per gallon of septage 

ESTIMATED AMOUNT DUE 

0 Quarter Due 

Please forward payment to the attention of the Town Treasurer/Collector, 
54 Marion Road, Wareham, MA 02571 

+ 

+ 

O:\Bourne MA\2008 Wareham billing sprnedsheel\Prnssntation Files\(IMA Cost Spreadshe1i1JINAL.xls]!ns1ruction Sheel 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

#DIV/0! 

#DIV/0! 

#DIV/0! 

$0.00 

#DIV/0! 



TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

CC: 

RE: 

FY 0 

FY 0 

FY 0 

WAREHAM WATER POLLUTION CONTROL FACILITY 
6 TONY'S LANE 

WAREHAM, MASSACHUSETTS 02571 
TELEPHONE (508) 295•6144 

FAX (508) 291,0155 

Memorandum 

FY 0 0 Bourne Sewer Usage Billing. - IMA 

Please accept the following information as the final cost allocation for FY 0 
for Bourne usage for this period. 

The costs breakdown is as follows: 

0 Total Sewer Usage Billing -

Total Cost - Treatment Plant 

Total Cost - IMA Pumping Stations & Collection System 

Total Cost 

0 Bourne Sewer Usage Billing -

Bourne Total Cost Share - Treatment Plant 

Bourne Total Cost Share - Pumping Stations/Collection System 

0 

Bourne Total Cost Share 

Septage Credit 

0 gallons of Bourne septage received at 
$0.01 per gallon of septage 

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE 

TOTAL PAID FROM FY ESTIMATED BILLINGS 

ACTUAL AMOUNT DUE (Negative means credit) 

Please forward payment to the attention of the Town Treasurer/Collector, 
54 Marion Road, Wareham, MA 02571 

+ 

+ 

O:\Bourne MA\2008 Wareham bl!ling spreadsheet\Presenlalion Files\[IMA Cost SpreadsheeLFINALxls)lnstruction Sheet 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

#DIV/0! 

#DIV/0! 

#DIV/0! 

$0.00 

#DIV/0! 



Sewer Commissioners Meeting 
Minutes of Tuesday, August 25, 2020 

Zoom Remote – Public Access 
 
 
TA Tony Schiavi 
ATA Glenn Cannon 
 
Sewer Commissioners  
James Potter, Chairman 
Jared MacDonald, Vice-Chairman 
Judy Froman, Clerk 
Peter Meier 
George Slade 
 
Others: Halim Choubah, Greg Wirsen - Green Seal Environmental, May Andrews, Mike Rausch, 
Tim Lydon, Mary Jane Mastrangelo 
 
Note this Zoom videoconference meeting is NOT being televised. The meeting is being 
recorded and will be provided to Bourne TV for playback. 
 
If anyone from the public wishes to provide public comment, they can access the conference 
line by calling: 
1-929-205-6099 Meeting ID: 829 0241 9447 Password: 304005. 
https://us02web.zoom.us/i/82902419447?pwd=bXRrdUM5cFdVSGczdUoxV05zdWFFQT09 
Please MUTE your phone until the Chair asks if anyone wishes to speak. 
 
All items within the meeting agenda are subject to deliberation and vote(s) by the Board of 
Selectmen/Sewer Commissioners. 
 
Note this meeting is being recorded. 
 
Documents: 340 Main Street Sewer Application, Sewer Rate Study Report, Sewer Rate 
Allocation Policy 
 
Meeting Called to Order 
Chm. Potter called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm.  
 
1) Salute to the Flag 
 
2) Consent Agenda 
a. Approval of Open Session meeting minutes: 07.28.2020 
 

Voted: Peter Meier moved and seconded by Jared McDonald to continue until the next 
available meeting. 
Roll Call Vote: George Slade - Yes, Judy Froman – Yes, Jared MacDonald – Yes, Peter Meier 
– Yes, James Potter - Yes 
Vote: 5-0-0. 

https://us02web.zoom.us/i/82902419447?pwd=bXRrdUM5cFdVSGczdUoxV05zdWFFQT09
https://www.townofbourne.com/sites/g/files/vyhlif316/f/agendas/4a_-_sewer_allocation_-_reg.pdf
https://www.townofbourne.com/sites/g/files/vyhlif316/f/agendas/6c_-_sewer_rate_study_-_final_report_-_regular.pdf
https://www.townofbourne.com/sites/g/files/vyhlif316/f/agendas/5a-e_sewer_allocation_regular.pdf
https://www.townofbourne.com/sites/g/files/vyhlif316/f/agendas/5a-e_sewer_allocation_regular.pdf


 Board of Sewer Commissioners Minutes  August 25, 2020  

2 
 

3) Sewer Rate Vote Amendment 
Add the following language to the July 28, 2020 Sewer Rate Motion: "in excess of 45,000 
gallons per calendar year" such that the Amended Motion would read: "Motion to approve the 
FY21 sewer rate at $1,051.00 per unit and $0.01 per gallon for sewer overages in excess of 
45,000 gallons per calendar year and to re-address the sewer rate after the Fall Town 
Meeting. 
 
Suggested to Rescind the previous vote from July 28th and revote the new motion with the 
new language included. 
 

Voted: Jared MacDonald moved and seconded by George Slade to rescind the last vote on 
the rates from July 28, 2020. 
Roll Call Vote:  Judy Froman – Yes, George Slade – Yes, Peter Meier – Yes, Jared 
MacDonald – Yes, James Potter Yes. 
Vote: 5-0-0. 
 
Voted: Judy Froman moved and seconded by Jared MacDonald to approve the FY21 sewer 
rate at $1,051.00 per unit and $0.01 per gallon for sewer overages in excess of 45,000 
gallons per calendar year, and to re-address the sewer rate after the 2020 Fall Town 
Meeting. 
Roll Call Vote: George Slade – Yes, Judy Froman – Yes, Jared MacDonald – Yes, Peter Meier 
– Yes, James Potter Yes. 
Vote: 5-0-0. 

 
4) Sewer Allocation 
Choubah Engineering — 340 Main Street 
 
Hal Choubah, consulting engineer, representing the applicant 340 Main Street LLC, Proposal is 
to demolish the existing building on 340 Main Street and to construct a 6000 sq. ft. building 
for a gas station and 2000 sq. ft convenient store, 2 other units would be restaurants (coffee 
shop) total capacity with 60 seats, and 6 residential units on the second floor. Went through 
site plan approval. Filed with Conservation – have order of conditions from Conservation. 
Asking for sewer allocation of 3,095 gpd. 
 340 Main Street Sewer Application 
 
Comments: 

• Planning Board report is missing the underground fuel storage tank permit process 
with the Board of Selectmen, in their list. 

• When starting construction? – Mr. Choubah is working with the Buzzards Bay Water 
District as well - Starting construction in Spring of 2021 

• Communicate with affordable housing trust. 
• Making improvements to the infrastructure with a new pump chamber, piping and 

other improvements.  – making sure they meet the standards of the regulations we 
have and the regulations that are being discussed in draft form. Mr. Choubah said he 
will work with sewer department on the installation. 

https://www.townofbourne.com/sites/g/files/vyhlif316/f/agendas/4a_-_sewer_allocation_-_reg.pdf


 Board of Sewer Commissioners Minutes  August 25, 2020  

3 
 

• Second phase, may be down the road – will that be an amendment to the application or 
will they need to file separately. – Mr. Potter said that would be a separate project if 
there is a second phase. 

 
Voted: Jared MacDonald moved and seconded by Peter Meier to approve as it has been 
placed on the application for 3,095 gallon per day at 340 Main Street LLC. 
 

Judy Froman would like more of a discussion about what types of businesses are accepted, we 
have a saturation of gas stations. This area has a lot more potential than just as a gas station. 

 
Roll Call Vote:  Judy Froman – Yes, George Slade – Yes, Jared MacDonald – Yes, Peter 
Meier – Yes, James Potter - Yes 
Vote: 5-0-0. 

 
5) Sewer Allocation Updates 
A. Vincent Michienzi 85 — 93 Main Street  
B. Vincent Michienzi — 100 Main Street Block 
C. Gencon/Bob Gendron — 12 Wagner Way 
D. Calamar 
E. Oak Bay Brewery 

 
This is the 6-month review of those that have been given allocation 
 
5.A. Vincent Michienzi 85-93 Main street 
No owner’s representation present at the meeting, but Town Staff gave an update. The Town 
is expecting to get a written update from Bracken Engineering, did not receive that yet. Tim 
Lydon received an email from Bracken Engineering. 
 
Comments:  
• 3 of the 4 tenants are up and running – Buzzards Bay Brewing, Vela Juice Bar, and Krua 

Thai. 
• 4th tenant is outfitted to be a full-size restaurant – almost complete with the renovations. 
 

100 Main Street Block (old movie theater site) is different from 100 Main St (future ice cream 
shop). Essentially, the BOSC can talk about 100 Block, but hasn't had interaction with 100 Main 
St (ice cream shop). 
 
5.B. Vincent Michienzi - 100 Main Street Block 
Provided an update for mixed use. 
 
Tim Lydon read the update he was sent. This is a block of parcels adjacent to 85 and 93 Main 
Street and directly behind Secrets Consignment Shop to the North. Applicant is currently 
working with a potential developer for the property. Negotiations on the project are currently 
ongoing, while the developer evaluates the development potentials for the lot, as well as 
availability of water to the site. Buzzards Bay Water District is working with the state to 



 Board of Sewer Commissioners Minutes  August 25, 2020  

4 
 

increase their allowable daily water withdrawal. Until this is vetted out any future 
development on Main Street is currently in holding pattern until an update is provided by the 
Buzzards Bay Water District. 
 
Comments: 
• 100 Main Street doesn’t have allocations from the Board because it was an existing use - 

not under the allocation policy. 
• It is well engineered, because it is in a FEMA Flood Zone 
• Anticipating that being up by the end of the year  
• Send a letter to Vinny Michienzi for 100 Main Street Block, and explain the sewer 

allocation situation, request he reach out to staff, and put him on the agenda. We need to 
receive payment for the allocation or state there isn’t an allocation. We are tying up 
wastewater capacity that hasn’t been paid for. It isn’t following the policy. 

 
Voted: Jared MacDonald moved and seconded by Judy Froman to have the owner of 100 
Main Street Block contacted via mail by staff to start the process to rectify this situation. 
 

Judy Froman suggested to have a time frame in the letter of when we would like to have a 
response. Invite Mr. Michienzi to the next meeting. 

 
Roll Call Vote: Judy Froman - Yes, Jared MacDonald – Yes, Peter Meier – Yes, George Slade 
– Yes, James Potter - Yes 
Vote: 5-0-0. 
 

5.C. 12 Wagner Way 
Greg Wirsen, Green Seal Environmental – Owner’s Representative,  
• Sent a letter to Debbie Judge.  
• Still working on the project, need water allocation. 

 
Tim Lydon will send an email to Greg Wirsen requesting the information he would like – Mr. 
Wirsen will have Bob Gendron send Tim Lydon a project narrative with the information that is 
requested. 

 
5.D Calamar - No owner’s representation present at the meeting, but Town Staff gave an 
update. 
• Under construction. 
• Trying to get an idea for when they will start pumping sewerage 
• Building Inspector said they are on schedule 
• Don’t have a completion date yet. 

 
5.E Oak Bay Brewery - No owner’s representation present at the meeting, but Town Staff 
gave an update. 
• We haven’t gotten a response from them  
• Did pay for their allocation 
• Will reach out to them again to get an update 



 Board of Sewer Commissioners Minutes  August 25, 2020  

5 
 

 
 
 

 
6) Sewer Business 

A. Savary Avenue Update 
B. Hideaway Village Sewer Agreement 
C. Sewer Rate Study — Final Report 

 
6.A Savary Avenue Update 
• All the residents are capped at the street 
• All are off the community system 
• Final inspection on 50 Savary Ave 
• System is off line, now need to have discussion on the next step  
• Make an application to BOH regarding the decommissioning & removal 

 
Suggestions: 
• Last pumping of the system, the residual – Have the Town pay for the last pump 
• Jim Potter suggested to have staff/or consultant look at the tanks to verify we will not 

have infiltration after we pump, so we will not have to pump again. 
• Mr. Schiavi suggested that once it is pumped out, maybe fill with sand 
• Funding for decommissioning the system – talk about at Fall Town Meeting 

 
6.C Sewer Rate Study — Final Report 
Sewer Rate Study Report 
Received the final report for the Sewer Rate Study from Tighe and Bond 
 
Jim Potter suggested looking at the following: 
• Page 10 (2-5) used 45% reduction factor for Title V 
• Not all drinking water ends in sewerage 
• Page 16&17 (4-1 & 4-2) 

Noted the 2006 Development fee and the 2007 Allocation Policy 
In the past these weren’t handled in tandem 

• 5 projects – 2006 Development Fee and 2007 Allocation Policy would have generated 
1.295 million dollars in fees. We collected $135,000 instead. 
By the suggested ‘ERU’ method - Gallons – 91,499 total gallons x $366 per ERU = 
$3029.00. We collected $135,000 

• We have adopted the new rate for the coming year 
• Because we haven’t collected the fees for the rate study, the rate payers will be affected 

 

https://www.townofbourne.com/sites/g/files/vyhlif316/f/agendas/6c_-_sewer_rate_study_-_final_report_-_regular.pdf


 Board of Sewer Commissioners Minutes  August 25, 2020  

6 
 

 
 
We should evaluate because we have already given out ERU, so we don’t have 667 to give out. 
We may have to adjust the $3,600 per ERU 
 
• Page 45 - Our current fees were never intended to cover capital expenditures like the 

new wastewater facility.  
 
• Page 54 - the five recommendations: 
1. Meet with Buzzards Bay Water District to discuss options for balancing development needs 

with water conservation. Continue to negotiate IMA with Wareham, revisit cost sharing 
methodology 

2. Retained earnings appears to be sufficient to allow selection of rate Alternative A or B for 
FY21, confirm projections against FY19 actual and FY20 estimated revenues. 

3. Based upon resolution of development issue migrate to new fee structure, discuss timing and 
administration of fees with town counsel. Incorporate fee structure, timing and requirements 
into Sewer Regulations, separate out fees for easy adjustment. Reduce Title 5 allocations by 
50% to better approximate expected flows, refine as uncommitted reserve capacity diminishes 
(obtain more accurate information, etc.) 

4. Revisit staff roles relative to Wastewater management, adjust responsibilities to meet new 
requirements 

5. Continue to monitor usage, expenses and revenue on annual basis 
 
Suggestions 

• We should talk about implementing the ERU, because it takes into account the new 
plant. 

• Need to move forward quickly to get the system in place so we can capture the monies 
for the new allocation projects. 

• Have a smaller working group work on some of the issues, policy 
 



 Board of Sewer Commissioners Minutes  August 25, 2020  

7 
 

• Start to build a Regulation book 
Have one system/formula for fees  

• Use the Wastewater Advisory Committee – give them a new Charge. Have a user rate 
payer/citizen on the Committee 

• Have Wastewater Advisory Committee advise on the Sewer Rate if we choose to go in 
the ERU direction 

• BOSC will work on Capital System Sewer Development Charges 
 
Comments: 
• 100 Main Street Block was before the allocation policy while the Gendron project was put 

on the new allocation policy, and originated at the same time 
• Sewer Commissioners need to talk about differentiating projects that need infrastructure 

for the project vs. projects that are on the current sewer infrastructure. 
• Change back to a variable flow fee for Wareham instead of a fixed rate fee because our 

allocation is going to go to the new plant. Or some of what would have gone into the new 
system, does it still go to Wareham since we do pay a fixed rate. 

• It is important that we put these fees into the capital fund, which was designated for that 
purpose. 

• We should be collecting what the rate study states we should be collecting. 
• Keep conversations with Wareham ongoing 
• Look at the some of the newer projects – adapt the new fee structure 

 
6.B Hideaway Village Sewer Agreement 
 
They had sent a letter to BOSC last year, attended a meeting in the Fall, and another email sent 
by Board of Directors requesting consideration of an agreement with Hideaway village that 
they had, it has expired on June 30th 

 



 Board of Sewer Commissioners Minutes  August 25, 2020  

8 
 

 



 Board of Sewer Commissioners Minutes  August 25, 2020  

9 
 

 



 Board of Sewer Commissioners Minutes  August 25, 2020  

10 
 

 
Mary Andrews 
• They came on line as a condominium 
• Paid our infrastructure, paid betterments to be connected, pay the same rate residentially 

as everyone else, but we got no service in return. 
• The hike increase is impacting our residents 
• Residents requested to pursue the agreement 
• Have 90-100 units living in the village year-round; 266 units paying fees 
• Our infrastructure is being maintained by condominium fees, 
• Unfair that we have no service 
• Provide us something towards maintenance or replacement for some of our 

infrastructure. Requesting the BOSC to subsidize $15,000 a year to replace parts. 
• Hideaway Village is 266 individual users 

 
Comments: 
• Hideaway Village is a condo complex which is a commercial entity, commercial 

developments maintain their own equipment. All other condo properties maintain their 
own equipment on their property. 

• In the past Sewer Commissioners used retained earnings to subsidize the rate for 5 years 
– we are not going to do that anymore – we don’t have the funds/resources. 

 



 Board of Sewer Commissioners Minutes  August 25, 2020  

11 
 

• Jim Potter said if we switch to the ERU system, which is water-use based, people that use 
less water will be paying less. 

• Suggested to look at grants/funding that could help an entity like Hideaway 
 

Voted: Judy Froman moved and seconded by Jared MacDonald to not renew the sewer 
agreement for Hideaway Village. 
Roll Call Vote: Judy Froman – Yes, George Slade – Yes, Peter Meier – Yes, Jared MacDonald 
– Yes, James Potter - Yes 
Vote: 5-0-0. 

 
7) Sewer Visioning Agenda 
A. Comprehensive Wastewater Management Plan Update 
B. Board of Sewer Commissioners Goals 

 
• We have confirmation all 4 interested parties are available on Wednesday, September 9th  
• Meeting scheduled for Wednesday September 9th at 7:00.  
• Meet in the Community Center, not open to the public. Just the Commissioners, Mr. 

Schiavi, Mr. Cannon and one applicant at a time. 
• Broadcasting on Bourne TV for public to follow along 
• Commissioners can ask questions of each of the applicants 
• Each applicant has 30 minutes to give a brief overview 

 
7.B Board of Sewer Commissioners Goals 
 
Jim Potter suggested that the Sewer Commissioners have annual Goals 
 
Examples of some potential Short-range & long-range goals: 
• Comprehensive Wastewater Plan 
• Developing the Sewer Regulations and Policy Book 
• Fund the I&I study 
• Adjust the current sewer development charge and the usage billing – have ERU 

Discussion 
• Award and begin the CWMP Process 
• Fund removal of Savary Community Septic system 
• Assuming Control of the new wastewater treatment plant operations and determine the 

future operational costs 
• Maximizing and taking ownership of the Wastewater Treatment Plant 
• Infrastructure/Environment – to protect our environment 
• Have a good layout of what our sewer system should be 

 
Goals can be published on the website – for public information, and put in reports for updates. 
 
Will put this on another agenda 
 
 



 Board of Sewer Commissioners Minutes  August 25, 2020  

12 
 

 
8) New Business 
A. Correspondence 
B. Any new sewer business (not foreseen 48 hours ahead of this meeting) 
C. Public Comment 

 
Jim Potter said he received an email regarding water district information vs the sewer 
meeting. 
 
Tim Lydon updated the Board regarding the meeting they had. 
Creating long term, medium term, short term goals, physical sustainability – look for action 
items and have a physical sustainability model to pay for those action items. Sewer system is 
an enterprise fund that can fund projects that can be resilient and sustainable. 
 
Jim Potter said there are still a few businesses that are falling outside of the scope of the 
existing Allocation Policy. We should adjust our Allocation Policy – instead of Change of Use, 
we should adjust the policy to be triggered by Change of Flow. 
 
IMA Sub Committee on September 10th with Wareham 
 
Maybe meet on September 14th with Wareham 
We will discuss with full board to full board on the Capital projects that were listed in the 
letter from the Wareham Sewer Superintendent.   
 
Discussion about meeting with Wareham Sewer Commissioners and Board of Selectmen, 
because Sewer Commissioners in Wareham can only make recommendations to the 
Selectmen. Jim Potter explained that there are a few items that might make sense to meet with 
the Wareham Board of Selectmen on, such as the IMA, but many of the sewer budget items are 
within the purview of the Wareham Board of Sewer Commissioners to handle. 
 
Discuss with the Sewer Commissioners and the Selectmen what they are trying to expand at 
the plant. 

 
Future Agenda Items 

A. Sewer Commissioner Regulations & Policies Guidebook and implementation  
B. Bourne/Wareham Inter-municipal Agreement subcommittee update 
C. New Wastewater Treatment Plant — Annory Rd. 
D. Joint Base Cape Cod Sewer Meeting Update 
E. Upper Bay Project (Bourne-Wareham-Marion-South Plymouth) Regional Sewer 

Update 
 
9) Adjourn 
 

Voted: Peter Meier moved and seconded by Jared MacDonald to adjourn at 9:33 P.M.  
Roll Call Vote: Judy Froman - Yes, Jared MacDonald - Yes, George Slade - Yes, Peter Meier - 
Yes, James Potter - Yes 



 Board of Sewer Commissioners Minutes  August 25, 2020  

13 
 

Vote: 5-0-0. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted – Carole Ellis, secretary. 
 











































From: Mastrangelo, Mary Jane
To: All Selectmen
Cc: Cannon, Glenn
Subject: Wastewater Advisory Committee
Date: Thursday, January 20, 2022 11:19:34 AM

THIS EMAIL IS TO A QUORUM OF A PUBLIC BODY. PLEASE DO NOT REPLY ALL

If you are interested in serving as the Board's representative on the Wastewater Advisory Committee please
let Glenn know.

MJ

MJ Mastrangelo
Member Bourne Board of Selectmen
Chair Bourne Sewer Commissioners
508-563-9415
Cell 508-265-4636

mailto:MMastrangelo@townofbourne.com
mailto:Selectmen@townofbourne.com
mailto:gcannon@townofbourne.com


From: Mastrangelo, Mary Jane
To: Cannon, Glenn
Subject: Wastewater Advisory Committee
Date: Thursday, January 20, 2022 11:26:09 AM

I am interested in serving as the Board's representative on the Wastewater Advisory
Committee.

MJ

MJ Mastrangelo
Member Bourne Board of Selectmen
Chair Bourne Sewer Commissioners
508-563-9415
Cell 508-265-4636

mailto:MMastrangelo@townofbourne.com
mailto:gcannon@townofbourne.com


OWNER LOCATION
GPD 
Req'd 

GPD 
Exist'g 

$1500 
App Paid 

Date

Planning 
Board 

Approval 
Date

Preliminary 
Allocation 
Approval 

Date

Prelim 
Alloc Fee 
(2017) 1

Prelim 
Allocation 
Date Paid

Sewer 
Develop 
Charge 
(2006) 2

Operational 
Allocation Comments

2020 GPD Downtown Act. Us   112496
2% Residential Reserve 6000

Operational Allocations

Vincent Michienzi 85-93 Main Street 13000 931 10/24/2018 10/15/2018 $18,000.00 10/24/2019
Temporary Certificate of Occupany 

HAMPTON INN 12 Kendall Rae Place 15243 4614 9/30/2014 11/11/2019 $48,533.12

Certificate of Occupancy issued in January 
2020 - We need to review the Reserve 
Capaity in january 2023 per Policy (V. 

Managing Unused/Underused Allocations)
Total Operational GPD 146739

Preliminary Allocations

Maritime Holdings LLC/Rob  12 Wagner Way 17750 1/5/2018 6/18/2019 $22,750.00 11/20/2019

CALAMAR 13 Kendall Rae Place 16800 1/29/2018 9/19/2017 $21,800.00 1/6/2020
Calamar representatives appeared at the 

Board of Selectmen on April 6, 2021

Vincent Michienzi 100 Block 26080 10/13/2015 -1000 gpd 11/25/2019 (originally 27080)

MMA Cadet Housing 11 Buttermilk Way 7070 310 12/27/2019 N/A 1/28/2020 $12,070.00 2/20/2020
11 Buttermilk Way was reviewed by the BOSC 

on Feb 23, 2021

James McLaughlin 227 Main Street 79 40 12/31/2019 10/10/2019 1/28/2020 $5,079.00 2/7/2020 Operational

Bay Motor Inn 223 Main Street 11985 640 5/20/2020 7/28/2020 $16,335.00 9/1/2020
Approval after BBWD moratorium                 

sent letter 08.03.2020

CMP Development LLC 2 Kendall Rae Place 46475 2/25/2020 7/28/2020 $0.00
Approval after BBWD moratorium                 

sent letter 08.03.2020

340 Main St LLC 340 Main St 3095 8/19/2020 2/27/2020 8/25/2020 $8,095.00 11/2/2020
Potential 2nd phase to include 18-24 

residential units / sent letter 09.01.2020

Domino's/Wareham Pizza Co2 Bourne Bridge Appr 500 0 (unit) 9/15/2021

Total Approved GPD 276073

Total Available GPD 23927                         

Pending Applications Requested:

140 Main St LLC 140 Main St 1,160 33 Mixed use retail and residential

1 Preliminary Allocation Fee is based on the Commercial Wastewater Management Allocation Policy approved in 2017
2  Sewer Development Charge based on the Sewer Use Charges Certificate of Vote dated January 17, 2006

2/1/2021, 
4/27/21

10/28/2020, 
4/27/21

2/1/2021, 
4/27/21

11/25/19, 5/25/2020, 
9/8/2020, 4/27/21

Buzzards Bay Commercial Wastewater Summary Sheet (January 21, 2022)
Previous 6 

Month 
Review Dates

11/25/2019, 5/25/2020, 
2/1/2021, 4/27/21

11/25/19, 
5/25/20,4/6/21

11/25/19, 5/25/2020, 
9/8/2020, 4/27/21







From: Cannon, Glenn
To: Mark Forest; sheila.lyons@barnstablecounty.org; ronald.bergstrom@barnstablecounty.org
Cc: Beth Albert (balbert@barnstablecounty.org; vharik@barnstablecounty.org
Subject: Public Comment on ARPA Funding
Date: Thursday, January 6, 2022 4:42:00 PM

Hello,
 
The Bourne of Bourne Administrative Staff would respectfully request that the Barnstable County
Commissioners appropriate American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funding for the improvements of
water quality in Bourne.
 
The Town of Bourne has numerous Sewer/Water Quality projects currently underway and additional
funding would enable the Town of Bourne to complete or expand these projects.
 
Currently, the Town of Bourne is appropriating American Rescue Plan Act funds to initiate Inflow and
Infiltration (I&I) repairs to our existing sewer system in Buzzards Bay. We are contracted to begin
Phase 1 of a three (3) phase project this spring. Additional funding could be used to complete Phase
2 and Phase 3.
 
We have recently completed construction of our own Waste Water Treatment Facility in Buzzards
Bay. The new treatment facility allows the Town of Bourne to increase our flow to Wareham. The
opportunity to send additional flow to Wareham would expand our existing sewered area and
improve the water quality in Buzzards Bay.
 
We are currently studying the ability to enter into a private/public partnership on the south side of
the canal with the chance to acquire a private sewer plant. The sewer plant may have the ability for
additional capacity allowing for more sewered areas in a current unsewered area. The acquisition of
the private sewer plant and any potential expansion of the sewered area would require additional
funding.
 
This is a sample of the numerous projects we are actively pursuing in Bourne, additional financing
assistance would allow for our success in improving the water quality on Cape Cod.
 
Please let me know if you have any questions or need any additional information.
 
Glenn
 
Glenn Cannon, P.E.
Town of Bourne
Acting Town Administrator
24 Perry Avenue
Buzzards Bay, MA 02532
(508) 759-0600 Ext 1348
gcannon@townofbourne.com
 

mailto:gcannon@townofbourne.com
mailto:mark.forest@barnstablecounty.org
mailto:sheila.lyons@barnstablecounty.org
mailto:ronald.bergstrom@barnstablecounty.org
mailto:balbert@barnstablecounty.org
mailto:vharik@barnstablecounty.org
mailto:gcannon@townofbourne.com


From: Papadopoulos, George
To: Mary Jane Mastrangelo; Petersen@savebuzzardsbay.org; Cannon, Glenn
Subject: Draft NPDES Permit for the Massachusetts Maritime Academy - MA0024368
Date: Monday, January 10, 2022 11:25:52 AM

 
January 10, 2022
 
Dear Mary Jane, Korrin, and Glenn, 
 
Attached is the Draft Permit, Fact Sheet, and Public Notice for the draft NPDES Permit for
Massachusetts Maritime Academy (permit number MA0024368). These documents will also
be posted on EPA Region 1’s NPDES website at https://www.epa.gov/npdes-
permits/massachusetts-draft-individual-npdes-permits and the public comment period is from
January 10, 2022 through February 8, 2022.
 
https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2022-01/draftma0024368permit.pdf
 
Please let me know if you have any questions.
 
Thank you
 
George Papadopoulos
Environmental Engineer
USEPA- 5 P.O. Square, Suite 100
Boston, MA 02109-3912
Phone:  (617) 918-1579
Papadopoulos.george@epa.gov
 
 

 

This email has been scanned for spam and viruses by Proofpoint Essentials. Click here to
report this email as spam.

mailto:papadopoulos.george@epa.gov
mailto:mjm@mrainc.org
mailto:Petersen@savebuzzardsbay.org
mailto:gcannon@townofbourne.com
https://www.epa.gov/npdes-permits/massachusetts-draft-individual-npdes-permits
https://www.epa.gov/npdes-permits/massachusetts-draft-individual-npdes-permits
https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2022-01/draftma0024368permit.pdf
mailto:Papadopoulos.george@epa.gov
https://gdsprotect.cloud-protect.net/index01.php?mod_id=11&mod_option=logitem&mail_id=1641831950-SYCm15HPdsYR&r_address=gcannon%40townofbourne.com&report=1


NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2022 Draft Permit 

AUTHORIZATION TO DISCHARGE UNDER THE 
NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM 

In compliance with the provisions of the Federal Clean Water Act as amended, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et 
seq. (the “CWA”), 

Massachusetts Maritime Academy 
101 Academy Drive 

Buzzards Bay, MA  02532 

is authorized to discharge from the facility located at 

Massachusetts Maritime Academy 
101 Academy Drive 

Buzzards Bay, MA  02532 

to receiving water named 

Cape Cod Canal 
Buzzards Bay Watershed

USGS Hydrologic code: 01090002 

in accordance with effluent limitations, monitoring requirements and other conditions set forth herein. 

This permit shall become effective on the first day of the calendar month immediately following 60 
days after signature. 1 

This permit expires at midnight, five years from the last day of the month preceding the effective date. 

This permit supersedes the permit issued on February 25, 2011. 

This permit consists of Part I including the cover page(s), Attachment A (Marine Acute Toxicity 
Test Protocol, July 2012, 10 pages) and Part II (NPDES Part II Standard Conditions, April 2018, 21 
pages). 

Signed this          day of

_________________________ 
Ken Moraff, Director 
Water Division 
Environmental Protection Agency 
Region 1 
Boston, MA 

1 Pursuant to 40 Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.) § 124.15(b)(3), if no comments requesting a change to the Draft 
Permit are received, the permit will become effective upon the date of signature. Procedures for appealing EPA’s Final 
Permit decision may be found at 40 C.F.R. § 124.19. 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368   2021 Draft Permit 
 Page 2 of 18 

PART I 

A. EFFLUENT LIMITATIONS AND MONITORING REQUIREMENTS 

1. During the period beginning on the effective date and lasting through the expiration date, the Permittee is authorized to discharge 
treated effluent and chiller water through Outfall Serial Number 001 to the Cape Cod Canal. The discharge shall be limited and 
monitored as specified below; the receiving water and the influent shall be monitored as specified below. 

Effluent Characteristic 
Effluent Limitation Monitoring Requirements1,2,3 

Average 
Monthly 

Average 
Weekly 

Maximum 
Daily 

Measurement 
Frequency 

Sample 
Type4 

Rolling Average Effluent Flow 5 

 77,000 GPD --- --- Continuous Recorder 

Effluent Flow 5 

 Report GPD --- Report GPD Continuous Recorder 
 
BOD5 
 

30 mg/L 
 
45 mg/L 
 

Report mg/L 1/week Composite  

BOD5 Removal 
 ≥ 85 % --- --- 1/month Calculation 
 
TSS 

 
30 mg/L 
 

45 mg/L Report mg/L 1/week Composite   

TSS Removal 
 ≥ 85 % --- --- 1/month Calculation 

pH Range 6 

 6.5 - 8.5 S.U. 1/day Grab 

Fecal Coliform 7 14 cfu/100 mL --- 43 cfu/100 mL 1/week Grab 
Enterococcus 7 
 35 cfu/100 mL --- 276 cfu/100 mL 1/week Grab 

 
Total Residual Chlorine8 --- --- 1.0 mg/L 3/Day  Grab 

Ammonia Nitrogen --- --- Report mg/L 1/quarter Composite 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368   2021 Draft Permit
 Page 3 of 18 
 

 

Effluent Characteristic 
Effluent Limitation Monitoring Requirements1,2,3 

Average 
Monthly 

Average 
Weekly 

Maximum 
Daily 

Measurement 
Frequency 

Sample 
Type4 

Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen9 --- --- Report mg/L 1/quarter Composite 
Nitrate + Nitrite9 --- --- Report mg/L 1/quarter Composite 

Total Nitrogen9 ---  
 --- Report mg/L 1/quarter Calculation 

Perfluorohexanesulfonic acid (PFHxS)10 --- --- Report ng/L 1/quarter Composite 
Perfluorononanoic acid (PFNA)10 --- --- Report ng/L 1/quarter Composite 
Perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS)10 --- --- Report ng/L 1/quarter Composite 
Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA)10 --- --- Report ng/L 1/quarter Composite 
Perfluoroheptanoic acid (PFHpA)10 --- --- Report ng/L 1/quarter Composite 
Perfluorodecanoic acid (PFDA)10 --- --- Report ng/L 1/quarter Composite 
 
Whole Effluent Toxicity (WET) Testing11,12 

LC50 --- --- ≥ 50 % 1/year Composite 
Salinity --- --- Report ppt 1/year Composite 
Ammonia Nitrogen --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Composite 
Total Cadmium --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Composite 
Total Copper --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Composite 
Total Nickel --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Composite 
Total Lead --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Composite 
Total Zinc --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Composite 
Total Organic Carbon --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Composite 

 

 
Ambient Characteristic13                                    

Reporting Requirements Monitoring Requirements1,2,3 

Average 
Monthly 

Average 
Weekly 

Maximum 
Daily 

Measurement 
Frequency Sample Type4 

Salinity --- --- Report ppt 1/year Grab 
Ammonia Nitrogen --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Grab 
Total Cadmium --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Grab 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368   2021 Draft Permit
 Page 4 of 18 
 

 

Total Copper --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Grab 
Total Nickel --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Grab 
Total Lead --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Grab 
Total Zinc --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Grab 
Total Organic Carbon --- --- Report mg/L 1/year Grab 
pH14 --- --- Report S.U. 1/year Grab 
Temperature14 --- --- Report °C 1/year Grab 

 

 

 

 

 
Influent Characteristic                                  

Reporting Requirements Monitoring Requirements1,2,3 
Average 
Monthly 

Average 
Weekly 

Maximum 
Daily 

Measurement 
Frequency Sample Type4 

BOD5 Report mg/L --- --- 1/week Composite 
TSS Report mg/L --- --- 1/week Composite   
Perfluorohexanesulfonic acid (PFHxS)10 --- --- Report ng/L 1/quarter Composite 
Perfluorononanoic acid (PFNA)10 --- --- Report ng/L 1/quarter Composite 
Perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS)10 --- --- Report ng/L 1/quarter Composite 
Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA)10 --- --- Report ng/L 1/quarter Composite 
Perfluoroheptanoic acid (PFHpA)10 --- --- Report ng/L 1/quarter Composite 
Perfluorodecanoic acid (PFDA)10 --- --- Report ng/L 1/quarter Composite 

 
Sludge Characteristic                                    

Reporting Requirements Monitoring Requirements1,2,3 
Average 
Monthly 

Average 
Weekly 

Maximum 
Daily 

Measurement 
Frequency Sample Type4 

Perfluorohexanesulfonic acid (PFHxS)15 --- --- Report ng/g 1/quarter Composite16 
Perfluorononanoic acid (PFNA)15 --- --- Report ng/g 1/quarter Composite16 
Perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS)15 --- --- Report ng/g 1/quarter Composite16 
Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA)15 --- --- Report ng/g 1/quarter Composite16 
Perfluoroheptanoic acid (PFHpA)15 --- --- Report ng/g 1/quarter Composite16 
Perfluorodecanoic acid (PFDA)15 --- --- Report ng/g 1/quarter Composite16 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368   2021 Draft Permit
 Page 5 of 18 
 

 

2. During the period beginning on the effective date and lasting through the expiration date, the Permittee is authorized to discharge 
treated swimming pool water through Outfall Serial Number 002 to the Cape Cod Canal. The discharge shall be limited and 
monitored as specified below. 

Effluent Characteristic 
Effluent Limitation Monitoring Requirements1,2,3 

Average 
Monthly 

Average 
Weekly 

Maximum 
Daily 

Measurement 
Frequency 

Sample 
Type4 

Effluent Flow 17 
--- --- 10,000 GPD 17 1/discharge Estimate 

pH Range 6 

 6.5 - 8.5 S.U. 1/hour Grab 

Total Residual Chlorine8 

 --- ---      1.0 mg/L 1/hour Grab 

Total Copper --- --- 0.5 mg/L 1/hour Grab 

Footnotes begin on Page 6



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  
 2021 Draft Permit
 Page 6 of 18 
 

 

Footnotes: 

1. All samples shall be collected in a manner to yield representative data. A routine 
sampling program shall be developed in which samples are taken at the same location, 
same time and same days of the week each month at the locations specified below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Occasional deviations from the routine sampling program are allowed, but the reason for 
the deviation shall be documented as an electronic attachment to the applicable discharge 
monitoring report (DMR). The Permittee shall report the results to the Environmental 
Protection Agency Region 1 (EPA) and the Massachusetts Department of Environmental 
Protection (MassDEP) of any additional testing above that required herein, if testing is in 
accordance with 40 CFR Part 136.  

2. In accordance with 40 CFR § 122.44(i)(1)(iv), the Permittee shall monitor according to 
sufficiently sensitive test procedures (i.e., methods) approved under 40 CFR Part 136 or 
required under 40 CFR chapter I, subchapter N or O, for the analysis of pollutants or 
pollutant parameters (except WET). A method is “sufficiently sensitive” when: 1) The 

Parameter  Sampling Location 

BOD5 and TSS     Influent; 24 hour composite samples shall be taken by the sampler 
line in the outlet pipe of the Screening Unit                          

  Effluent; 24 hour composite samples shall be taken from the line 
drawn from the bottom of outlet trough of the UV system 

Fecal Coliform and 
Enterococcus 

Grab samples shall be taken at the UV system overflow weir 

TRC (when chlorinating) Effluent TRC shall be taken as grab sample from the accessible     
downstream manhole (outside the plant).   

Whole Effluent Toxicity Effluent 24 hour composite samples shall be taken from the line 
drawn from the bottom of outlet trough of the UV system 

Total Nitrogen as N, TKN   

Total Nitrate and Nitrite as N  

Total Ammonia as N 

Effluent 24 hour composite samples shall be taken from the line 
drawn from the bottom of outlet trough of the UV system 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  
 2021 Draft Permit
 Page 7 of 18 
 

 

method minimum level (ML) is at or below the level of the effluent limitation established 
in the permit for the measured pollutant or pollutant parameter; or 2) The method has the 
lowest ML of the analytical methods approved under 40 CFR Part 136 or required under 
40 CFR chapter I, subchapter N or O for the measured pollutant or pollutant parameter. 
The term “minimum level” refers to either the sample concentration equivalent to the 
lowest calibration point in a method or a multiple of the method detection limit (MDL), 
whichever is higher. Minimum levels may be obtained in several ways: They may be 
published in a method; they may be based on the lowest acceptable calibration point used 
by a laboratory; or they may be calculated by multiplying the MDL in a method, or the 
MDL determined by a laboratory, by a factor.  

3. When a parameter is not detected above the ML, the Permittee must report the data 
qualifier signifying less than the ML for that parameter (e.g., < 50 μg/L, if the ML for a 
parameter is 50 μg/L). For reporting an average based on a mix of values detected and not 
detected, assign a value of “0” to all non-detects for that reporting period and report the 
average of all the results. 

4. A “grab” sample is an individual sample collected in a period of less than 15 minutes.  

A “composite” sample is a composite of at least twenty-four (24) grab samples taken 
during one consecutive 24-hour period, either collected at equal intervals and combined 
proportional to flow or continuously collected proportional to flow. 

5. Report the annual average, monthly average, and the maximum daily flow in gallons per 
day (GPD). The limit of 77,000 GPD is an annual average, which shall be reported as a 
rolling average. The value will be calculated as the arithmetic mean of the monthly 
average flow for the reporting month and the monthly average flows of the previous 
eleven months.  

6. The pH shall be within the specified range at all times. The minimum and maximum pH 
sample measurement values for the month shall be reported in standard units (S.U.).  

7. The monthly average limits for Enterococcus and Fecal coliform are expressed as 
geometric means. 

8. For Outfall 001, TRC monitoring is required 3 times per day only for those days that the 
Permittee chlorinates its effluent in the event of the ultraviolet (UV) disinfection system 
being inoperable or inadequate to achieve bacterial control, or when any sand filters are 
being repaired. The permittee shall notify EPA and MassDEP within 24 hours of when 
emergency chlorination is initiated. Under such circumstances, the Permittee shall 
operate a flow pacing pump to feed chlorine solution to the sand filter inlet and 
dechlorinate the effluent prior to discharge, if necessary, to meet the TRC limit of 1.0 
mg/l. For those months when there is no effluent chlorination, the Permittee must report a 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  
 2021 Draft Permit
 Page 8 of 18 
 

 

No Data Indicator (NODI) Code on the DMR. In Attachment E of NPDES Permit 
Program Instructions for the DMRs, a list of NODI codes is included at 
https://echo.epa.gov/tools/data-downloads/icis-npdes-dmr-summary. 

For Outfall 002, TRC monitoring is required once per hour while discharging, including                    
for the duration of any complete swimming pool discharge, after dechlorination. For 
those months that there is no discharge from this outfall, the Permittee must report a No 
Data Indicator (NODI) Code on the DMR. 

Chlorination and dechlorination systems shall include an alarm system for indicating 
system interruptions or malfunctions. Any interruption or malfunction of the chlorine 
dosing system that may have resulted in levels of chlorine that were inadequate for 
achieving effective disinfection, or interruptions or malfunctions of the dechlorination 
system that may have resulted in excessive levels of chlorine in the final effluent shall be 
reported with the monthly DMRs. The report shall include the date and time of the 
interruption or malfunction, the nature of the problem, and the estimated amount of time 
and that the reduced levels of chlorine or dechlorination chemicals occurred. 

9. Total Kjeldahl nitrogen and nitrate + nitrite samples shall be collected concurrently. The 
results of these analyses shall be used to calculate both the concentration and mass 
loadings of total nitrogen, as follows.  

Total Nitrogen (mg/L) = Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (mg/L) + Nitrate + Nitrite (mg/L) 

Total Nitrogen (lb/day) = [(average monthly Total Nitrogen (mg/L) * total monthly 
effluent flow (Millions of Gallons (MG)) / # of days in the month] * 8.34 

See Part I.F.1 for special conditions related to nitrogen.  

10. Report in nanograms per liter (ng/L). This reporting requirement for the listed per- and 
polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) parameters takes effect the first full calendar quarter 
following 6 months after EPA notifies the Permittee that an EPA multi-lab validated 
method for wastewater is available. 

11. The Permittee shall conduct an annual acute toxicity test (LC50) in accordance with test 
procedures and protocols specified in Attachment A of this permit. LC50 is defined in 
Part II.E. of this permit. The Permittee shall test the Mysid Shrimp, Americamysis bahia. 
Toxicity test samples shall be collected and tests completed during the month of June. 
The complete report for each toxicity test shall be submitted as an attachment to the 
DMR submittal which includes the results for that toxicity test. 

12. For Part I.A.1., Whole Effluent Toxicity Testing, the Permittee shall conduct the analyses 
specified in Attachment A, Part VI. CHEMICAL ANALYSIS for the effluent sample. If 
toxicity test(s) using the receiving water as diluent show the receiving water to be toxic 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  
 2021 Draft Permit
 Page 9 of 18 
 

 

or unreliable, the Permittee shall follow procedures outlined in Attachment A, Section 
IV, DILUTION WATER. Minimum levels and test methods are specified in Attachment 
A, Part VI. CHEMICAL ANALYSIS. 

13. For Part I.A.1., Ambient Characteristic, the Permittee shall conduct the analyses specified 
in Attachment A, Part VI. CHEMICAL ANALYSIS for the receiving water sample 
collected as part of the WET testing requirements. Such samples shall be taken from the 
receiving water at a point immediately outside of the permitted discharge’s zone of 
influence at a reasonably accessible location, as specified in Attachment A. Minimum 
levels and test methods are specified in Attachment A, Part VI. CHEMICAL 
ANALYSIS. 

14. A pH and temperature measurement shall be taken of each receiving water sample at the 
time of collection and the results reported on the appropriate DMR. These pH and 
temperature measurements are independent from any pH and temperature measurements 
required by the WET testing protocols. 

15. Report in nanograms per gram (ng/g). This reporting requirement for the listed PFAS 
parameters takes effect the first full calendar quarter following 6 months after EPA 
notifies the permittee that an EPA multi-lab validated method for sludge is available. 

16. Sludge sampling shall be as representative as possible based on guidance found at 
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2018-11/documents/potw-sludge-sampling-
guidance-document.pdf. 

17. Periodic discharges of up to 10,000 gallons from the campus swimming pool are 
authorized to adjust pool water chemistry. The Permittee must notify EPA and MassDEP 
prior to the complete discharge of the swimming pool as specified in Part I.G.7 of this 
permit. The Permittee must sample once every hour for the parameters listed for both the 
periodic and complete pool discharges.      

  

https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2018-11/documents/potw-sludge-sampling-guidance-document.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2018-11/documents/potw-sludge-sampling-guidance-document.pdf


NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  
 2021 Draft Permit
 Page 10 of 18 
 

 

Part I.A., continued. 

3. The discharge shall not cause a violation of the water quality standards of the receiving 
water. 

4. The discharge shall be free from pollutants in concentrations or combinations that, in the 
receiving water, settle to form objectionable deposits; float as debris, scum or other matter to 
form nuisances; produce objectionable odor, color, taste or turbidity; or produce undesirable 
or nuisance species of aquatic life. 

5. The discharge shall be free from pollutants in concentrations or combinations that adversely 
affect the physical, chemical, or biological nature of the bottom of the water course.  

6. The discharge shall not result in pollutants in concentrations or combinations in the receiving 
water that are toxic to humans, aquatic life or wildlife. 

7. The discharge shall be free from floating, suspended and settleable solids in concentrations or 
combinations that would impair any use assigned to the receiving water. 

8. The discharge shall be free from oil, grease and petrochemicals that produce a visible film on 
the surface of the water, impart an oily taste to the water or an oily or other undesirable taste 
to the edible portions of aquatic life, coat the banks or bottom of the water course, or are 
deleterious or become toxic to aquatic life.  

B. UNAUTHORIZED DISCHARGES 

1. This permit authorizes discharges only from the outfall listed in Part I.A.1 and I.A.2, in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this permit. Discharges of wastewater from any 
other point sources, including sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs), are not authorized by this 
permit. The Permittee must provide notification to EPA within 24 hours of becoming aware 
of any unauthorized discharge, in accordance with Part II.D.1.e.(1) (24-hour reporting). See 
Part I.G below for reporting requirements. 

2. The Permittee must provide notification to the public within 24 hours of becoming aware of 
any unauthorized discharge, except SSOs that do not impact a surface water or the public, on 
a publicly available website, and it shall remain on the website for a minimum of 12 
months. Such notification shall include the location and description of the discharge; 
estimated volume; the period of noncompliance, including exact dates and times, and, if the 
noncompliance has not been corrected, the anticipated time it is expected to continue.  

3. Notification of SSOs to MassDEP shall be made on its SSO Reporting Form (which includes 
MassDEP Regional Office telephone numbers). The reporting form and instruction for its 
completion may be found on-line at https://www.mass.gov/how-to/sanitary-sewer-
overflowbypassbackup-notification.    

https://www.mass.gov/how-to/sanitary-sewer-overflowbypassbackup-notification
https://www.mass.gov/how-to/sanitary-sewer-overflowbypassbackup-notification


NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  
 2021 Draft Permit
 Page 11 of 18 
 

 

C. OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF THE SEWER SYSTEM 

Operation and maintenance (O&M) of the sewer system shall be in compliance with the Standard 
Conditions of Part II and the following terms and conditions. The Permittee shall complete the 
following activities for the collection system which it owns: 

1. Maintenance Staff 

The Permittee shall provide an adequate staff to carry out the operation, maintenance, repair, and 
testing functions required to ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of this permit. 
Provisions to meet this requirement shall be described in the Collection System O&M Plan 
required pursuant to Section C.5. below. 

2. Preventive Maintenance Program 

The Permittee shall maintain an ongoing preventive maintenance program to prevent overflows 
and bypasses caused by malfunctions or failures of the sewer system infrastructure. The program 
shall include an inspection program designed to identify all potential and actual unauthorized 
discharges. Plans and programs to meet this requirement shall be described in the Collection 
System O&M Plan required pursuant to Section C.5. below. 

3. Infiltration/Inflow 

The Permittee shall control infiltration and inflow (I/I) into the sewer system as necessary to 
prevent high flow related unauthorized discharges from their collection systems and high flow 
related violations of the wastewater treatment plant’s effluent limitations. Plans and programs to 
control I/I shall be described in the Collection System O&M Plan required pursuant to Section 
C.5. below. 

4. Collection System Mapping 

Within 18 months of the effective date of this permit, the Permittee shall prepare a map of the 
sewer collection system that it owns. The map shall be on a street map of the campus, with 
sufficient detail and at a scale to allow easy interpretation. The collection system information 
shown on the map shall be based on current conditions and shall be kept up-to-date and available 
for review by federal, state, or local agencies. Such map(s) shall include, but not be limited to the 
following: 

a. All sanitary sewer lines and related manholes; 

b. All combined sewer lines, related manholes, and catch basins; 

c. All combined sewer regulators and any known or suspected connections between the 
sanitary sewer and storm drain systems (e.g. combination manholes); 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  
 2021 Draft Permit
 Page 12 of 18 
 

 

d. All outfalls, including the treatment plant outfall(s), CSOs, and any known or suspected 
SSOs, including stormwater outfalls that are connected to combination manholes; 

e. All pump stations and force mains; 

f. The wastewater treatment facility; 

g. All surface waters (labeled); 

h. Other major appurtenances such as inverted siphons and air release valves; 

i. A numbering system which uniquely identifies manholes, catch basins, overflow points, 
regulators and outfalls; 

j. The scale and a north arrow; and 

k. The pipe diameter, date of installation, type of material, distance between manholes, 
and the direction of flow. 

5. Collection System O&M Plan 

The Permittee shall develop and implement a Collection System O&M Plan. 

a. Within six (6) months of the effective date of the permit, the Permittee shall submit to 
EPA and the State: 

(1) A description of the collection system management goals, staffing, information 
management, and legal authorities; 

(2) A description of the collection system and the overall condition of the collection 
system including a list of all pump stations and a description of recent studies and 
construction activities; and 

(3) A schedule for the development and implementation of the full Collection System 
O&M Plan including the elements in paragraphs b.1. through b.8. below. 

b. The full Collection System O&M Plan shall be completed, implemented and submitted 
to EPA and the State within twenty-four (24) months from the effective date of this 
permit. The Plan shall include: 

(1) The required submittal from paragraph 5.a. above, updated to reflect current 
information; 

(2) A preventive maintenance and monitoring program for the collection system; 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  
 2021 Draft Permit
 Page 13 of 18 
 

 

(3) Description of sufficient staffing necessary to properly operate and maintain the 
sanitary sewer collection system and how the operation and maintenance program 
is staffed; 

(4) Description of funding, the source(s) of funding and provisions for funding 
sufficient for implementing the plan; 

(5) Identification of known and suspected overflows and back-ups, including 
manholes. A description of the cause of the identified overflows and back-ups, 
corrective actions taken, and a plan for addressing the overflows and back-ups 
consistent with the requirements of this permit; 

(6) A description of the Permittee’s programs for preventing I/I related effluent 
violations and all unauthorized discharges of wastewater, including overflows and 
by-passes and the ongoing program to identify and remove sources of I/I. The 
program shall include an inflow identification and control program that focuses 
on the disconnection and redirection of illegal sump pumps and roof downspouts; 

(7) An educational public outreach program for all aspects of I/I control, particularly 
private inflow; and 

(8) An Overflow Emergency Response Plan to protect public health from overflows 
and unanticipated bypasses or upsets that exceed any effluent limitation in the 
permit. 

6. Annual Reporting Requirement 

The Permittee shall submit a summary report of activities related to the implementation of its 
Collection System O&M Plan during the previous calendar year. The report shall be 
submitted to EPA and the State annually by March 31. The summary report shall, at a 
minimum, include: 

a. A description of the staffing levels maintained during the year; 

b. A map and a description of inspection and maintenance activities conducted and 
corrective actions taken during the previous year; 

c. Expenditures for any collection system maintenance activities and corrective actions 
taken during the previous year; 

d. A map with areas identified for investigation/action in the coming year; 

e. A summary of unauthorized discharges during the past year and their causes and a 
report of any corrective actions taken as a result of the unauthorized discharges reported 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  
 2021 Draft Permit
 Page 14 of 18 
 

 

pursuant to the Unauthorized Discharges section of this permit; and 

f. If the average annual flow in the previous calendar year exceeded 80 percent of the 
facility’s 0.077 MGD design flow (0.0616 MGD), or there have been capacity related 
overflows, the report shall include: 

(1) Plans for further potential flow increases describing how the Permittee will 
maintain compliance with the flow limit and all other effluent limitations and 
conditions; and 

(2) A calculation of the maximum daily, weekly, and monthly infiltration and the 
maximum daily, weekly, and monthly inflow for the reporting year. 

D. ALTERNATE POWER SOURCE 

In order to maintain compliance with the terms and conditions of this permit, the Permittee shall 
provide an alternative power source(s) sufficient to operate the portion of the publicly owned 
treatment works it owns and operates, as defined in Part II.E.1 of this permit. 

E. SLUDGE CONDITIONS 

1. The Permittee shall comply with all existing federal and state laws and regulations that apply 
to sewage sludge use and disposal practices, including EPA regulations promulgated at 40 
CFR § 503, which prescribe “Standards for the Use or Disposal of Sewage Sludge” pursuant 
to § 405(d) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1345(d). 

2. If both state and federal requirements apply to the Permittee’s sludge use and/or disposal 
practices, the Permittee shall comply with the more stringent of the applicable requirements. 

3. The requirements and technical standards of 40 CFR Part 503 apply to the following sludge 
use or disposal practices: 

a. Land application - the use of sewage sludge to condition or fertilize the soil 

b. Surface disposal - the placement of sewage sludge in a sludge only landfill 

c. Sewage sludge incineration in a sludge only incinerator 

4. The requirements of 40 CFR Part 503 do not apply to facilities which dispose of sludge in a 
municipal solid waste landfill. 40 CFR § 503.4. These requirements also do not apply to 
facilities which do not use or dispose of sewage sludge during the life of the permit but rather 
treat the sludge (e.g., lagoons, reed beds), or are otherwise excluded under 40 CFR § 503.6. 

 

 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  
 2021 Draft Permit
 Page 15 of 18 
 

 

5. The 40 CFR Part 503 requirements include the following elements: 

a. General requirements 

b. Pollutant limitations 

c. Operational Standards (pathogen reduction requirements and vector attraction reduction 
requirements) 

d. Management practices 

e. Record keeping 

f. Monitoring 

g. Reporting 

Which of the 40 CFR Part 503 requirements apply to the Permittee will depend upon the use 
or disposal practice followed and upon the quality of material produced by a facility. The 
EPA Region 1 guidance document, “EPA Region 1 - NPDES Permit Sludge Compliance 
Guidance” (November 4, 1999), may be used by the Permittee to assist it in determining the 
applicable requirements. 

6. The sludge shall be monitored for pollutant concentrations (all Part 503 methods) and 
pathogen reduction and vector attraction reduction (land application and surface disposal) at 
the following frequency. This frequency is based upon the volume of sewage sludge 
generated at the facility in dry metric tons per year, as follows: 

less than 290     1/ year 
290 to less than 1,500    1 /quarter 
1,500 to less than 15,000   6 /year 
15,000 +     1 /month 

Sampling of the sewage sludge shall use the procedures detailed in 40 CFR § 503.8. 

7. Under 40 CFR § 503.9(r), the Permittee is a “person who prepares sewage sludge” because it 
“is … the person who generates sewage sludge during the treatment of domestic sewage in a 
treatment works ….” If the Permittee contracts with another “person who prepares sewage 
sludge” under 40 CFR § 503.9(r) – i.e., with “a person who derives a material from sewage 
sludge” – for use or disposal of the sludge, then compliance with Part 503 requirements is the 
responsibility of the contractor engaged for that purpose. If the Permittee does not engage a 
“person who prepares sewage sludge,” as defined in 40 CFR § 503.9(r), for use or disposal, 
then the Permittee remains responsible to ensure that the applicable requirements in Part 503 
are met. 40 CFR § 503.7. If the ultimate use or disposal method is land application, the 
Permittee is responsible for providing the person receiving the sludge with notice and 
necessary information to comply with the requirements of 40 CFR § 503 Subpart B. 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  
 2021 Draft Permit
 Page 16 of 18 
 

 

F. SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

1. Nitrogen Optimization  

a.  The Permittee shall continue to optimize the treatment facility operations relative to total 
nitrogen (“TN”) removal through measures such as continued ammonia removal, 
maximization of solids retention time while maintaining compliance with BOD5 and TSS 
limits, and/or other operational changes designed to enhance the removal of nitrogen in 
order to minimize the annual average mass discharge of total nitrogen. 

 b.  The permittee shall submit an annual report to EPA and the MassDEP by February 1st of 
each year that summarizes activities related to optimizing nitrogen removal efficiencies, 
documents the annual nitrogen discharge load from the facility, and tracks trends relative 
to the previous calendar year. If, in any year, the treatment facility discharges of TN on an 
average annual basis have increased, the annual report shall include a detailed explanation 
of the reasons why TN discharges have increased, including any changes in influent 
flows/loads and any operational changes. The report shall also include all supporting data. 

G. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

Unless otherwise specified in this permit, the Permittee shall submit reports, requests, and 
information and provide notices in the manner described in this section. 

1. Submittal of DMRs Using NetDMR 

The Permittee shall continue to submit its monthly monitoring data in discharge monitoring 
reports (DMRs) to EPA and the State electronically using NetDMR no later than the 15th day 
of the month. When the Permittee submits DMRs using NetDMR, it is not required to submit 
hard copies of DMRs to EPA or the State. NetDMR is accessible through EPA’s Central 
Data Exchange at https://cdx.epa.gov/. 

2. Submittal of Reports as NetDMR Attachments 

Unless otherwise specified in this permit, the Permittee shall electronically submit all reports 
to EPA as NetDMR attachments rather than as hard copies. See Part I.G.6 for more 
information on State reporting. Because the due dates for reports described in this permit 
may not coincide with the due date for submitting DMRs (which is no later than the 15th day 
of the month), a report submitted electronically as a NetDMR attachment shall be considered 
timely if it is electronically submitted to EPA using NetDMR with the next DMR due 
following the report due date specified in this permit.  

 

 

https://cdx.epa.gov/


NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  
 2021 Draft Permit
 Page 17 of 18 
 

 

3. Submittal of Biosolids/Sewage Sludge Reports 

By February 19 of each year, the Permittee must electronically report their annual 
Biosolids/Sewage Sludge Report for the previous calendar year using EPA’s NPDES 
Electronic Reporting Tool (“NeT”), or another approved EPA system, which is accessible 
through EPA’s Central Data Exchange at https://cdx.epa.gov/. 

4. Submittal of Requests and Reports to EPA Water Division (WD) 

a. The following requests, reports, and information described in this permit shall be 
submitted to the NPDES Applications Coordinator in EPA Water Division (WD): 

(1) Transfer of permit notice;  

(2) Request for changes in sampling location; 

(3) Request for reduction in testing frequency; 

(4) Report on unacceptable dilution water / request for alternative dilution water for 
WET testing. 

b. These reports, information, and requests shall be submitted to EPA WD electronically 
at R1NPDESReporting@epa.gov. 

5. Submittal of Reports to EPA Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division (ECAD) in 
Hard Copy Form 

a. The following notifications and reports shall be signed and dated originals, submitted as 
hard copy, with a cover letter describing the submission: 

(1) Written notifications required under Part II.B.4.c, for bypasses, and Part II.D.1.e, 
for sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs). Starting on 21 December 2025, such 
notifications must be done electronically using EPA’s NPDES Electronic 
Reporting Tool (“NeT”), or another approved EPA system, which will be 
accessible through EPA’s Central Data Exchange at https://cdx.epa.gov/. 

b. This information shall be submitted to EPA ECAD at the following address:  

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division  

Water Compliance Section 
5 Post Office Square, Suite 100 (04-SMR) 

Boston, MA 02109-3912 
Fax: 617-918-0598 

https://cdx.epa.gov/
mailto:R1NPDESReporting@epa.gov
https://cdx.epa.gov/


NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  
 2021 Draft Permit
 Page 18 of 18 
 

 

6. State Reporting 

Duplicate signed copies of all WET test reports shall be submitted to the Massachusetts 
Department of Environmental Protection, Division of Watershed Management, at the 
following address: 

Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection 
Bureau of Water Resources 

Division of Watershed Management 
8 New Bond Street 

Worcester, Massachusetts 01606 

7. Verbal Reports and Verbal Notifications 

a. Any verbal reports or verbal notifications, if required in Parts I and/or II of this permit, 
shall be made to both EPA and to the State. This includes verbal reports and 
notifications which require reporting within 24 hours (e.g., Part II.B.4.c.(2), Part 
II.B.5.c.(3), and Part II.D.1.e). 

b. Verbal reports and verbal notifications shall be made to: 

EPA ECAD at 617-918-1510 
and 

MassDEP Emergency Response at 888-304-1133 

H. STATE 401 CERTIFICATION CONDITIONS 

1. This Permit is in the process of receiving state water quality certification issued by the State 
under § 401(a) of the CWA and 40 CFR § 124.53. EPA will incorporate appropriate state 
water quality certification requirements (if any) into the Final Permit. 

 

 



Page 1 of 10 

MARINE ACUTE 

TOXICITY TEST PROCEDURE AND PROTOCOL 

I.  GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

The permittee shall conduct acceptable acute toxicity tests in accordance with the appropriate 
test protocols described below: 

• 2007.0 - Mysid Shrimp (Americamysis bahia) definitive 48 hour test.

• 2006.0 - Inland Silverside (Menidia beryllina) definitive 48 hour test.

Acute toxicity data shall be reported as outlined in Section VIII. 

II. METHODS

The permittee shall use the most recent 40 CFR Part 136 methods. Whole Effluent Toxicity 
(WET) Test Methods and guidance may be found at:  

http://water.epa.gov/scitech/methods/cwa/wet/index.cfm#methods 

The permittee shall also meet the sampling, analysis and reporting requirements included in this 
protocol. This protocol defines more specific requirements while still being consistent with the 
Part 136 methods. If, due to modifications of Part 136, there are conflicting requirements 
between the Part 136 method and this protocol, the permittee shall comply with the requirements 
of the Part 136 method.  

III. SAMPLE COLLECTION

A discharge and receiving water sample shall be collected.  The receiving water control sample 
must be collected immediately upstream of the permitted discharge’s zone of influence.   The 
acceptable holding times until initial use of a sample are 24 and 36 hours for on-site and off-site 
testing, respectively. A written waiver is required from the regulating authority for any holding 
time extension. Sampling guidance dictates that, where appropriate, aliquots for the analysis 
required in this protocol shall be split from the samples, containerized and immediately 
preserved, or analyzed as per 40 CFR Part 136. EPA approved test methods require that samples 
collected for metals analyses be preserved immediately after collection. Testing for the presence 
of total residual chlorine1 (TRC) must be analyzed immediately or as soon as possible, for all 
effluent samples, prior to WET testing. TRC analysis may be performed on-site or by the toxicity 
testing laboratory and the samples must be dechlorinated, as necessary, using sodium thiosulfate 

1 For this protocol, total residual chlorine is synonymous with total residual oxidants. 
(July 2012) 

http://water.epa.gov/scitech/methods/cwa/wet/index.cfm%23methods


(July 2012) Page 2 of 10 

prior to sample use for toxicity testing. If performed on site the results should be included on the 
chain of custody (COC)  presented to WET laboratory.   
 
Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater describes dechlorination of 
samples (APHA, 1992).  Dechlorination can be achieved using a ratio of 6.7 mg/L anhydrous 
sodium thiosulfate to reduce 1 mg/L chlorine. If dechlorination is necessary, a thiosulfate control 
consisting of the maximum concentration of thiosulfate used to dechlorinate the sample in the 
toxicity test control water must also be run in the WET test.  
 
All samples submitted for chemical and physical analyses will be analyzed according to Section 
VI of this protocol. Grab samples must be used for pH, temperature, and total residual chlorine  
(as per 40 CFR Part 122.21).  
 
All samples held for use beyond the day of sampling shall be refrigerated and maintained at a 
temperature range of 0-6o C.  
 
IV.  DILUTION WATER 
 
Samples of receiving water must be collected from a reasonably accessible location in the 
receiving water body immediately upstream of the permitted discharge’s zone of influence. 
Avoid collection near areas of obvious road or agricultural runoff, storm sewers or other point 
source discharges and areas where stagnant conditions exist. EPA strongly urges that screening 
for toxicity be performed prior to the set up of a full, definitive toxicity test any time there is a 
question about the test dilution water's ability to achieve test acceptability criteria (TAC) as 
indicated in Section V of this protocol. The test dilution water control response will be used in 
the statistical analysis of the toxicity test data. All other control(s) required to be run in the test 
will be reported as specified in the Discharge Monitoring Report (DMR) Instructions, 
Attachment F, page 2,Test Results & Permit Limits.   
 
The test dilution water must be used to determine whether the test met the applicable TAC. 
When receiving water is used for test dilution, an additional control made up of standard 
laboratory water (0% effluent) is required. This control will be used to verify the health of the 
test organisms and evaluate to what extent, if any, the receiving water itself is responsible for any 
toxic response observed.   
 
If dechlorination of a sample by the toxicity testing laboratory is necessary a “sodium 
thiosulfate” control, representing the concentration of sodium thiosulfate used to adequately 
dechlorinate the sample prior to toxicity testing, must be included in the test.    
 
If the use of alternate dilution water (ADW) is authorized, in addition to the ADW test control, 
the testing laboratory must, for the purpose of monitoring the receiving water, also run a 
receiving water control.    
 
If the receiving water is found to be, or suspected to be toxic or unreliable, ADW of known 
quality with hardness similar to that of the receiving water may be substituted. Substitution is 



(July 2012) Page 3 of 10 

species specific meaning that the decision to use ADW is made for each species and is based on 
the toxic response of that particular species. Substitution to an ADW is authorized in two cases.  
The first case is when repeating a test due to toxicity in the site dilution water requires an 
immediate decision for ADW use by the permittee and toxicity testing laboratory. The second is 
when two of the most recent documented incidents of unacceptable site dilution water toxicity 
require ADW use in future WET testing. 
 
For the second case, written notification from the permittee requesting ADW use and written 
authorization from the permit issuing agency(s) is required prior to switching to a long-term use 
of ADW for the duration of the permit.  
 
Written requests for use of ADW must be mailed with supporting documentation to the 
following addresses: 
 

Director 
 Office of Ecosystem Protection (CAA) 
 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 1 
 Five Post Office Square, Suite 100 
 Mail Code OEP06-5 
 Boston, MA 02109-3912 
 
 and 
 
 Manager 
 Water Technical Unit (SEW) 
 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
 Five Post Office Square, Suite 100 
 Mail Code OES04-4 
 Boston, MA 02109-3912 
 
Note: USEPA Region 1 retains the right to modify any part of the alternate dilution water policy 
stated in this protocol at any time. Any changes to this policy will be documented in the annual 
DMR posting.  
 
See the most current annual DMR instructions which can be found on the EPA Region 1 website 
at http://www.epa.gov/region1/enforcementandassistance/dmr.html for further important details 
on alternate dilution water substitution requests. 
 
V.  TEST CONDITIONS AND TEST ACCEPTABILITY CRITERIA 
 
EPA Region 1 requires tests be performed using four replicates of each control and effluent 
concentration because the non-parametric statistical tests cannot be used with data from fewer 
replicates.  The following tables summarize the accepted Americamysis and Menidia toxicity test 
conditions and test acceptability criteria: 
  

http://www.epa.gov/region1/enforcementandassistance/dmr.html


(July 2012) Page 4 of 10 

EPA NEW ENGLAND EFFLUENT TOXICITY TEST CONDITIONS FOR THE MYSID, 
AMERICAMYSIS BAHIA 48 HOUR TEST1 
 
 
1.  Test type 48hr Static, non-renewal 
 
2.  Salinity 25ppt + 10 percent for all dilutions by 

adding dry ocean salts 
 
3.  Temperature (oC) 20oC + 1oC or 25oC + 1oC, temperature must           
  not deviate by more than 3oC during test  
 
4.  Light quality  Ambient laboratory illumination 
 
5.  Photoperiod 16 hour light, 8 hour dark 
 
6.  Test chamber size 250 ml (minimum) 
 
7.  Test solution volume 200 ml/replicate (minimum) 
 
8.  Age of test organisms 1-5 days, < 24 hours age range 
 
9.  No. Mysids per test chamber  10 
 
10.  No. of replicate test chambers per treatment 4 
 
11.  Total no. Mysids per test concentration 40 
 
12.  Feeding regime Light feeding using concentrated Artemia 

naupli while holding prior to initiating the 
test 

 
13.  Aeration 2     None 
 
14.  Dilution water  5-30 ppt, +/- 10%; Natural seawater, or 

deionized water mixed with artificial sea 
salts 

 
15.  Dilution factor > 0.5   
 
 
 
16.  Number of dilutions 3 5 plus a control.  An additional dilution at 

the permitted effluent concentration (% 



(July 2012) Page 5 of 10 

effluent) is required if it is not included in 
the dilution series. 

 
17.  Effect measured Mortality - no movement of body 

appendages on gentle prodding 
 
18.  Test acceptability 90% or greater survival of test organisms in 

control solution 
 
19.  Sampling requirements For on-site tests, samples are used within 24 

hours of the time that they are removed from 
the sampling device.  For off-site tests, 
samples must be first used within 36 hours 
of collection. 

 
20.  Sample volume required Minimum 1 liter for effluents and 2 liters for 

receiving waters 
 
Footnotes: 

1 Adapted from EPA 821-R-02-012. 
2 If dissolved oxygen falls below 4.0 mg/L, aerate at rate of less than 100 bubbles/min.  

Routine D.O. checks are recommended. 
3 When receiving water is used for dilution, an additional control made up of standard 

laboratory dilution water (0% effluent) is required. 
 
  



(July 2012) Page 6 of 10 

EPA NEW ENGLAND TOXICITY TEST CONDITIONS FOR THE INLAND 
SILVERSIDE, MENIDIA BERYLLINA 48 HOUR TEST1 
 
 
1.  Test Type 48 hr Static, non-renewal 
 
2.  Salinity 25 ppt + 10 % by adding dry ocean salts 
 
3.  Temperature 20oC + 1oC or 25oC + 1oC, temperature must           
  not deviate by more than 3oC during test  
 
4.  Light Quality Ambient laboratory illumination 
 
5.  Photoperiod 16 hr light, 8 hr dark 
 
6.  Size of test vessel 250 mL (minimum) 
 
7.  Volume of test solution 200 mL/replicate (minimum) 
 
8.  Age of fish 9-14 days; 24 hr age range 
 
9.  No. fish per chamber 10 (not to exceed loading limits) 
 
10.  No. of replicate test vessels per treatment 4 
 
11.  Total no. organisms per concentration 40 
 
12.  Feeding regime Light feeding using concentrated Artemia 

nauplii while holding prior to initiating the 
test 

 
13.  Aeration2 None  
 
14.  Dilution water 5-32 ppt, +/- 10% ; Natural seawater, or 

deionized water mixed with artificial sea 
salts. 

 
15.  Dilution factor > 0.5 
 
16.  Number of dilutions3 5 plus a control.  An additional dilution at 

the permitted concentration (% effluent) is 
required if it is not included in the dilution 
series. 

 
17.  Effect measured Mortality-no movement on gentle prodding. 



(July 2012) Page 7 of 10 

 
18.  Test acceptability 90% or greater survival of test organisms in 

control solution. 
 
19.  Sampling requirements For on-site tests, samples must be used 

within 24 hours of the time they are 
removed from the sampling device.  Off-site 
test samples must be used within 36 hours of 
collection. 

 
20.  Sample volume required Minimum 1 liter for effluents and 2 liters for 

receiving waters. 
 
 
Footnotes: 

1 Adapted from EPA 821-R-02-012. 
2 If dissolved oxygen falls below 4.0 mg/L, aerate at rate of less than 100 bubbles/min.  

Routine D.O. checks recommended. 
3 When receiving water is used for dilution, an additional control made up of standard 

laboratory dilution water (0% effluent) is required. 
 

V.1. Test Acceptability Criteria 
 
If a test does not meet TAC the test must be repeated with fresh samples within 30 days of the 
initial test completion date. 

 
V.2. Use of Reference Toxicity Testing 
 
Reference toxicity test results and applicable control charts must be included in the toxicity 
testing report.   
 
 In general, if reference toxicity test results fall outside the control limits established by the 
laboratory for a specific test endpoint, a reason or reasons for this excursion must be evaluated, 
correction made and reference toxicity tests rerun as necessary as prescribed below.  
 
If a test endpoint value exceeds the control limits at a frequency of more than one out of twenty 
then causes for the reference toxicity test failure must be examined and if problems are identified 
corrective action taken. The reference toxicity test must be repeated during the same month in 
which the exceedance occurred.   

 
If two consecutive reference toxicity tests fall outside control limits, the possible cause(s) for the 
exceedance must be examined, corrective actions taken and a repeat of the reference toxicity test 
must take place immediately. Actions taken to resolve the problem must be reported.           
 
 



(July 2012) Page 8 of 10 

V.2.a. Use of Concurrent Reference Toxicity Testing   
 
In the case where concurrent reference toxicity testing is required due to a low frequency of 
testing with a particular method, if the reference toxicity test results fall slightly outside of 
laboratory established control limits, but the primary test met the TAC, the results of the primary 
test will be considered acceptable. However, if the results of the concurrent test fall well outside 
the established upper control limits i.e. >3 standard deviations for IC25s and LC50 values and > 
two concentration intervals for NOECs or NOAECs, and even though the primary test meets 
TAC, the primary test will be considered unacceptable and must be repeated.  
 
VI.  CHEMICAL ANALYSIS  
 
At the beginning of the static acute test, pH, salinity, and temperature must be measured at the 
beginning and end of each 24 hour period in each dilution and in the controls.  The following 
chemical analyses shall be performed for each sampling event.  

Parameter Effluent Diluent 

Minimum Level 
for effluent*1 

(mg/L)  
pH x x --- 
Salinity x x ppt(o/oo) 
Total Residual Chlorine *2 x x 0.02 
Total Solids and Suspended Solids x x --- 
Ammonia x x 0.1 
Total Organic Carbon x x 0.5 
    
Total Metals    
Cd x x 0.0005 
Pb x x 0.0005 
Cu x x 0.003 
Zn x x 0.005 
Ni x x 0.005 

 
 
Superscript: 
 

*1 These are the minimum levels for effluent (fresh water) samples. Tests on diluents (marine 
waters) shall be conducted using the Part 136 methods that yield the lowest MLs. 

 
*2  Either of the following methods from the 18th Edition of the APHA Standard Methods for the  

Examination of Water and Wastewater must be used for these analyses: 
 
 
 



(July 2012) Page 9 of 10 

-Method 4500-Cl E  Low Level Amperometric Titration (the preferred method); 
-Method 4500-CL G DPD Photometric Method. 
 

VII.  TOXICITY TEST DATA ANALYSIS 
 
LC50 Median Lethal Concentration 
 
An estimate of the concentration of effluent or toxicant that is lethal to 50% of the test organisms 
during the time prescribed by the test method. 
 
Methods of Estimation: 

• Probit Method 
• Spearman-Karber 
• Trimmed Spearman-Karber 
• Graphical 

 
See flow chart in Figure 6 on page 73 of EPA 821-R-02-012 for appropriate method to use on a 
given data set. 
 
No Observed Acute Effect Level (NOAEL) 
 
See flow chart in Figure 13 on page 87 of EPA 821-R-02-012. 
 
VIII.  TOXICITY TEST REPORTING  
 
A report of results must include the following: 
 

• Toxicity Test summary sheet(s) (Attachment F to the DMR Instructions) which includes:  
o Facility name 
o NPDES permit number 
o Outfall number  
o Sample type  
o Sampling method 
o Effluent TRC concentration  
o Dilution water used  
o Receiving water name and sampling location  
o Test type and species 
o Test start date 
o Effluent concentrations tested (%) and permit limit concentration  
o Applicable reference toxicity test date and whether acceptable or not 
o Age, age range and source of test organisms used for testing   
o Results of TAC review for all applicable controls  
o  Permit limit and toxicity test results  
o Summary of any test sensitivity and concentration response evaluation that was 

conducted  



(July 2012) Page 10 of 10 

 
Please note:  The NPDES Permit Program Instructions for the Discharge Monitoring Report 
Forms (DMRs) are available on EPA’s website at 
http://www.epa.gov/NE/enforcementandassistance/dmr.html  
 
In addition to the summary sheets the report must include:  

  
• A brief description of sample collection procedures; 
• Chain of custody documentation including names of individuals collecting samples, times 

and dates of sample collection, sample locations, requested analysis and lab receipt with 
time and date received, lab receipt personnel and condition of samples upon receipt at the 
lab(s);   

• Reference toxicity test control charts; 
• All sample chemical/physical data generated,  including minimum levels (MLs) and 

analytical methods used;  
• All toxicity test raw data including daily ambient test conditions, toxicity test chemistry,  

sample dechlorination details as necessary, bench sheets and statistical analysis; 
• A discussion of any deviations from test conditions; and 
• Any further discussion of reported test results, statistical analysis and concentration-

response relationship and test sensitivity review per species per endpoint. 
 

http://www.epa.gov/NE/enforcementandassistance/dmr.html


NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
A. GENERAL CONDITIONS  Page 

1. Duty to Comply   2 
2. Permit Actions   3 
3. Duty to Provide Information   4 
4. Oil and Hazardous Substance Liability   4 
5. Property Rights   4 
6. Confidentiality of Information   4 
7. Duty to Reapply   4 
8. State Authorities   4 
9. Other laws   5 

B. OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF POLLUTION CONTROLS 

1. Proper Operation and Maintenance   5 
2. Need to Halt or Reduce Not a Defense   5 
3. Duty to Mitigate   5 
4. Bypass   5 
5. Upset   6 

C. MONITORING AND RECORDS 

1. Monitoring and Records   7 
2. Inspection and Entry   8 

D. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

1. Reporting Requirements   8 
a. Planned changes   8 
b. Anticipated noncompliance   8 
c. Transfers   9 
d. Monitoring reports   9 
e. Twenty-four hour reporting   9 
f. Compliance schedules   10 
g. Other noncompliance   10 
h. Other information   10 
i. Identification of the initial recipient for NPDES electronic reporting data 11 

2. Signatory Requirement    11 
3. Availability of Reports 11 

E. DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS 

1. General Definitions   11 
2. Commonly Used Abbreviations   20 

Page 1 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

A. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

1. Duty to Comply 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Permittee must comply with all conditions of this permit. Any permit noncompliance 
constitutes a violation of the Clean Water Act (CWA or Act) and is grounds for enforcement 
action; for permit termination, revocation and reissuance, or modification; or denial of a permit 
renewal application. 

a. The Permittee shall comply with effluent standards or prohibitions established under 
Section 307(a) of the Clean Water Act for toxic pollutants and with standards for sewage 
sludge use or disposal established under Section 405(d) of the CWA within the time 
provided in the regulations that establish these standards or prohibitions, or standards for 
sewage sludge use or disposal, even if the permit has not yet been modified to 
incorporate the requirement. 

b. Penalties for Violations of Permit Conditions: The Director will adjust the civil and 
administrative penalties listed below in accordance with the Civil Monetary Penalty 
Inflation Adjustment Rule (83 Fed. Reg. 1190-1194 (January 10, 2018) and the 2015 
amendments to the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 
2461 note. See Pub. L.114-74, Section 701 (Nov. 2, 2015)). These requirements help 
ensure that EPA penalties keep pace with inflation. Under the above-cited 2015 
amendments to inflationary adjustment law, EPA must review its statutory civil penalties 
each year and adjust them as necessary. 

(1) Criminal Penalties 

(a) Negligent Violations. The CWA provides that any person who 
negligently violates permit conditions implementing Sections 301, 302, 
306, 307, 308, 318, or 405 of the Act is subject to criminal penalties of 
not less than $2,500 nor more than $25,000 per day of violation, or 
imprisonment of not more than 1 year, or both. In the case of a second 
or subsequent conviction for a negligent violation, a person shall be 
subject to criminal penalties of not more than $50,000 per day of 
violation or by imprisonment of not more than 2 years, or both.  

(b) Knowing Violations. The CWA provides that any person who 
knowingly violates permit conditions implementing Sections 301, 302, 
306, 307, 308, 318, or 405 of the Act is subject to a fine of not less than 
$5,000 nor more than $50,000 per day of violation, or by imprisonment 
for not more than 3 years, or both. In the case of a second or subsequent 
conviction for a knowing violation, a person shall be subject to criminal 
penalties of not more than $100,000 per day of violation, or 
imprisonment of not more than 6 years, or both. 

(c) Knowing Endangerment. The CWA provides that any person who 
knowingly violates permit conditions implementing Sections 301, 302, 
303, 306, 307, 308, 318, or 405 of the Act and who knows at that time 
that he or she is placing another person in imminent danger of death or 
serious bodily injury shall upon conviction be subject to a fine of not 
more than $250,000 or by imprisonment of not more than 15 years, or 
both. In the case of a second or subsequent conviction for a knowing 

Page 2 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

endangerment violation, a person shall be subject to a fine of not more 
than $500,000 or by imprisonment of not more than 30 years, or both. 
An organization, as defined in Section 309(c)(3)(B)(iii) of the Act, 
shall, upon conviction of violating the imminent danger provision, be 
subject to a fine of not more than $1,000,000 and can be fined up to 
$2,000,000 for second or subsequent convictions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(d) False Statement. The CWA provides that any person who falsifies, 
tampers with, or knowingly renders inaccurate any monitoring device or 
method required to be maintained under this permit shall, upon 
conviction, be punished by a fine of not more than $10,000, or by 
imprisonment for not more than 2 years, or both. If a conviction of a 
person is for a violation committed after a first conviction of such 
person under this paragraph, punishment is a fine of not more than 
$20,000 per day of violation, or by imprisonment of not more than 4 
years, or both. The Act further provides that any person who knowingly 
makes any false statement, representation, or certification in any record 
or other document submitted or required to be maintained under this 
permit, including monitoring reports or reports of compliance or non-
compliance shall, upon conviction, be punished by a fine of not more 
than $10,000 per violation, or by imprisonment for not more than 6 
months per violation, or by both. 

(2) Civil Penalties. The CWA provides that any person who violates a permit 
condition implementing Sections 301, 302, 306, 307, 308, 318, or 405 of the 
Act is subject to a civil penalty not to exceed the maximum amounts 
authorized by Section 309(d) of the Act, the 2015 amendments to the Federal 
Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461 note, and 
40 C.F.R. Part 19. See Pub. L.114-74, Section 701 (Nov. 2, 2015); 83 Fed. 
Reg. 1190 (January 10, 2018).   

(3) Administrative Penalties. The CWA provides that any person who violates a 
permit condition implementing Sections 301, 302, 306, 307, 308, 318, or 405 
of the Act is subject to an administrative penalty as follows: 

(a) Class I Penalty. Not to exceed the maximum amounts authorized by 
Section 309(g)(2)(A) of the Act, the 2015 amendments to the Federal 
Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461 
note, and 40 C.F.R. Part 19. See Pub. L.114-74, Section 701 (Nov. 2, 
2015); 83 Fed. Reg. 1190 (January 10, 2018).  

(b) Class II Penalty. Not to exceed the maximum amounts authorized by 
Section 309(g)(2)(B) of the Act the 2015 amendments to the Federal 
Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461 
note, and 40 C.F.R. Part 19. See Pub. L.114-74, Section 701 (Nov. 2, 
2015); 83 Fed. Reg. 1190 (January 10, 2018).  

2. Permit Actions 

This permit may be modified, revoked and reissued, or terminated for cause. The filing of a 
request by the Permittee for a permit modification, revocation and reissuance, or termination, 
or a notification of planned changes or anticipated noncompliance does not stay any permit 

Page 3 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

Page 4 of 21 

 

 

condition. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Duty to Provide Information 

The Permittee shall furnish to the Director, within a reasonable time, any information which the 
Director may request to determine whether cause exists for modifying, revoking and reissuing, 
or terminating this permit, or to determine compliance with this permit. The Permittee shall also 
furnish to the Director, upon request, copies of records required to be kept by this permit. 

 

 

 

4. Oil and Hazardous Substance Liability 

Nothing in this permit shall be construed to preclude the institution of any legal action or relieve 
the Permittee from responsibilities, liabilities or penalties to which the Permittee is or may be 
subject under Section 311 of the CWA, or Section 106 of the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA). 

5. Property Rights 

This permit does not convey any property rights of any sort, or any exclusive privilege. 

6. Confidentiality of Information 

a. In accordance with 40 C.F.R. Part 2, any information submitted to EPA pursuant to 
these regulations may be claimed as confidential by the submitter. Any such claim must 
be asserted at the time of submission in the manner prescribed on the application form 
or instructions or, in the case of other submissions, by stamping the words “confidential 
business information” on each page containing such information. If no claim is made at 
the time of submission, EPA may make the information available to the public without 
further notice. If a claim is asserted, the information will be treated in accordance with 
the procedures in 40 C.F.R. Part 2 (Public Information). 

b. Claims of confidentiality for the following information will be denied: 

(1) The name and address of any permit applicant or Permittee; 
(2) Permit applications, permits, and effluent data. 

c. Information required by NPDES application forms provided by the Director under 40 
C.F.R. § 122.21 may not be claimed confidential. This includes information submitted 
on the forms themselves and any attachments used to supply information required by 
the forms. 

7. Duty to Reapply 

If the Permittee wishes to continue an activity regulated by this permit after the expiration date 
of this permit, the Permittee must apply for and obtain a new permit. The Permittee shall 
submit a new application at least 180 days before the expiration date of the existing permit, 
unless permission for a later date has been granted by the Director. (The Director shall not grant 
permission for applications to be submitted later than the expiration date of the existing permit.) 

8. State Authorities 

Nothing in Parts 122, 123, or 124 precludes more stringent State regulation of any activity 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

covered by the regulations in 40 C.F.R. Parts 122, 123, and 124, whether or not under an 
approved State program. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9. Other Laws 

The issuance of a permit does not authorize any injury to persons or property or invasion of other 
private rights, or any infringement of State or local law or regulations. 

B. OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF POLLUTION CONTROLS 

1. Proper Operation and Maintenance 

The Permittee shall at all times properly operate and maintain all facilities and systems of 
treatment and control (and related appurtenances) which are installed or used by the permittee to 
achieve compliance with the conditions of this permit. Proper operation and maintenance also 
includes adequate laboratory controls and appropriate quality assurance procedures.  This 
provision requires the operation of back-up or auxiliary facilities or similar systems which are 
installed by a permittee only when the operation is necessary to achieve compliance with the 
conditions of the permit. 

2. Need to Halt or Reduce Not a Defense 

It shall not be a defense for a Permittee in an enforcement action that it would have been 
necessary to halt or reduce the permitted activity in order to maintain compliance with the 
conditions of this permit. 

3. Duty to Mitigate 

The Permittee shall take all reasonable steps to minimize or prevent any discharge or sludge use 
or disposal in violation of this permit which has a reasonable likelihood of adversely affecting 
human health or the environment. 

4. Bypass 

a. Definitions 

(1) Bypass means the intentional diversion of waste streams from any portion of a 
treatment facility. 

(2) Severe property damage means substantial physical damage to property, 
damage to the treatment facilities which causes them to become inoperable, or 
substantial and permanent loss of natural resources which can reasonably be 
expected to occur in the absence of a bypass. Severe property damage does not 
mean economic loss caused by delays in production. 

b. Bypass not exceeding limitations. The Permittee may allow any bypass to occur which 
does not cause effluent limitations to be exceeded, but only if it also is for essential 
maintenance to assure efficient operation. These bypasses are not subject to the provisions 
of paragraphs (c) and (d) of this Section. 

 

 
c. Notice 

Page 5 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

(1) Anticipated bypass. If the Permittee knows in advance of the need for a 
bypass, it shall submit prior notice, if possible at least ten days before the date 
of the bypass. As of December 21, 2020 all notices submitted in compliance 
with this Section must be submitted electronically by the Permittee to the 
Director or initial recipient, as defined in 40 C.F.R. § 127.2(b), in compliance 
with this Section and 40 C.F.R. Part 3 (including, in all cases, Subpart D to 
Part 3), § 122.22, and 40 C.F.R. Part 127. Part 127 is not intended to undo 
existing requirements for electronic reporting. Prior to this date, and 
independent of Part 127, Permittees may be required to report electronically if 
specified by a particular permit or if required to do so by state law. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(2) Unanticipated bypass. The Permittee shall submit notice of an unanticipated 
bypass as required in paragraph D.1.e. of this part (24-hour notice). As of 
December 21, 2020 all notices submitted in compliance with this Section 
must be submitted electronically by the Permittee to the Director or initial 
recipient, as defined in 40 C.F.R. § 127.2(b), in compliance with this Section 
and 40 C.F.R. Part 3 (including, in all cases, Subpart D to Part 3), § 122.22, 
and 40 C.F.R. Part 127. Part 127 is not intended to undo existing requirements 
for electronic reporting. Prior to this date, and independent of Part 127, 
Permittees may be required to report electronically if specified by a particular 
permit or required to do so by law. 

d. Prohibition of bypass.  

(1) Bypass is prohibited, and the Director may take enforcement action 
against a Permittee for bypass, unless: 

(a) Bypass was unavoidable to prevent loss of life, personal injury, or 
severe property damage; 

(b) There were no feasible alternatives to the bypass, such as the use 
of auxiliary treatment facilities, retention of untreated wastes, or 
maintenance during normal periods of equipment downtime. This 
condition is not satisfied if adequate back-up equipment should 
have been installed in the exercise of reasonable engineering 
judgment to prevent a bypass which occurred during normal 
periods of equipment downtime or preventative maintenance; and 

(c) The Permittee submitted notices as required under paragraph 4.c 
of this Section. 

(2) The Director may approve an anticipated bypass, after considering its adverse 
effects, if the Director determines that it will meet the three conditions listed 
above in paragraph 4.d of this Section. 

5. Upset 

a. Definition. Upset means an exceptional incident in which there is an unintentional and 
temporary noncompliance with technology based permit effluent limitations because of 
factors beyond the reasonable control of the permittee. An upset does not include 
noncompliance to the extent caused by operational error, improperly designed treatment 
facilities, inadequate treatment facilities, lack of preventive maintenance, or careless or 

Page 6 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

improper operation. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

b. Effect of an upset. An upset constitutes an affirmative defense to an action brought for 
noncompliance with such technology based permit effluent limitations if the 
requirements of paragraph B.5.c. of this section are met.  No determination made 
during administrative review of claims that noncompliance was caused by upset, and 
before an action for noncompliance, is final administrative action subject to judicial 
review. 

c. Conditions necessary for a demonstration of upset. A Permittee who wishes to establish 
the affirmative defense of upset shall demonstrate, through properly signed, 
contemporaneous operating logs, or other relevant evidence that: 

(1) An upset occurred and that the permittee can identify the cause(s) of the upset; 
(2) The permitted facility was at the time being properly operated; and 
(3) The permittee submitted notice of the upset as required in paragraph D.12.b.e 

(24-hour notice). 
(4) The permittee complied with any remedial measures required under B.3. above. 

d. Burden of proof. In any enforcement proceeding the Permittee seeking to establish the 
occurrence of an upset has the burden of proof. 

C. MONITORING REQUIREMENTS 

1. Monitoring and Records 

a. Samples and measurements taken for the purpose of monitoring shall be representative of 
the monitored activity. 

b. Except for records of monitoring information required by this permit related to the 
Permittee’s sewage sludge use and disposal activities, which shall be retained for a 
period of at least 5 years (or longer as required by 40 C.F.R. § 503), the Permittee shall 
retain records of all monitoring information, including all calibration and maintenance 
records and all original strip chart recordings for continuous monitoring instrumentation, 
copies of all reports required by this permit, and records of all data used to complete the 
application for this permit, for a period of at least 3 years from the date of the sample, 
measurement, report or application. This period may be extended by request of the 
Director at any time. 

c. Records of monitoring information shall include: 

(1) The date, exact place, and time of sampling or measurements; 
(2) The individual(s) who performed the sampling or measurements; 
(3) The date(s) analyses were performed; 
(4) The individual(s) who performed the analyses; 
(5) The analytical techniques or methods used; and 
(6) The results of such analyses. 

d. Monitoring must be conducted according to test procedures approved under 40 C.F.R. 
§ 136 unless another method is required under 40 C.F.R. Subchapters N or O. 

e. The Clean Water Act provides that any person who falsifies, tampers with, or 

Page 7 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

knowingly renders inaccurate any monitoring device or method required to be 
maintained under this permit shall, upon conviction, be punished by a fine of not more 
than $10,000, or by imprisonment for not more than 2 years, or both. If a conviction of 
a person is for a violation committed after a first conviction of such person under this 
paragraph, punishment is a fine of not more than $20,000 per day of violation, or by 
imprisonment of not more than 4 years, or both. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Inspection and Entry 

The Permittee shall allow the Director, or an authorized representative (including an 
authorized contractor acting as a representative of the Administrator), upon presentation 
of credentials and other documents as may be required by law, to: 

a. Enter upon the Permittee’s premises where a regulated facility or activity is located or 
conducted, or where records must be kept under the conditions of this permit; 

b. Have access to and copy, at reasonable times, any records that must be kept under the 
conditions of this permit; 

c. Inspect at reasonable times any facilities, equipment (including monitoring and control 
equipment), practices, or operations regulated or required under this permit; and 

d. Sample or monitor at reasonable times, for the purposes of assuring permit compliance or 
as otherwise authorized by the Clean Water Act, any substances or parameters at any 
location. 

D.  REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

1. Reporting Requirements 

a. Planned Changes. The Permittee shall give notice to the Director as soon as possible of 
any planned physical alterations or additions to the permitted facility. Notice is required 
only when: 

 

 

 

 

(1) The alteration or addition to a permitted facility may meet one of the criteria 
for determining whether a facility is a new source in 40 C.F.R. § 122.29(b); or 

(2) The alteration or addition could significantly change the nature or increase 
the quantity of pollutants discharged. This notification applies to pollutants 
which are subject neither to effluent limitations in the permit, nor to 
notification requirements at 40 C.F.R. § 122.42(a)(1). 

(3) The alteration or addition results in a significant change in the permittee’s 
sludge use or disposal practices, and such alteration, addition, or change may 
justify the application of permit conditions that are different from or absent in 
the existing permit, including notification of additional use or disposal sites 
not reported during the permit application process or not reported pursuant to 
an approved land application plan. 

b. Anticipated noncompliance. The Permittee shall give advance notice to the Director 
of any planned changes in the permitted facility or activity which may result in 
noncompliance with permit requirements. 

Page 8 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

c. Transfers. This permit is not transferable to any person except after notice to the 
Director. The Director may require modification or revocation and reissuance of 
the permit to change the name of the permittee and incorporate such other 
requirements as may be necessary under the Clean Water Act. See 40 C.F.R. § 
122.61; in some cases, modification or revocation and reissuance is mandatory. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

d. Monitoring reports. Monitoring results shall be reported at the intervals specified 
elsewhere in this permit. 

(1) Monitoring results must be reported on a Discharge Monitoring Report (DMR) 
or forms provided or specified by the Director for reporting results of 
monitoring of sludge use or disposal practices. As of December 21, 2016 all 
reports and forms submitted in compliance with this section must be submitted 
electronically by the permittee to the Director or initial recipient, as defined in 
40 C.F.R. § 127.2(b), in compliance with this Section and 40 C.F.R. Part 3 
(including, in all cases, Subpart D to part 3), § 122.22, and 40 C.F.R. Part 127.  
Part 127 is not intended to undo existing requirements for electronic reporting.  
Prior to this date, and independent of Part 127, permittees may be required to 
report electronically if specified by a particular permit or if required to do so by 
State law.  

(2) If the Permittee monitors any pollutant more frequently than required by the 
permit using test procedures approved under 40 C.F.R. § 136, or another 
method required for an industry-specific waste stream under 40 C.F.R. 
Subchapters N or O, the results of such monitoring shall be included in the 
calculation and reporting of the data submitted in the DMR or sludge 
reporting form specified by the Director. 

(3) Calculations for all limitations which require averaging or measurements 
shall utilize an arithmetic mean unless otherwise specified by the Director 
in the permit. 

e. Twenty-four hour reporting. 

(1) The Permittee shall report any noncompliance which may endanger health 
or the environment. Any information shall be provided orally within 24 
hours from the time the Permittee becomes aware of the circumstances. A 
written report shall also be provided within 5 days of the time the Permittee 
becomes aware of the circumstances. The written report shall contain a 
description of the noncompliance and its cause; the period of 
noncompliance, including exact dates and times, and if the noncompliance 
has not been corrected, the anticipated time it is expected to continue; and 
steps taken or planned to reduce, eliminate, and prevent reoccurrence of the 
noncompliance. For noncompliance events related to combined sewer 
overflows, sanitary sewer overflows, or bypass events, these reports must 
include the data described above (with the exception of time of discovery) 
as well as the type of event (combined sewer overflows, sanitary sewer 
overflows, or bypass events), type of sewer overflow structure (e.g., 
manhole, combined sewer overflow outfall), discharge volumes untreated 
by the treatment works treating domestic sewage, types of human health and 
environmental impacts of the sewer overflow event, and whether the 
noncompliance was related to wet weather. As of December 21, 2020 all 

Page 9 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

reports related to combined sewer overflows, sanitary sewer overflows, or 
bypass events submitted in compliance with this section must be submitted 
electronically by the Permittee to the Director or initial recipient, as defined 
in 40 C.F.R. § 127.2(b), in compliance with this Section and 40 C.F.R. Part 
3 (including, in all cases Subpart D to Part 3), § 122.22, and 40 C.F.R. Part 
127. Part 127 is not intended to undo existing requirements for electronic 
reporting. Prior to this date, and independent of Part 127, Permittees may be 
required to electronically submit reports related to combined sewer 
overflows, sanitary sewer overflows, or bypass events under this section by 
a particular permit or if required to do so by state law. The Director may 
also require Permittees to electronically submit reports not related to 
combined sewer overflows, sanitary sewer overflows, or bypass events 
under this section. 

 

 

 

 

 

(2) The following shall be included as information which must be reported within 
24 hours under this paragraph. 

(a) Any unanticipated bypass which exceeds any effluent limitation in the 
permit. See 40 C.F.R. § 122.41(g). 

(b) Any upset which exceeds any effluent limitation in the permit. 
(c) Violation of a maximum daily discharge limitation for any of the 

pollutants listed by the Director in the permit to be reported 
within 24 hours. See 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(g). 

(3) The Director may waive the written report on a case-by-case basis for reports 
under paragraph D.1.e. of this Section if the oral report has been received 
within 24 hours. 

f. Compliance Schedules. Reports of compliance or noncompliance with, or any progress 
reports on, interim and final requirements contained in any compliance schedule of 
this permit shall be submitted no later than 14 days following each schedule date. 

g. Other noncompliance. The Permittee shall report all instances of noncompliance not 
reported under paragraphs D.1.d., D.1.e., and D.1.f. of this Section, at the time 
monitoring reports are submitted. The reports shall contain the information listed in 
paragraph D.1.e. of this Section. For noncompliance events related to combined sewer 
overflows, sanitary sewer overflows, or bypass events, these reports shall contain the 
information described in paragraph D.1.e. and the applicable required data in Appendix 
A to 40 C.F.R. Part 127.  As of December 21, 2020 all reports related to combined sewer 
overflows, sanitary sewer overflows, or bypass events submitted in compliance with this 
section must be submitted electronically by the Permittee to the Director or initial 
recipient, as defined in 40 C.F.R. § 127.2(b), in compliance with this Section and 40 
C.F.R. Part 3 (including, in all cases, Subpart D to Part 3), §122.22, and 40 C.F.R. Part 
127.  Part 127 is not intended to undo existing requirements for electronic reporting.  
Prior to this date, and independent of Part 127, Permittees may be required to 
electronically submit reports related to combined sewer overflows, sanitary sewer 
overflows, or bypass events under this section by a particular permit or if required to do 
so by state law.  The Director may also require Permittees to electronically submit reports 
not related to combined sewer overflows, sanitary sewer overflows, or bypass events 
under this Section.  

h. Other information. Where the Permittee becomes aware that it failed to submit any 

Page 10 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

relevant facts in a permit application, or submitted incorrect information in a permit 
application or in any report to the Director, it shall promptly submit such facts or 
information. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

i. Identification of the initial recipient for NPDES electronic reporting data. The owner, 
operator, or the duly authorized representative of an NPDES-regulated entity is 
required to electronically submit the required NPDES information (as specified in 
Appendix A to 40 C.F.R. Part 127) to the appropriate initial recipient, as determined by 
EPA, and as defined in 40 C.F.R. § 127.2(b).  EPA will identify and publish the list of 
initial recipients on its Web site and in the FEDERAL REGISTER, by state and by 
NPDES data group (see 40 C.F.R. § 127.2(c) of this Chapter). EPA will update and 
maintain this listing.  

2. Signatory Requirement 

a. All applications, reports, or information submitted to the Director shall be signed and 
certified. See 40 C.F.R. §122.22. 

b. The CWA provides that any person who knowingly makes any false statement, 
representation, or certification in any record or other document submitted or 
required to be maintained under this permit, including monitoring reports or reports 
of compliance or non-compliance shall, upon conviction, be punished by a fine of 
not more than $10,000 per violation, or by imprisonment for not more than 6 months 
per violation, or by both. 

3. Availability of Reports. 

Except for data determined to be confidential under paragraph A.8. above, all reports prepared in 
accordance with the terms of this permit shall be available for public inspection at the offices of 
the State water pollution control agency and the Director. As required by the CWA, effluent data 
shall not be considered confidential. Knowingly making any false statements on any such report 
may result in the imposition of criminal penalties as provided for in Section 309 of the CWA. 

E. DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS 

1. General Definitions 
For more definitions related to sludge use and disposal requirements, see EPA Region 1’s NPDES 
Permit Sludge Compliance Guidance document (4 November 1999, modified to add regulatory 
definitions, April 2018).  

 

 

Administrator means the Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection Agency, or 
an authorized representative. 

Applicable standards and limitations means all, State, interstate, and federal standards and 
limitations to which a “discharge,” a “sewage sludge use or disposal practice,” or a related 
activity is subject under the CWA, including “effluent limitations,” water quality standards, 
standards of performance, toxic effluent standards or prohibitions, “best management practices,” 
pretreatment standards, and “standards for sewage sludge use or disposal” under Sections 301, 
302, 303, 304, 306, 307, 308, 403 and 405 of the CWA. 
 
Application means the EPA standard national forms for applying for a permit, including any 
additions, revisions, or modifications to the forms; or forms approved by EPA for use in 

Page 11 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

“approved States,” including any approved modifications or revisions. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Approved program or approved State means a State or interstate program which has been 
approved or authorized by EPA under Part 123. 

Average monthly discharge limitation means the highest allowable average of “daily discharges” 
over a calendar month, calculated as the sum of all “daily discharges” measured during a 
calendar month divided by the number of “daily discharges” measured during that month. 

Average weekly discharge limitation means the highest allowable average of “daily discharges” 
over a calendar week, calculated as the sum of all “daily discharges” measured during a calendar 
week divided by the number of “daily discharges” measured during that week. 

Best Management Practices (“BMPs”) means schedules of activities, prohibitions of practices, 
maintenance procedures, and other management practices to prevent or reduce the pollution of 
“waters of the United States.” BMPs also include treatment requirements, operating procedures, 
and practices to control plant site runoff, spillage or leaks, sludge or waste disposal, or drainage 
from raw material storage. 

Bypass see B.4.a.1 above.  

C-NOEC or “Chronic (Long-term Exposure Test) – No Observed Effect Concentration” 
means the highest tested concentration of an effluent or a toxicant at which no adverse 
effects are observed on the aquatic test organisms at a specified time of observation. 
 

 

 

Class I sludge management facility is any publicly owned treatment works (POTW), as 
defined in 40 C.F.R. § 501.2, required to have an approved pretreatment program under 40 
C.F.R. § 403.8 (a) (including any POTW located in a State that has elected to assume local 
program responsibilities pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 403.10 (e)) and any treatment works 
treating domestic sewage, as defined in 40 C.F.R. § 122.2, classified as a Class I sludge 
management facility by the EPA Regional Administrator, or, in the case of approved State 
programs, the Regional Administrator in conjunction with the State Director, because of 
the potential for its sewage sludge use or disposal practice to affect public health and the 
environment adversely. 
Contiguous zone means the entire zone established by the United States under Article 24 of 
the Convention on the Territorial Sea and the Contiguous Zone. 

Continuous discharge means a “discharge” which occurs without interruption throughout the 
operating hours of the facility, except for infrequent shutdowns for maintenance, process 
changes, or similar activities. 

CWA means the Clean Water Act (formerly referred to as the Federal Water Pollution Control 
Act or Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972) Public Law 92-500, as 
amended by Public Law 95-217, Public Law 95-576, Public Law 96-483and Public Law 97-117, 
33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq. 
 

 

Page 12 of 21 

CWA and regulations means the Clean Water Act (CWA) and applicable regulations 
promulgated thereunder. In the case of an approved State program, it includes State program 
requirements. 

Daily Discharge means the “discharge of a pollutant” measured during a calendar day or any 
other 24-hour period that reasonably represents the calendar day for purposes of sampling. For 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

pollutants with limitations expressed in units of mass, the “daily discharge” is calculated as the 
total mass of the pollutant discharged over the day. For pollutants with limitations expressed in 
other units of measurements, the “daily discharge” is calculated as the average measurement of 
the pollutant over the day. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Direct Discharge means the “discharge of a pollutant.” 

Director means the Regional Administrator or an authorized representative. In the case of a permit 
also issued under Massachusetts’ authority, it also refers to the Director of the Division of 
Watershed Management, Department of Environmental Protection, Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts.  

Discharge 

(a) When used without qualification, discharge means the “discharge of a pollutant.” 
 

 

 

 

 

(b) As used in the definitions for “interference” and “pass through,” discharge means the 
introduction of pollutants into a POTW from any non-domestic source regulated under 
Section 307(b), (c) or (d) of the Act. 

Discharge Monitoring Report (“DMR”) means the EPA uniform national form, including any 
subsequent additions, revisions, or modifications for the reporting of self-monitoring results by 
permittees. DMRs must be used by “approved States” as well as by EPA. EPA will supply 
DMRs to any approved State upon request. The EPA national forms may be modified to 
substitute the State Agency name, address, logo, and other similar information, as appropriate, in 
place of EPA’s. 

Discharge of a pollutant means: 

(a) Any addition of any “pollutant” or combination of pollutants to “waters of the United 
States” from any “point source,” or 

(b) Any addition of any pollutant or combination of pollutants to the waters of the 
“contiguous zone” or the ocean from any point source other than a vessel or other 
floating craft which is being used as a means of transportation. 

This definition includes additions of pollutants into waters of the United States from: surface 
runoff which is collected or channeled by man; discharges through pipes, sewers, or other 
conveyances owned by a State, municipality, or other person which do not lead to a treatment 
works; and discharges through pipes, sewers, or other conveyances, leading into privately owned 
treatment works. This term does not include an addition of pollutants by any “indirect 
discharger.” 

Effluent limitation means any restriction imposed by the Director on quantities, discharge rates, 
and concentrations of “pollutants” which are “discharged” from “point sources” into “waters of 
the United States,” the waters of the “contiguous zone,” or the ocean. 

Effluent limitation guidelines means a regulation published by the Administrator under section 
304(b) of CWA to adopt or revise “effluent limitations.” 

Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) means the United States Environmental Protection 
Agency. 

Page 13 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Grab Sample means an individual sample collected in a period of less than 15 minutes. 

Hazardous substance means any substance designated under 40 C.F.R. Part 116 pursuant to 
Section 311 of CWA. 

Incineration is the combustion of organic matter and inorganic matter in sewage sludge by 
high temperatures in an enclosed device. 

Indirect discharger means a nondomestic discharger introducing “pollutants” to a “publicly 
owned treatment works.” 

Interference means a discharge (see definition above) which, alone or in conjunction with a 
discharge or discharges from other sources, both: 

 

 

 

(a) Inhibits or disrupts the POTW, its treatment processes or operations, or its sludge 
processes, use or disposal; and 

(b) Therefore is a cause of a violation of any requirement of the POTW’s NPDES permit 
(including an increase in the magnitude or duration of a violation) or of the prevention of 
sewage sludge use or disposal in compliance with the following statutory provisions and 
regulations or permits issued thereunder (or more stringent State or local regulations): 
Section 405 of the Clean Water Act, the Solid Waste Disposal Act (SWDA) (including 
title II, more commonly referred to as the Resources Conservation and Recovery Act 
(RCRA), and including State regulations contained in any State sludge management plan 
prepared pursuant to Subtitle D of the SDWA), the Clean Air Act, the Toxic Substances 
Control Act, and the Marine Protection, Research and Sanctuaries Act. 

Landfill means an area of land or an excavation in which wastes are placed for permanent 
disposal, and that is not a land application unit, surface impoundment, injection well, or waste 
pile. 

Land application is the spraying or spreading of sewage sludge onto the land surface; the 
injection of sewage sludge below the land surface; or the incorporation of sewage sludge into the 
soil so that the sewage sludge can either condition the soil or fertilize crops or vegetation grown 
in the soil. 

Land application unit means an area where wastes are applied onto or incorporated into the 
soil surface (excluding manure spreading operations) for agricultural purposes or for 
treatment and disposal. 

LC50 means the concentration of a sample that causes mortality of 50% of the test population at a 
specific time of observation. The LC50 = 100% is defined as a sample of undiluted effluent. 

Maximum daily discharge limitation means the highest allowable “daily discharge.”  

Municipal solid waste landfill (MSWLF) unit means a discrete area of land or an excavation that 
receives household waste, and that is not a land application unit, surface impoundment, injection 
well, or waste pile, as those terms are defined under 40 C.F.R. § 257.2. A MSWLF unit also may 
receive other types of RCRA Subtitle D wastes, such as commercial solid waste, nonhazardous 
sludge, very small quantity generator waste and industrial solid waste. Such a landfill may be 
publicly or privately owned. A MSWLF unit may be a new MSWLF unit, an existing MSWLF 

Page 14 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

unit or a lateral expansion. A construction and demolition landfill that receives residential lead-
based paint waste and does not receive any other household waste is not a MSWLF unit. 
 

 

 

 

 

Municipality  

(a) When used without qualification municipality means a city, town, borough, county, 
parish, district, association, or other public body created by or under State law and 
having jurisdiction over disposal of sewage, industrial wastes, or other wastes, or an 
Indian tribe or an authorized Indian tribal organization, or a designated and approved 
management agency under Section 208 of CWA. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

(b) As related to sludge use and disposal, municipality means a city, town, borough, county, 
parish, district, association, or other public body (including an intermunicipal Agency of 
two or more of the foregoing entities) created by or under State law; an Indian tribe or an 
authorized Indian tribal organization having jurisdiction over sewage sludge 
management; or a designated and approved management Agency under Section 208 of 
the CWA, as amended. The definition includes a special district created under State law, 
such as a water district, sewer district, sanitary district, utility district, drainage district, or 
similar entity, or an integrated waste management facility as defined in Section 201 (e) of 
the CWA, as amended, that has as one of its principal responsibilities the treatment, 
transport, use or disposal of sewage sludge. 

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System means the national program for issuing, 
modifying, revoking and reissuing, terminating, monitoring and enforcing permits, and imposing 
and enforcing pretreatment requirements, under Sections 307, 402, 318, and 405 of the CWA. 
The term includes an “approved program.” 

New Discharger means any building, structure, facility, or installation: 

(a) From which there is or may be a “discharge of pollutants:” 

(b) That did not commence the “discharge of pollutants” at a particular “site” prior to August 
13, 1979; 

(c) Which is not a “new source:” and 

(d) Which has never received a finally effective NPDES permit for discharges at that “site.” 

This definition includes an “indirect discharger” which commences discharging into “waters of 
the United States” after August 13, 1979. It also includes any existing mobile point source (other 
than an offshore or coastal oil and gas exploratory drilling rig or a coastal oil and gas exploratory 
drilling rig or a coastal oil and gas exploratory drilling rig or a coastal oil and gas developmental 
drilling rig) such as a seafood processing rig, seafood processing vessel, or aggregate plant, that 
begins discharging at a “site” for which it does not have a permit; and any offshore or coastal 
mobile oil and gas exploratory drilling rig or coastal mobile oil and gas developmental drilling rig 
that commences the discharge of pollutants after August 13, 1979, at a ”site” under EPA’s 
permitting jurisdiction for which it is not covered by an individual or general permit and which is 
located in an area determined by the Director in the issuance of a final permit to be in an area of 
biological concern. In determining whether an area is an area of biological concern, the Director 
shall consider the factors specified in 40 C.F.R. §§ 125.122 (a) (1) through (10). 

An offshore or coastal mobile exploratory drilling rig or coastal mobile developmental drilling 

Page 15 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

rig will be considered a “new discharger” only for the duration of its discharge in an area of 
biological concern. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

New source means any building, structure, facility, or installation from which there is or may 
be a “discharge of pollutants,” the construction of which commenced: 

 

 

(a) After promulgation of standards of performance under Section 306 of CWA 
which are applicable to such source, or 

(b) After proposal of standards of performance in accordance with Section 306 of CWA 
which are applicable to such source, but only if the standards are promulgated in 
accordance with Section 306 within 120 days of their proposal. 

NPDES means “National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System.” 

Owner or operator means the owner or operator of any “facility or activity” subject to 
regulation under the NPDES programs. 

Pass through means a Discharge (see definition above) which exits the POTW into waters of the 
United States in quantities or concentrations which, alone or in conjunction with a discharge or 
discharges from other sources, is a cause of a violation of any requirement of the POTW’s 
NPDES permit (including an increase in the magnitude or duration of a violation). 

Pathogenic organisms are disease-causing organisms. These include, but are not limited to, 
certain bacteria, protozoa, viruses, and viable helminth ova. 

Permit means an authorization, license, or equivalent control document issued by EPA 
or an “approved State” to implement the requirements of Parts 122, 123, and 124. 
“Permit” includes an NPDES “general permit” (40 C.F.R § 122.28). Permit does not 
include any permit which has not yet been the subject of final agency action, such as a 
“draft permit” or “proposed permit.” 

Person means an individual, association, partnership, corporation, municipality, State or 
Federal agency, or an agent or employee thereof. 

Person who prepares sewage sludge is either the person who generates sewage sludge during the 
treatment of domestic sewage in a treatment works or the person who derives a material from 
sewage sludge. 

pH means the logarithm of the reciprocal of the hydrogen ion concentration measured at 25° 
Centigrade or measured at another temperature and then converted to an equivalent value at 25° 
Centigrade.  

Point Source means any discernible, confined, and discrete conveyance, including but not 
limited to, any pipe, ditch, channel, tunnel, conduit, well, discrete fissure, container, rolling 
stock, concentrated animal feeding operation, landfill leachate collection system, vessel or other 
floating craft from which pollutants are or may be discharged. This term does not include return 
flows from irrigated agriculture or agricultural storm water runoff (see 40 C.F.R. § 122.3). 

Pollutant means dredged spoil, solid waste, incinerator residue, filter backwash, sewage, 
garbage, sewage sludge, munitions, chemical wastes, biological materials, radioactive materials 
(except those regulated under the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2011 et 
seq.)), heat, wrecked or discarded equipment, rock, sand, cellar dirt and industrial, municipal, 

Page 16 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

and agricultural waste discharged into water.  It does not mean: 
 

 

 

 

(a) Sewage from vessels; or 

(b) Water, gas, or other material which is injected into a well to facilitate production of oil or 
gas, or water derived in association with oil and gas production and disposed of in a well, 
if the well is used either to facilitate production or for disposal purposes is approved by 
the authority of the State in which the well is located, and if the State determines that the 
injection or disposal will not result in the degradation of ground or surface water 
resources. 

Primary industry category means any industry category listed in the NRDC settlement agreement 
(Natural Resources Defense Council et al. v. Train, 8 E.R.C. 2120 (D.D.C. 1976), modified 12 
E.R.C. 1833 (D. D.C. 1979)); also listed in Appendix A of 40 C.F.R. Part 122. 

Privately owned treatment works means any device or system which is (a) used to treat wastes 
from any facility whose operator is not the operator of the treatment works and (b) not a 
“POTW.” 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Process wastewater means any water which, during manufacturing or processing, comes into 
direct contact with or results from the production or use of any raw material, intermediate 
product, finished product, byproduct, or waste product. 

Publicly owned treatment works (POTW) means a treatment works as defined by Section 
212 of the Act, which is owned by a State or municipality (as defined by Section 504(4) of 
the Act). This definition includes any devices and systems used in the storage, treatment, 
recycling and reclamation of municipal sewage or industrial wastes of a liquid nature. It also 
includes sewers, pipes and other conveyances only if they convey wastewater to a POTW 
Treatment Plant. The term also means the municipality as defined in Section 502(4) of the 
Act, which has jurisdiction over the Indirect Discharges to and the discharges from such a 
treatment works. 

Regional Administrator means the Regional Administrator, EPA, Region I, Boston, Massachusetts. 

Secondary industry category means any industry which is not a “primary industry category.” 

Septage means the liquid and solid material pumped from a septic tank, cesspool, or similar 
domestic sewage treatment system, or a holding tank when the system is cleaned or maintained. 

Sewage Sludge means any solid, semi-solid, or liquid residue removed during the treatment of 
municipal waste water or domestic sewage. Sewage sludge includes, but is not limited to, solids 
removed during primary, secondary, or advanced waste water treatment, scum, septage, portable 
toilet pumpings, type III marine sanitation device pumpings (33 C.F.R. Part 159), and sewage 
sludge products. Sewage sludge does not include grit or screenings, or ash generated during the 
incineration of sewage sludge. 

Sewage sludge incinerator is an enclosed device in which only sewage sludge and auxiliary 
fuel are fired. 

Sewage sludge unit is land on which only sewage sludge is placed for final disposal. This does 
not include land on which sewage sludge is either stored or treated. Land does not include waters 
of the United States, as defined in 40 C.F.R. § 122.2. 

Page 17 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18 of 21 

Sewage sludge use or disposal practice means the collection, storage, treatment, 
transportation, processing, monitoring, use, or disposal of sewage sludge. 

Significant materials includes, but is not limited to: raw materials; fuels; materials such as 
solvents, detergents, and plastic pellets; finished materials such as metallic products; raw 
materials used in food processing or production; hazardous substance designated under Section 
101(14) of CERCLA; any chemical the facility is required to report pursuant to Section 313 of 
title III of SARA; fertilizers; pesticides; and waste products such as ashes, slag and sludge that 
have the potential to be released with storm water discharges. 

Significant spills includes, but is not limited to, releases of oil or hazardous substances in 
excess of reportable quantities under Section 311 of the CWA (see 40 C.F.R. §§ 110.10 and 
117.21) or Section 102 of CERCLA (see 40 C.F.R. § 302.4). 
Sludge-only facility means any “treatment works treating domestic sewage” whose methods of 
sewage sludge use or disposal are subject to regulations promulgated pursuant to section 
405(d) of the CWA, and is required to obtain a permit under 40 C.F.R. § 122.1(b)(2). 

State means any of the 50 States, the District of Columbia, Guam, the Commonwealth of Puerto 
Rico, the Virgin Islands, American Samoa, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, 
the Trust Territory of the Pacific Islands, or an Indian Tribe as defined in the regulations which 
meets the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 123.31. 

Store or storage of sewage sludge is the placement of sewage sludge on land on which the 
sewage sludge remains for two years or less. This does not include the placement of sewage 
sludge on land for treatment. 

Storm water means storm water runoff, snow melt runoff, and surface runoff and drainage. 

Storm water discharge associated with industrial activity means the discharge from any 
conveyance that is used for collecting and conveying storm water and that is directly related to 
manufacturing, processing, or raw materials storage areas at an industrial plant.  

Surface disposal site is an area of land that contains one or more active sewage sludge units 

Toxic pollutant means any pollutant listed as toxic under Section 307(a)(1) or, in the case of 
“sludge use or disposal practices,” any pollutant identified in regulations implementing Section 
405(d) of the CWA. 

Treatment works treating domestic sewage means a POTW or any other sewage sludge or waste 
water treatment devices or systems, regardless of ownership (including federal facilities), used in 
the storage, treatment, recycling, and reclamation of municipal or domestic sewage, including 
land dedicated for the disposal of sewage sludge. This definition does not include septic tanks or 
similar devices.  

For purposes of this definition, “domestic sewage” includes waste and waste water from humans 
or household operations that are discharged to or otherwise enter a treatment works. In States 
where there is no approved State sludge management program under Section 405(f) of the CWA, 
the Director may designate any person subject to the standards for sewage sludge use and 
disposal in 40 C.F.R. Part 503 as a “treatment works treating domestic sewage,” where he or she 
finds that there is a potential for adverse effects on public health and the environment from poor 
sludge quality or poor sludge handling, use or disposal practices, or where he or she finds that 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

such designation is necessary to ensure that such person is in compliance with 40 C.F.R. Part 
503. 
 

 

 

 

Page 19 of 21 

Upset see B.5.a. above. 

Vector attraction is the characteristic of sewage sludge that attracts rodents, flies, 
mosquitoes, or other organisms capable of transporting infectious agents. 

Waste pile or pile means any non-containerized accumulation of solid, non-flowing waste that 
is used for treatment or storage. 

Waters of the United States or waters of the U.S. means: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(a) All waters which are currently used, were used in the past, or may be susceptible to use in 
interstate or foreign commerce, including all waters which are subject to the ebb and flow 
of the tide; 

(b) All interstate waters, including interstate “wetlands;” 

(c) All other waters such as intrastate lakes, rivers, streams (including intermittent streams), 
mudflats, sandflats, “wetlands”, sloughs, prairie potholes, wet meadows, playa lakes, or 
natural ponds the use, degradation, or destruction of which would affect or could affect 
interstate or foreign commerce including any such waters: 

(1) Which are or could be used by interstate or foreign travelers for recreational 
or other purpose; 

(2) From which fish or shellfish are or could be taken and sold in interstate 
or foreign commerce; or 

(3) Which are used or could be used for industrial purposes by industries in 
interstate commerce; 

(d) All impoundments of waters otherwise defined as waters of the United States under this 
definition; 

 

 

 

 

(e) Tributaries of waters identified in paragraphs (a) through (d) of this definition; 

(f) The territorial sea; and 

(g) “Wetlands” adjacent to waters (other than waters that are themselves wetlands) identified 
in paragraphs (a) through (f) of this definition. 

Waste treatment systems, including treatment ponds or lagoons designed to meet the 
requirements of CWA (other than cooling ponds as defined in 40 C.F.R. § 423.11(m) which also 
meet the criteria of this definition) are not waters of the United States. This exclusion applies 
only to manmade bodies of water which neither were originally created in waters of the United 
States (such as disposal area in wetlands) nor resulted from the impoundment of waters of the 
United States. Waters of the United States do not include prior converted cropland. 
Notwithstanding the determination of an area’s status as prior converted cropland by any other 
federal agency, for the purposes of the Clean Water Act, the final authority regarding Clean 
Water Act jurisdiction remains with EPA. 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wetlands means those areas that are inundated or saturated by surface or groundwater at a 
frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances do support, a 
prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions. Wetlands 
generally include swamps, marshes, bogs, and similar areas. 

Whole Effluent Toxicity (WET) means the aggregate toxic effect of an effluent measured directly 
by a toxicity test.   

Zone of Initial Dilution (ZID) means the region of initial mixing surrounding or adjacent to the 
end of the outfall pipe or diffuser ports, provided that the ZID may not be larger than allowed 
by mixing zone restrictions in applicable water quality standards.  

2. Commonly Used Abbreviations 
 

BOD  Five-day biochemical oxygen demand unless otherwise specified 

CBOD Carbonaceous BOD 

CFS Cubic feet per second 

COD Chemical oxygen demand 

Chlorine 

Cl2 Total residual chlorine 

TRC Total residual chlorine which is a combination of free available chlorine 
(FAC, see below) and combined chlorine (chloramines, etc.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TRO Total residual chlorine in marine waters where halogen compounds are 
present 

FAC Free available chlorine (aqueous molecular chlorine, hypochlorous acid, 
and hypochlorite ion) 

Coliform 

Coliform, Fecal Total fecal coliform bacteria 

Coliform, Total Total coliform bacteria 

Cont. Continuous recording of the parameter being monitored, i.e. 
flow, temperature, pH, etc. 

Cu. M/day or M3/day Cubic meters per day 

DO Dissolved oxygen 

kg/day Kilograms per day 

lbs/day Pounds per day 

Page 20 of 21 



NPDES PART II STANDARD CONDITIONS 
(April 26, 2018) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mg/L Milligram(s) per liter 

mL/L Milliliters per liter 

MGD Million gallons per day 

Nitrogen 

Total N Total nitrogen 

NH3-N Ammonia nitrogen as nitrogen 

NO3-N Nitrate as nitrogen 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21 of 21 

NO2-N Nitrite as nitrogen 

NO3-NO2 Combined nitrate and nitrite nitrogen as nitrogen 

TKN Total Kjeldahl nitrogen as nitrogen  

Oil & Grease Freon extractable material 

PCB Polychlorinated biphenyl 

Surfactant Surface-active agent 

Temp. °C Temperature in degrees Centigrade 

Temp. °F Temperature in degrees Fahrenheit 

TOC Total organic carbon 

Total P Total phosphorus 

TSS or NFR Total suspended solids or total nonfilterable residue  

Turb. or Turbidity Turbidity measured by the Nephelometric Method (NTU) 

µg/L Microgram(s) per liter 

WET “Whole effluent toxicity”  

ZID Zone of Initial Dilution 
 

 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 1 of 53 

 
 

 
UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 

NEW ENGLAND - REGION 1 
5 POST OFFICE SQUARE, SUITE 100 

BOSTON, MASSACHUSETTS 02109-3912 
 
 

 
FACT SHEET 

DRAFT NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES) 
PERMIT TO DISCHARGE TO WATERS OF THE UNITED STATES PURSUANT TO  

THE CLEAN WATER ACT (CWA) 
 

 

 

 

 
 

NPDES PERMIT NUMBER: MA0024368 

PUBLIC NOTICE START AND END DATES: January 10, 2022 - February 8, 2022 

NAME AND MAILING ADDRESS OF APPLICANT: 

Massachusetts Maritime Academy 
101 Academy Drive 

Buzzards Bay, MA  02532 

NAME AND ADDRESS OF FACILITY WHERE DISCHARGE OCCURS: 
 

 
 

 

 
  

Massachusetts Maritime Academy 
101 Academy Drive 

Buzzards Bay, MA  02532 

RECEIVING WATER AND CLASSIFICATION: 

Cape Cod Canal (MA 95-14)     
Buzzards Bay Watershed 
Class SB – restricted shellfishing 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 2 of 53 

 
 

Table of Contents 
1.0 Proposed Action .................................................................................................................. 4 
2.0 Statutory and Regulatory Authority .................................................................................... 4 

2.1 Technology-Based Requirements ................................................................................... 4 
2.2 Water Quality-Based Requirements ............................................................................... 5 

2.2.1 Water Quality Standards ........................................................................................... 5 
2.2.2 Antidegradation......................................................................................................... 6 
2.2.3 Assessment and Listing of Waters and Total Maximum Daily Loads. .................... 6 
2.2.4 Reasonable Potential ................................................................................................. 7 
2.2.5 State Certification ..................................................................................................... 8 

2.3 Effluent Flow Requirements ........................................................................................... 8 
2.4 Monitoring and Reporting Requirements ..................................................................... 10 

2.4.1 Monitoring Requirements ....................................................................................... 10 
2.4.2 Reporting Requirements ......................................................................................... 11 

2.5 Standard Conditions ...................................................................................................... 11 
2.6 Anti-backsliding ............................................................................................................ 11 

3.0 Description of Facility and Discharge .............................................................................. 12 
3.1 Location and Type of Facility ....................................................................................... 12 

3.1.1 Treatment Process Description ............................................................................... 13 
3.1.2 Collection System Description ............................................................................... 14 

4.0 Description of Receiving Water and Dilution .................................................................. 14 
4.1 Receiving Water............................................................................................................ 14 
4.2 Ambient Data ................................................................................................................ 15 
4.3 Available Dilution ......................................................................................................... 15 

5.0 Proposed Effluent Limitations and Conditions ................................................................. 15 
5.1 Effluent Limitations and Monitoring Requirements ..................................................... 16 

5.1.1 Effluent Flow .......................................................................................................... 16 
5.1.2 Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD5) ................................................................... 16 
5.1.3 Total Suspended Solids (TSS) ................................................................................ 17 
5.1.4 Eighty-Five Percent (85%) BOD5 and TSS Removal Requirement ....................... 17 
5.1.5 Settleable Solids (SS) .............................................................................................. 17 
5.1.6 pH ............................................................................................................................ 17 
5.1.7 Bacteria ................................................................................................................... 18 
5.1.8 Total Residual Chlorine .......................................................................................... 18 
5.1.9 Ammonia................................................................................................................. 19 
5.1.10 Nutrients .................................................................................................................. 20 
5.1.11 Metals ...................................................................................................................... 21 
5.1.12 Whole Effluent Toxicity ......................................................................................... 22 
5.1.13 Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) .......................................................... 23 

5.2 Sludge Conditions ......................................................................................................... 25 
5.3 Infiltration/Inflow (I/I) .................................................................................................. 25 
5.4 Operation and Maintenance of the Sewer System ........................................................ 25 
5.5 Standard Conditions ...................................................................................................... 26 
5.6 Endangered Species Act ............................................................................................... 26 
5.7 Essential Fish Habitat ................................................................................................... 29 

5.7.1 EPA’s Finding of all Potential Impacts to EFH Species......................................... 30 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 3 of 53 

 
 

5.8 Coastal Zone Management (CZM) Consistency Review ............................................. 31 
6.0 Public Comments, Hearing Requests and Permit Appeals ............................................... 32 
7.0 Administrative Record ...................................................................................................... 32 
 

Tables 
 
 
Table 1: Summary of Designated Uses and Listing Status………………………………………14 
 
 
                                                                       Figures 
 
Figure 1: Location Map…………. ………………………………………………………..….... 33 
Figure 2: Schematic of Wastewater Treatment Plant……………………………………………34 
 
 
 
                                                                    Appendices 
 

 
 

Appendix A: Discharge Monitoring Data for Outfall 001 ………………………………………35 
Appendix B: Reasonable Potential Analysis ……………………………………………………50 
  



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 4 of 53 

 
 

1.0 Proposed Action 
 
The above-named applicant (the Permittee) has applied to the U.S. Environmental Protection 
Agency (EPA) for reissuance of a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) 
permit to discharge from the Massachusetts Maritime Academy (MMA) Wastewater Treatment 
Plant (the Facility) into Cape Cod Canal, in close proximity to Buzzards Bay. 
 
The permit currently in effect was issued on February 25, 2011 with an effective date of May 1, 
2011 and expired on April 30, 2016 (the 2011 Permit). The Permittee filed an application for 
permit reissuance with EPA dated January 15, 2016, as required by 40 Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) § 122.6. Since the permit application was deemed timely and complete by 
EPA on September 23, 2016, the Facility’s 2011 Permit has been administratively continued 
pursuant to 40 CFR § 122.6 and § 122.21(d). EPA conducted a site visit on June 15, 2021.  
 
2.0 Statutory and Regulatory Authority 
 
Congress enacted the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, codified at 33 U.S.C. § 1251-1387 
and commonly known as the Clean Water Act (CWA), “to restore and maintain the chemical, 
physical, and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.” CWA § 101(a). To achieve this 
objective, the CWA makes it unlawful for any person to discharge any pollutant into the waters 
of the United States from any point source, except as authorized by specific permitting sections 
of the CWA, one of which is § 402. See CWA §§ 301(a), 402(a). Section 402(a) established one 
of the CWA’s principal permitting programs, the NPDES Permit Program. Under this section, 
EPA may “issue a permit for the discharge of any pollutant or combination of pollutants” in 
accordance with certain conditions. CWA § 402(a). NPDES permits generally contain discharge 
limitations and establish related monitoring and reporting requirements. See CWA § 402(a)(1) 
and (2). The regulations governing EPA’s NPDES permit program are generally found in 40 
CFR §§ 122, 124, 125, and 136. 
 
“Congress has vested in the Administrator [of EPA] broad discretion to establish conditions for 
NPDES permits” in order to achieve the statutory mandates of Section 301 and 402. Arkansas v. 
Oklahoma, 503 U.S. 91, 105 (1992). See also 40 CFR §§ 122.4(d), 122.44(d)(1), and 
122.44(d)(5). CWA §§ 301 and 306 provide for two types of effluent limitations to be included 
in NPDES permits: “technology-based” effluent limitations (TBELs) and “water quality-based” 
effluent limitations (WQBELs). See CWA §§ 301, and 304(d); 40 CFR Parts 122, 125, 131.  
 
2.1 Technology-Based Requirements 
 
Technology-based limitations, generally developed on an industry-by-industry basis, reflect a 
specified level of pollutant reducing technology available and economically achievable for the 
type of facility being permitted. See CWA § 301(b). As a class, publicly owned treatment works 
(POTWs) must meet performance-based requirements based on available wastewater treatment 
technology. See CWA § 301(b)(1)(B). The performance level for POTWs is referred to as 
“secondary treatment.” Secondary treatment is comprised of technology-based requirements 
expressed in terms of biochemical oxygen demand (BOD5), total suspended solids (TSS) and pH. 
See 40 CFR Part 133. 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 5 of 53 

 
 

 
Under CWA § 301(b)(1), POTWs must have achieved effluent limits based upon secondary 
treatment technology by July 1, 1977. Since all statutory deadlines for meeting various treatment 
technology-based effluent limitations established pursuant to the CWA have expired, when 
technology-based effluent limits are included in a permit, compliance with those limitations is 
from the date the issued permit becomes effective. See 40 CFR § 125.3(a)(1).  
 
2.2 Water Quality-Based Requirements 
 
The CWA and federal regulations also require that permit effluent limits based on water quality 
considerations be established for point source discharges when such limitations are necessary to 
meet state or federal water quality standards that are applicable to the designated receiving water. 
This is necessary when less stringent TBELs would interfere with the attainment or maintenance 
of water quality criteria in the receiving water. See CWA § 301(b)(1)(C) and 40 CFR 
§§ 122.44(d)(1), 122.44(d)(5). 
 

2.2.1 Water Quality Standards 
 
The CWA requires that each state develop water quality standards (WQSs) for all water bodies 
within the State. See CWA § 303 and 40 CFR § 131.10-12. Generally, WQSs consist of three 
parts: 1) the designated use or uses assigned for a water body or a segment of a water body; 2) 
numeric or narrative water quality criteria sufficient to protect the assigned designated use(s); 
and 3) antidegradation requirements to ensure that once a use is attained it will not be degraded 
and to protect high quality and National Resource Waters. See CWA § 303(c)(2)(A) and 40 CFR 
§ 131.12. The applicable State WQSs can be found in 314 of the Code of Massachusetts 
Regulations, Chapter 4 (314 CMR 4.00).  
 
As a matter of state law, state WQSs specify different water body classifications, each of which 
is associated with certain designated uses and numeric and narrative water quality criteria. When 
using chemical-specific numeric criteria to develop permit limitations, acute and chronic aquatic 
life criteria and human health criteria are used and expressed in terms of maximum allowable in-
stream pollutant concentrations. In general, aquatic-life acute criteria are considered applicable 
to daily time periods (maximum daily limit) and aquatic-life chronic criteria are considered 
applicable to monthly time periods (average monthly limit). Chemical-specific human health 
criteria are typically based on lifetime chronic exposure and, therefore, are typically applicable to 
average monthly limits.  
 
When permit effluent limitation(s) are necessary to ensure that the receiving water meets 
narrative water quality criteria, the permitting authority must establish effluent limits in one of 
the following three ways: 1) based on a “calculated numeric criterion for the pollutant which the 
permitting authority demonstrates will attain and maintain applicable narrative water quality 
criteria and fully protect the designated use,” 2) based on a “case-by-case basis” using CWA 
§ 304(a) recommended water quality criteria, supplemented as necessary by other relevant 
information; or, 3) in certain circumstances, based on use of an indicator parameter. See 40 CFR 
§ 122.44(d)(1)(vi)(A-C). 
 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 6 of 53 

 
 

2.2.2 Antidegradation 
 
Federal regulations found at 40 CFR § 131.12 require states to develop and adopt a statewide 
antidegradation policy that maintains and protects existing in-stream water uses and the level of 
water quality necessary to protect these existing uses. In addition, the antidegradation policy 
ensures maintenance of high quality waters which exceed levels necessary to support 
propagation of fish, shellfish, and wildlife and to support recreation in and on the water, unless 
the State finds that allowing degradation is necessary to accommodate important economic or 
social development in the area in which the waters are located.  
 
Massachusetts’ statewide antidegradation policy, entitled “Antidegradation Provisions” is found 
in the State’s WQSs at 314 CMR 4.04. Massachusetts guidance for the implementation of this 
policy is in an associated document entitled “Implementation Procedure for the Anti-Degradation 
Provisions of the State Water Quality Standards,” dated October 21, 2009. According to the 
policy, no lowering of water quality is allowed, except in accordance with the antidegradation 
policy, and all existing in-stream uses, and the level of water quality necessary to protect the 
existing uses of a receiving water body must be maintained and protected.  
 
This permit is being reissued with effluent limitations sufficiently stringent to satisfy the State’s 
antidegradation requirements, including the protection of the existing uses of the receiving water. 
 

2.2.3 Assessment and Listing of Waters and Total Maximum Daily Loads. 
 
The objective of the CWA is to restore and maintain the chemical, physical and biological 
integrity of the Nation’s waters. To meet this goal, the CWA requires states to develop 
information on the quality of their water resources and report this information to EPA, the U.S. 
Congress, and the public. To this end, EPA released guidance on November 19, 2001, for the 
preparation of an integrated “List of Waters” that could combine reporting elements of both 
§ 305(b) and § 303(d) of the CWA. The integrated list format allows states to provide the status 
of all their assessed waters in one list. States choosing this option must list each water body or 
segment in one of the following five categories: 1) unimpaired and not threatened for all 
designated uses; 2) unimpaired waters for some uses and not assessed for others; 3) insufficient 
information to make assessments for any uses; 4) impaired or threatened for one or more uses but 
not requiring the calculation of a Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL); and 5) impaired or 
threatened for one or more uses and requiring a TMDL. 
 
A TMDL is a planning tool and potential starting point for restoration activities with the ultimate 
goal of attaining water quality standards. A TMDL essentially provides a pollution budget 
designed to restore the health of an impaired water body. A TMDL typically identifies the 
source(s) of the pollutant from point sources and non-point sources, determines the maximum 
load of the pollutant that the water body can tolerate while still attaining WQSs for the 
designated uses, and allocates that load among to the various sources, including point source 
discharges, subject to NPDES permits. See 40 CFR § 130.7. 
 
 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 7 of 53 

 
 

For impaired waters where a TMDL has been developed for a particular pollutant and the TMDL 
includes a waste load allocation (WLA) for a NPDES permitted discharge, the effluent limitation 
in the permit must be “consistent with the assumptions and requirements of any available WLA”. 
40 CFR § 122.44(d)(1)(vii)(B). 
 

2.2.4 Reasonable Potential 
 
Pursuant to CWA § 301(b)(1)(C) and 40 CFR § 122.44(d)(1), NPDES permits must contain any 
requirements in addition to TBELs that are necessary to achieve water quality standards 
established under § 303 of the CWA. See also 33 U.S.C. § 1311(b)(1)(C). In addition, limitations 
“must control any pollutant or pollutant parameter (conventional, non-conventional, or toxic) 
which the permitting authority determines are or may be discharged at a level which will cause, 
have the reasonable potential to cause, or contribute to an excursion above any water quality 
standard, including State narrative criteria for water quality.” 40 CFR § 122.44(d)(1)(i). To 
determine if the discharge causes, or has the reasonable potential to cause, or contribute to an 
excursion above any WQS, EPA considers: 1) existing controls on point and non-point sources 
of pollution; 2) the variability of the pollutant or pollutant parameter in the effluent; 3) the 
sensitivity of the species to toxicity testing (when evaluating whole effluent toxicity); and 4) 
where appropriate, the dilution of the effluent by the receiving water. See 40 CFR 
§ 122.44(d)(1)(ii). 
 
If the permitting authority determines that the discharge of a pollutant will cause, has the 
reasonable potential to cause, or contribute to an excursion above WQSs, the permit must contain 
WQBELs for that pollutant. See 40 CFR § 122.44(d)(1)(i). 
 
For any pollutants with an existing WQBEL, EPA notes that the analysis described in 40 CFR § 
122.44(d)(1)(i) has already been conducted in a previous permitting action demonstrating 
reasonable potential to cause or contribute to an excursion above WQSs. Therefore, those limits 
will be carried forward unless it is determined that a more stringent WQBEL is necessary to 
continue to protect WQS.  
 
From a technical standpoint, when a pollutant is already being controlled as a result of a 
previously established WQBEL, EPA has determined that it is not appropriate to use new 
effluent data to reevaluate the need for the existing limit because the reasonable potential to 
cause or contribute to an excursion of WQS for the uncontrolled discharge was already 
established in the previous permit. If EPA were to conduct such an evaluation and find no 
reasonable potential for the controlled discharge to cause or contribute to an excursion of WQS, 
that finding could be interpreted to suggest that the effluent limit should be removed. However, 
the new permit without the effluent limit would imply that existing controls are unnecessary, that 
controls could be removed and then the pollutant concentration would rise to a level where there 
is, once again, reasonable potential for the discharge to cause or contribute to an excursion of 
WQS. This could result in an illogical cycle of applying and removing pollutant controls with 
each permit reissuance. EPA’s technical approach on this issue is in keeping with the Act 
generally and the NPDES regulations specifically, which reflect a precautionary approach to 
controlling pollutant discharges.   
 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 8 of 53 

 
 

2.2.5 State Certification 
 
EPA may not issue a permit unless the State Water Pollution Control Agency with jurisdiction 
over the receiving water(s) either certifies that the effluent limitations contained in the permit are 
stringent enough to assure that the discharge will not cause the receiving water to violate the 
State WQSs, the State waives, or is deemed to have waived, its right to certify. See 33 U.S.C. § 
1341(a)(1). Regulations governing state certification are set forth in 40 CFR § 124.53 and § 
124.55. EPA has requested permit certification by the State pursuant to 40 CFR § 124.53 and 
expects that the Draft Permit will be certified.  
 
If the State believes that conditions more stringent than those contained in the Draft Permit are 
necessary to meet the requirements of either CWA §§ 208(e), 301, 302, 303, 306 and 307, or 
applicable requirements of State law, the State should include such conditions in its certification 
and, in each case, cite the CWA or State law provisions upon which that condition is based. 
Failure to provide such a citation waives the right to certify as to that condition. EPA includes 
properly supported State certification conditions in the NPDES permit. The only exception to 
this is that the permit conditions/requirements regulating sewage sludge management and 
implementing CWA § 405(d) are not subject to the State certification requirements. Reviews and 
appeals of limitations and conditions attributable to State certification shall be made through the 
applicable procedures of the State and may not be made through EPA’s permit appeal procedures 
of 40 CFR Part 124.  
 
In addition, the State should provide a statement of the extent to which any condition of the Draft 
Permit can be made less stringent without violating the requirements of State law. Since the 
State’s certification is provided prior to final permit issuance, any failure by the State to provide 
this statement waives the State’s right to certify or object to any less stringent condition. 
 
It should be noted that under CWA § 401, EPA’s duty to defer to considerations of State law is 
intended to prevent EPA from relaxing any requirements, limitations or conditions imposed by 
State law. Therefore, “[a] State may not condition or deny a certification on the grounds that 
State law allows a less stringent permit condition.” 40 CFR § 124.55(c). In such an instance, the 
regulation provides that, “The Regional Administrator shall disregard any such certification 
conditions or denials as waivers of certification.” Id. EPA regulations pertaining to permit 
limitations based upon WQSs and State requirements are contained in 40 CFR §§ 122.4(d) and 
122.44(d). 
 
2.3 Effluent Flow Requirements 
 
Sewage treatment plant discharge is encompassed within the definition of “pollutant” and is 
subject to regulation under the CWA. The CWA defines “pollutant” to mean, inter alia, 
“municipal...waste” and “sewage…discharged into water.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(6).  
 
Generally, EPA uses effluent flow both to determine whether an NPDES permit needs certain 
effluent limitations and to calculate the limitations themselves. EPA practice is to use effluent 
flow as a reasonable and important worst-case condition in EPA’s reasonable potential and 
WQBEL calculations to ensure compliance with WQSs under § 301(b)(1)(C). Should the 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 9 of 53 

 
 

effluent flow exceed the flow assumed in these calculations, the in-stream dilution would be 
reduced, and the calculated effluent limitations may not be sufficiently protective (i.e. might not 
meet WQSs). Further, pollutants that do not have the reasonable potential to exceed WQSs at the 
lower discharge flow may have reasonable potential at a higher flow due to the decreased 
dilution. In order to ensure that the assumptions underlying EPA’s reasonable potential analyses 
and permit effluent limitation derivations remain sound for the duration of the permit, EPA may 
ensure the validity of its “worst-case” wastewater effluent flow assumptions through imposition 
of permit conditions for effluent flow.1 In this regard, the effluent flow limitation is a component 
of WQBELs because the WQBELs are premised on a maximum level flow. The effluent flow 
limit is also necessary to ensure that other pollutants remain at levels that do not have a 
reasonable potential to exceed WQSs. 
 
The limitation on wastewater effluent flow is within EPA’s authority to condition a permit to 
carry out the objectives of the Act.  See CWA §§ 402(a)(2) and 301(b)(1)(C); 40 CFR 
§§ 122.4(a) and (d), 122.43 and 122.44(d). A condition on the discharge designed to ensure the 
WQBEL and reasonable potential calculations account for “worst case” conditions is 
encompassed by the references to “condition” and “limitations” in CWA §§ 402 and 301 and 
implementing regulations, as they are designed to assure compliance with applicable water 
quality regulations, including antidegradation. Regulating the quantity of pollutants in the 
discharge through a restriction on the quantity of wastewater effluent is consistent with the 
overall structure and purposes of the CWA. 
 
In addition, as provided in Part II.B.1 of this permit and 40 CFR § 122.41(e), the Permittee is 
required to properly operate and maintain all facilities and systems of treatment and control. 
Operating the facilities wastewater treatment systems as designed includes operating within the 
facility’s design wastewater effluent flow.  
  
EPA has also included the effluent flow limit in the permit to minimize or prevent infiltration 
and inflow (I/I) that may result in unauthorized discharges and compromise proper operation and 
maintenance of the facility. Improper operation and maintenance may result in non-compliance 
with permit effluent limitations. Infiltration is groundwater that enters the collection system 
through physical defects such as cracked pipes or deteriorated joints. Inflow is extraneous flow 
added to the collection system that enters the collection system through point sources such as 
roof leaders, yard and area drains, sump pumps, manhole covers, tide gates, and cross 
connections from storm water systems. Significant I/I in a collection system may displace 
sanitary flow, reducing the capacity available for treatment and the operating efficiency of the 
treatment works and to properly operate and maintain the treatment works.  
 
Furthermore, the extraneous flow due to significant I/I greatly increases the potential for sanitary 
sewer overflows (SSOs) in separate and in combined systems. Consequently, the effluent flow 

 
1 EPA’s regulations regarding “reasonable potential” require EPA to consider “where appropriate, the dilution of the 
effluent in the receiving water,” id 40 CFR §122.44(d)(1)(ii). Both the effluent flow and receiving water flow may 
be considered when assessing reasonable potential. In re Upper Blackstone Water Pollution Abatement Dist., 14 
E.A.D. 577. 599 (EAB 2010). EPA guidance directs that this “reasonable potential: analysis be based on “worst-
case” conditions. See In re Washington Aquaduct Water Supply Sys. 11 E.A.D. 565, 584 (EAB 2004) 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 10 of 53 

 
 

limit is a permit condition that relates to the permittee’s duty to mitigate (i.e., minimize or 
prevent any discharge in violation of the permit that has a reasonable likelihood of adversely 
affecting human health or the environment) and to properly operate and maintain the treatment 
works. See 40 CFR §§ 122.41(d), (e). 
 
2.4 Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
 

2.4.1 Monitoring Requirements 
 
Sections 308(a) and 402(a)(2) of the CWA and the implementing regulations at 40 CFR Parts 
122, 124, 125, and 136 authorize EPA to include monitoring and reporting requirements in 
NPDES permits. 
 
The monitoring requirements included in this permit have been established to yield data 
representative of the Facility’s discharges in accordance with CWA §§ 308(a) and 402(a)(2), and 
consistent with 40 CFR §§ 122.41(j), 122.43(a), 122.44(i) and 122.48. The Draft Permit specifies 
routine sampling and analysis requirements to provide ongoing, representative information on 
the levels of regulated constituents in the discharges. The monitoring program is needed to 
enable EPA and the State to assess the characteristics of the Facility’s effluent, whether Facility 
discharges are complying with permit limits, and whether different permit conditions may be 
necessary in the future to ensure compliance with technology-based and water quality-based 
standards under the CWA. EPA and/or the State may use the results of the chemical analyses 
conducted pursuant to this permit, as well as national water quality criteria developed pursuant to 
CWA § 304(a)(1), State water quality criteria, and any other appropriate information or data, to 
develop numerical effluent limitations for any pollutants, including, but not limited to, those 
pollutants listed in Appendix D of 40 CFR Part 122.  
 
NPDES permits require that the approved analytical procedures found in 40 CFR Part 136 be 
used for sampling and analysis unless other procedures are explicitly specified. Permits also 
include requirements necessary to comply with the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System (NPDES): Use of Sufficiently Sensitive Test Methods for Permit Applications and 
Reporting Rule.2 This Rule requires that where EPA-approved methods exist, NPDES applicants 
must use sufficiently sensitive EPA-approved analytical methods when quantifying the presence 
of pollutants in a discharge. Further, the permitting authority must prescribe that only sufficiently 
sensitive EPA-approved methods be used for analyses of pollutants or pollutant parameters under 
the permit. The NPDES regulations at 40 CFR § 122.21(e)(3) (completeness), 40 CFR 
§ 122.44(i)(1)(iv) (monitoring requirements) and/or as cross referenced at 40 CFR § 136.1(c) 
(applicability) indicate that an EPA-approved method is sufficiently sensitive where:  
 

• In the case of permit applications, the ML is above the applicable water quality criterion, 
but the amount of the pollutant or pollutant parameter in a facility’s discharge is high 
enough that the method detects and quantifies the level of the pollutant or parameter in 
the discharge; or 

 
 

2 Fed. Reg. 49,001 (Aug 19, 2014). 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 11 of 53 

 
 

• The method minimum level3 (ML) is at or below the level of the effluent limitation 
established in the permit for the measured pollutant or pollutant parameter; or  

 
• The method has the lowest ML of the analytical methods approved under 40 CFR Part 

136 or required under 40 CFR chapter I, subchapter N or O for the measured pollutant or 
pollutant parameter. 

 
2.4.2 Reporting Requirements 

 
The Draft Permit requires the Permittee to report monitoring results obtained during each 
calendar month to EPA and the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection 
(MassDEP) electronically using NetDMR. The Permittee must submit a Discharge Monitoring 
Report (DMR) for each calendar month no later than the 15th day of the month following the 
completed reporting period. 
 
NetDMR is a national web-based tool enabling regulated CWA permittees to submit DMRs 
electronically via a secure internet application to EPA through the Environmental Information 
Exchange Network. NetDMR has eliminated the need for participants to mail in paper forms to 
EPA under 40 CFR §§ 122.41 and 403.12. NetDMR is accessible through EPA’s Central Data 
Exchange at https://cdx.epa.gov/. Further information about NetDMR can be found on EPA’s 
NetDMR support portal webpage.4 
 
With the use of NetDMR, the Permittee is no longer required to submit hard copies of DMRs and 
reports to EPA and the MassDEP unless otherwise specified in the Draft Permit. In most cases, 
reports required under the permit shall be submitted to EPA as an electronic attachment through 
NetDMR. Certain exceptions are provided in the permit, such as for providing written 
notifications required under the Part II Standard Conditions.  
 
2.5 Standard Conditions 
 
The standard conditions, included as Part II of the Draft Permit, are based on applicable 
regulations found in the Code of Federal Regulations. See generally 40 CFR Part 122. 
 
2.6 Anti-backsliding 
 
The CWA’s anti-backsliding requirements prohibit a permit from being renewed, reissued or 
modified to include with less stringent limitations or conditions than those contained in a 

 
3 The term “minimum level” refers to either the sample concentration equivalent to the lowest calibration point in a 
method or a multiple of the method detection limit (MDL). Minimum levels may be obtained in several ways: They 
may be published in a method; they may be sample concentrations equivalent to the lowest acceptable calibration 
point used by a laboratory; or they may be calculated by multiplying the MDL in a method, or the MDL determined 
by a lab, by a factor. EPA is considering the following terms related to analytical method sensitivity to be 
synonymous: “quantitation limit,” “reporting limit,” “level of quantitation,” and “minimum level.” See Fed. Reg. 
49,001 (Aug. 19, 2014). 
4 https://netdmr.zendesk.com/hc/en-us/articles/209616266-EPA-Region-1-NetDMR-Information 
 

https://cdx.epa.gov/
https://netdmr.zendesk.com/hc/en-us/articles/209616266-EPA-Region-1-NetDMR-Information


NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 12 of 53 

 
 

previous permit except in compliance with one of the specified exceptions to those requirements. 
See CWA §§ 402(o) and 303(d)(4) and 40 CFR § 122.44(l). Anti-backsliding provisions apply to 
effluent limits based on technology, water quality and/or state certification requirements.  
 
All proposed limitations in the Draft Permit are at least as stringent as limitations included in the 
2011 Permit unless specific conditions exist to justify relaxation in accordance with CWA 
§ 402(o) or § 303(d)(4). Discussion of any less stringent limitations and corresponding 
exceptions to anti-backsliding provisions is provided in the sections that follow.  
 
3.0 Description of Facility and Discharge 
 
3.1 Location and Type of Facility 
 
The locations of the treatment plant and Outfalls 001 and 002 to Cape Cod Canal are shown in 
Figure 1. The latitude and longitude of both outfalls is Latitude 41° 44' 23" and Longitude -70 
°37'18". Outfall 001, which discharges treated sanitary wastewater, consists of an eight inch 
diameter pipe with the invert at discharge, located approximately 12 feet below Mean Low 
Water. The Cape Cod Canal contains a federal navigation channel which is currently maintained 
at a depth of approximately 25 to 32 feet. Outfall 002 discharges onto the riprap of the Cape Cod 
Canal. Swimming pool discharges at Outfall 002 are conducted at an accessible manhole prior to 
the outfall since the outfall is often submerged.   
 
Massachusetts Maritime Academy (MMA) is a public, state university that offers degree 
programs in the maritime industry. The campus serves about 1700 students during the academic 
year which runs from September to June, except for January and February when most of the 
students are out at sea. During the summer months, MMA provides programs for up to 500 
students who reside on campus. The MMA Wastewater Treatment Facility (WWTF) is an 
advanced wastewater treatment facility that is engaged in the collection and treatment of sanitary 
wastewater from the MMA campus and associated buildings and is similar to a municipal  
wastewater treatment plant. 
 
The Facility has a design flow of 77,000 gallons per day (GPD) and the median flow for the last 
5 years has been 25,000 GPD. The system is a separate system with no combined sewers. 
Wastewater is comprised of domestic (sanitary) sewage from campus facilities and a once per 
year discharge of chiller water (condensate) from the facility HVAC system. In addition to the 
sanitary wastewater discharge, the 2011 Permit also authorized the discharge of boiler blowdown 
to Outfall 001. However, the Permittee notified EPA by email of April 28, 2021 that it no longer 
discharges any boiler blowdown to the receiving water. Therefore, the Draft Permit does not 
authorize the discharge of boiler blowdown to the receiving water.  
 
In addition, MMA has a swimming pool on campus from which a once per month discharge of 
about 10,000 gallons is necessary to adjust for proper water chemistry. These discharges are 
treated with chlorine and are dechlorinated and pH adjusted as necessary to stay within the 
permitted pH range as they are discharged to Outfall 002. On occasion, typically less than 
annually, the Permittee needs to discharge the swimming pool completely, which is a total of 
about 200,000 gallons.  



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 13 of 53 

 
 

The permittee does not have any major industries contributing industrial wastewater to the 
WWTP, and thus is not required to have a pretreatment program.  
 
A quantitative description of the discharge in terms of effluent parameters, based on monitoring 
data submitted by the permittee from May 2016 through March 2021 is provided in Appendix A 
of this Fact Sheet.  
 

3.1.1 Treatment Process Description 
 
The MMA WWTF is an activated sludge wastewater treatment facility providing secondary 
wastewater treatment using a sequencing batch reactor. A schematic of the MMA WWTF is 
shown in Figure 2. 
 
The MMA WWTF receives sanitary wastewater from dormitories, classrooms, labs, laundry, 
gymnasium, and kitchen. The facility also receives sanitary wastewater from the training ship 
Enterprise when it is docked at the campus that is pumped from a lift station at the pier. In 
addition, there is about 400 gallons of chiller water from the HVAC system that is discharged to 
the WWTF once during the summer. The collection system includes 2 lift stations. At the 
treatment facility, wastewater is either pumped to a 15,000 gallon equalization tank and 
subsequently pumped to the treatment plant building, or pumped directly to the treatment plant 
building. In the treatment plant building, wastewater first flows through screening and grit 
removal facilities. Magnesium hydroxide is then added to increase alkalinity by a metering 
pump, followed by activated sludge treatment and clarification in sequencing batch reactors. 
Treated effluent is then discharged to a post equalization tank and pumped to rapid sand filters 
and a recently installed disk filter, followed by disinfection with ultraviolet (UV) light. The 
Facility has maintained a chlorine disinfection and dechlorination system for use in the event of 
failure of the UV system. Finally, effluent is discharged to the Cape Cod Canal through Outfall 
001. Sludge is decanted to an aerated storage/digester tank. About 300,000 gallons of thickened 
sludge is removed each year and hauled away by Wind River Environmental for disposal at the 
Plymouth, MA Wastewater Treatment Plant. 
 
MMA’s swimming pool has a capacity of 200,000 gallons. Approximately once per month, up to 
10,000 gallons of pool water is discharged to Outfall 002 for chemical balancing, with the 
discharge duration of an hour or two. The concentration of total residual chlorine (TRC) is tested 
prior to release of pool water through Outfall 002. The pool water is treated with calcium 
thiosulfate and when the residual chlorine is not detected, the pool water is discharged.  
 
There may be rare occasions when the pool will need to be completely emptied for maintenance. 
The Draft Permit requires the permittee to notify both EPA and MassDEP in advance of any full 
swimming pool discharges and to adequately dechlorinate these discharges for their duration. 
The complete discharge of the pool takes place over approximately a full calendar day and 
testing of the pool water is conducted throughout the discharge.    
 
 
 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 14 of 53 

 
 

3.1.2 Collection System Description 
 
The MMA WWTF is served by a separate sewer system. A separate sanitary sewer conveys 
domestic, industrial, and commercial sewage, but not stormwater. It is part of a “two pipe 
system” consisting of separate sanitary sewers and storm sewers. The two systems have no 
interconnections; the sanitary sewer leads to the wastewater treatment plant and the storm sewers 
discharge to the Cape Cod Canal. 
 
4.0 Description of Receiving Water and Dilution 
 
4.1 Receiving Water 
 
The Permittee discharges through Outfalls 001 and 002 into the Cape Cod Canal, within 
Segment MA95-14. This segment is 11.3 miles in length and encompasses the connection 
between Cape Cod Bay and Buzzards Bay in Sandwich and Bourne, respectively. The discharges 
are in close proximity to the end of Cape Cod Canal that empties into Buzzards Bay.      
 
Cape Cod Canal is classified as a Class SB water. The Massachusetts Surface Water Quality 
Standards (MAWQSs) at 314 CMR 4.05(4)(b) describes Class SB waters as follows: “These 
waters are designated as a habitat for fish, other aquatic life and wildlife, including for their 
reproduction, migration, growth and other critical functions, and for primary and secondary 
contact recreation. In certain waters, habitat for fish, other aquatic life and wildlife may include, 
but is not limited to, seagrass…These waters shall have consistently good aesthetic value.”     
 
Cape Cod Canal/Buzzards Bay is listed in the final Massachusetts Year 2016 Integrated List of 
Waters (“303(d) List”) as a Category 4A “TMDL is completed.”5 The Final Pathogen TMDL for 
the Buzzards Bay Watershed was published by MassDEP in March 2009.6 According to the 
Buzzards Bay Watershed 2000 Water Quality Assessment Report7, for those portions that have 
been assessed, this water body segment is attaining uses designated for shellfish harvesting and 
primary and secondary contact recreation, while designated uses for aquatic life, aesthetics, and 
fish consumption have not been assessed. The status of each designated use is shown in Table 1. 
 
                           Table 1 – Summary of Designated Uses and Listing Status 
Designated Use Status 
Aquatic Life Not Assessed 
Aesthetics Not Assessed 
Primary Contact Recreation 0.67 mi2 – support; 0.46 mi2 - Not Assessed 
Secondary Contact Recreation 0.67 mi2 – support; 0.46 mi2 - Not Assessed 
Shellfish Harvesting 0.67 mi2 – support; 0.46 mi2 - Not Assessed 

Fecal coliform – unknown source 
Fish Consumption Not Assessed 

 
5 Massachusetts Year 2016 Integrated List of Waters, MassDEP Division of Watershed Management Watershed 
Planning Program, Worcester, Massachusetts, December 2019. 
6 https://www.mass.gov/doc/final-pathogen-tmdl-for-the-buzzards-bay-watershed-0/download 
7 https://www.mass.gov/doc/buzzards-bay-2000-water-quality-assessment-report-s-i/download 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 15 of 53 

 
 

 
The 2009 Pathogen TMDL specifies wasteload allocations (WLA) for indicator bacteria 
depending on the waterbody classification. For Class SB waters that are designated for 
shellfishing with depuration, the indicator bacteria is fecal coliform and the WLA required for 
point source discharges are a geometric mean or median of 88 organisms per 100 mL nor shall 
10% of the samples exceed 260 organisms per 100 mL. As noted in 5.1.7, below, more stringent 
limitations from the 2011 Permit will be maintained due to anti-backsliding requirements.      
 
4.2 Ambient Data 
 
A summary of the ambient data collected in the receiving water in the vicinity of the outfall that 
is referenced in this Fact Sheet can be found in Appendix A of this Fact Sheet. 
 
4.3 Available Dilution 
 
To ensure that discharges do not cause or contribute to violations of WQS under all expected 
conditions, WQBELs are derived assuming critical conditions for the receiving water8. The 
critical flow in rivers and streams is some measure of the low flow of that river or stream. State 
WQSs require that for rivers and streams, the lowest condition is the lowest mean flow for seven 
consecutive days, recorded once in 10 years, or 7-day 10-year low flow (7Q10). See 314 CMR 
4.03(3)(a). 
 
The 2011 permit relied on a dilution study conducted as part of a Draft Environmental Impact 
Report for a project at Otis Air National Guard Base (1989), citing a dilution of 6400:1. In 2016, 
Woods Hole Oceanographic Institute (WHOI) conducted hydrodynamic modeling in the vicinity 
of MMA for the purpose of considering the redirection of the Town of Wareham’s WWTF 
discharge to the Cape Cod Canal.9 This modeling determined that a 1000:1 dilution contour 
around the vicinity of MMA Outfall 001 was roughly 45 meters by 300 meters and encompassed 
an area of approximately 0.13 square kilometers. A more conservative dilution contour of 500:1 
around a smaller area of the outfall was also graphed and could be used for the purposes of this 
permit to represent a worst case condition such as occurs during slack tide. Therefore, the 
dilution ratio of 500:1, representing a small area around Outfalls 001 and 002, will be used for 
reasonable potential analyses, as applicable, in this Draft Permit.     
 
5.0  Proposed Effluent Limitations and Conditions 
 
The proposed effluent limitations and conditions derived under the CWA and State WQSs are 
described below. These proposed effluent limitations and conditions, the basis of which are 
discussed throughout this Fact Sheet, may be found in Part I of the Draft Permit.  
 
 
 

 
8 EPA Permit Writer’s Manual, Section 6. 
9 Assessing the Impact of Increased Effluent Discharge into Cape Cod Canal, Churchill, J, Cowles,G., Rheuban, J.   
WHOI, 2016  



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 16 of 53 

 
 

5.1 Effluent Limitations and Monitoring Requirements  
 
In addition to the State and Federal regulations described in Section 2, data submitted by the 
Permittee in its permit application, in monthly discharge monitoring reports (DMRs) and in WET 
test reports from May 2016 to March 2021 (the “review period”) were used to identify the 
pollutants of concern and to evaluate the discharge during the effluent limitations development 
process (See Appendix A).The reasonable potential analysis is included in Appendix B and 
results are discussed in the sections below. 
 

5.1.1 Effluent Flow 
 

Outfall 001 
 
The effluent flow limit in the 2011 Permit is 77,000 GPD, as a rolling annual average flow, 
based on the Facility’s design flow. The DMR data during the review period shows that there 
have been no violations of the flow limit. During the review period, the monthly average effluent 
flow ranged from 3000 GPD to 42,000 GPD with a median of 25,000 GPD.   
 
The Draft Permit continues the 77,000 GPD flow limit from the 2011 Permit. The Draft Permit 
requires that flow be measured continuously and that the rolling annual average flow, as well as 
the average monthly and maximum daily flow for each month be reported. The rolling annual 
average flow is calculated as the average of the flow for the reporting month and 11 previous 
months.  
 

Outfall 002 
 
The 2011 Permit authorized the discharge of a daily maximum of 10,000 GPD from the facility 
swimming pool. This discharge occurs about once per month to adjust pool water chemistry. 
This daily maximum flow limit is maintained in the Draft Permit and the Permittee is required to 
dechlorinate this water prior to discharge. This discharge has occurred monthly and has ranged 
from 6,500 to 10,000 gallons. Once every several years, the Permittee empties its swimming pool 
entirely, which is a discharge of about 200,000 gallons. During the review period, the Permittee 
discharged the pool entirely one time, in September 2016, with a reported discharge of 187,000 
gallons. The Permittee is required to notify EPA and MassDEP prior to any complete discharge 
of the pool. Although the 2011 Permit did not require sampling of an entire pool discharge, the 
Draft Permit requires sampling every hour for the same parameters and with the same limits as 
the monthly swimming pool discharge. 
 

5.1.2 Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD5)  

5.1.2.1 BOD5 Concentration Limits 

The BOD5 limits in the 2011 Permit were established at an average monthly value of 30 mg/L 
and a weekly average weekly value of 45 mg/L. The daily maximum concentration was required 
to be monitored only. These limits are based on the secondary treatment standards in 40 CFR 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 17 of 53 

 
 

§ 133.102. The DMR data during the review period shows that there have been no exceedances 
of BOD5 concentration limits with a median value of 6.85 mg/L and a high value of 10.1 mg/L. 
 
The Draft Permit proposes the same BOD5 concentration limits as in the 2011 Permit as no new 
WLAs have been established and there have been no changes to the secondary treatment 
standards. The monitoring frequency remains once per week. 
 

5.1.3 Total Suspended Solids (TSS)  

5.1.3.1 TSS Concentration Limits 

The TSS limits in the 2011 Permit were established at an average monthly value of 30 mg/L and 
a weekly average weekly value of 45 mg/L.  The daily maximum concentration was required to 
be monitored only. These limits were based on the secondary treatment standards in 40 CFR 
§ 133.102. The DMR data during the review period shows that there was one exceedance of the 
30 mg/ monthly average limit, a value of 34 mg/L, with a median value of 8.3 mg/L. 
 
The Draft Permit proposes the same TSS concentration limits as in the 2011 Permit as no new 
WLAs have been established and there have been no changes to the secondary treatment 
standards. The monitoring frequency remains once per week. 
 

5.1.4 Eighty-Five Percent (85%) BOD5 and TSS Removal Requirement  
 
In accordance with the provisions of 40 CFR § 133.102(a)(3) and (b)(3), the 2011 Permit 
requires that the 30-day average percent removal for BOD5 and TSS greater than or equal to 
85%. The DMR data during the review period shows that the median BOD5 and TSS removal 
percentages were 95% and 96%, respectively. There were no exceedances of the 85% removal 
requirement for BOD5 or TSS during that period. 
 
The requirement to achieve a minimum of 85% BOD5 and TSS removal has been carried 
forward into the Draft Permit. 
 

5.1.5  Settleable Solids (SS) 
 
Daily monitoring for SS was required in the 2011 Permit. During the review period, SS was not 
detected. Since solids are adequately controlled by the permit’s TSS limits and SS is not 
specifically required by the regulations at 40 CFR § 133.102, the SS monitoring requirement has 
been eliminated from the permit. This change is allowed as an exception to the anti-backsliding 
regulations at 40 CFR §122.44(l)(2)(i)(B)(1) regarding new information. 
 

5.1.6 pH 
 
Consistent with the requirements of MA WQS at 314 CMR 4.05(3)(b)(3), the Permit requires 
that the pH of the effluent is not less than 6.5 or greater than 8.5 standard units at any time. The 
monitoring frequency is once per day for Outfall 001 and once per hour for any swimming pool 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 18 of 53 

 
 

discharge through Outfall 002. The DMR data during the review period show that there have 
been no violations of the pH limitations for either outfall.  
 
The pH requirements in the 2011 Permit are carried forward into the Draft Permit as there has 
been no change in the WQSs with regards to pH. The limitations are based on CWA 
301(b)(1)(C) and 40 CFR § 122.44(d). 
 

5.1.7 Bacteria 
 
The 2011 Permit includes effluent limitations for fecal coliform bacteria as the indicator bacteria 
to protect shellfishing uses in the receiving water. In accordance with the MAWQS at 314 CMR 
4.05(4)(b) 4.a., a monthly geometric mean of 14 colony forming units (cfu) and a maximum 
daily limit of 43 cfu/100 ml were established. Although the receiving water is classified as Class 
SB, the 2011 Permit carried over more stringent fecal coliform limits that were based on the 
Class SA water criteria. These limits will be maintained due to anti-backsliding requirements. 
During the review period, there were no exceedances of these limits and all the samples were 
non-detect.   
 
The 2011 Permit also includes effluent limits for bacteria using Enterococci bacteria as the 
indicator bacteria to protect recreational uses. The MA WQS at 314 CMR 4.05(4)(b) 4.b., require 
a monthly geometric mean of 35 cfu/100 ml and a maximum daily limit of 104 cfu/100 ml. The 
daily maximum limit of 276 cfu/100 ml in the 2011 Permit represents the 90% confidence level 
(distribution) of the geometric mean of 104 cfu/100 ml. The MassDEP has determined that the 
90% confidence level is appropriate for setting the maximum daily bacteria limit. The DMR data 
during the review period shows very few detections of this parameter with no exceedances of the 
permit limits. 
 

5.1.8 Total Residual Chlorine 
 
Chlorine compounds produced by the chlorination of wastewater can be extremely toxic to 
aquatic life. For Outfall 001, the Permittee uses a UV disinfection system for bacteria and the 
2011 Permit did not include effluent limitations for total residual chlorine (TRC). For Outfall 
002, a daily maximum TRC limit of 1.0 mg/L was established in the 2011 Permit, due to the 
presence of residual chlorine in the swimming pool. 
 
Effluent limits for TRC are based on the instream chlorine criteria defined in National 
Recommended Water Quality Criteria: 2002, EPA 822R-02-047 (November 2002), as adopted 
by the MassDEP into the state water quality standards at 314 CMR 4.05(5)(e). The marine 
saltwater criteria for chlorine are 7.5 ug/L (chronic) and 13 ug/L (acute).  Given an estimated 
dilution factor of 500, the water quality based total residual chlorine limitations would be 
calculated as follows:    
 
Chronic criteria * dilution factor = Chronic limit 
7.5 ug/L * 500 = 3750 ug/L = 3.75 mg/L (average monthly) 
 
 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 19 of 53 

 
 

Acute criteria * dilution factor = Acute limit 
13 ug/L * 500 = 6500 ug/L = 6.5 mg/L (maximum daily) 
 
However, the MassDEP Implementation Policy for the Control of Toxic Pollutants in Surface 
Waters (February 23, 1990) requires that to protect waters from unnecessary discharge of 
chlorine, effluent limits for discharges with dilution factors greater 100 shall not exceed 1 mg/l.  
Therefore, the 2011 Permit included a maximum daily total residual chlorine limitation of 1 mg/l 
for Outfall 002, based on the MassDEP policy. This Draft Permit carries over this limit for 
Outfall 002 for all discharges of swimming pool water, including those less frequent and 
complete discharge events of approximately 200,000 gallons. The sampling frequency has been 
increased to once per hour to assure that adequate dechlorination is occuring throughout the 
discharge.    
 
For Outfall 001, the limit of 1.0 mg/L is established and would apply only during periods that the 
Permittee uses a backup chlorination system for disinfection, such as when the facility’s UV 
system is inoperable or any sand filters are being repaired. During such periods, TRC is required 
to be monitored three times per day whenever chlorination is occuring.    
 

5.1.9 Ammonia 
  
The 2011 Permit does not include ammonia limits, but the Permittee was required to monitor and 
report effluent ammonia concentrations on a quarterly basis and annually as part of the Whole 
Effluent Toxicity (WET) testing. Ambient data, taken upstream of the MMA outfall in the Cape 
Cod Canal, is presented in Appendix A and shows all results for the warm weather period (April 
1 through October 31) were non-detect, or zero. Since annual WET tests were conducted only 
during June, there are no cold weather period data for ammonia. 
 
The ammonia criteria in EPA’s National Recommended Water Quality Criteria, 2002 (EPA 822-
R-02-047) document are included by reference in the Massachusetts WQS (See 314 CMR 
4.05(5)(e)). The marine water quality criteria are dependent on pH and temperature.  
In determining whether the discharge has the reasonable potential to cause or contribute to 
excursions above the instream water quality criteria for ammonia, EPA used the mass balance 
equation presented in Appendix B for both warm and cold weather conditions to project the 
ammonia concentration downstream of the discharge. If there is reasonable potential, this mass 
balance equation is also used to determine the limit that is required in the permit.  
 
To determine the applicable ammonia criteria, EPA assumes a warm weather temperature of 25° 
C and a cold weather temperature of 5° C. EPA used the ambient pH monitoring shown in 
Appendix A, which indicates that the median pH is 7.82 S.U.  
 
Based on the information and assumptions described above, Appendix B presents the applicable 
ammonia criteria, the details of the mass balance equation, the reasonable potential 
determination, and, if necessary, the limits required in the Draft Permit. As shown, there is no 
reasonable potential to cause or contribute to an excursion of WQS, so the Draft Permit does not 
propose ammonia limits. 
 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 20 of 53 

 
 

Effluent and ambient monitoring for ammonia will continue to be required in the quarterly WET 
tests. 
 

5.1.10 Nutrients 
 
Nutrients are compounds containing nitrogen and phosphorus. Although nitrogen and 
phosphorus are essential for plant growth, high concentrations of these nutrients can cause 
eutrophication, a condition in which aquatic plant and algal growth is excessive. Plant and algae 
respiration and decomposition reduces dissolved oxygen in the water, creating poor habitat for 
fish and other aquatic animals. Recent studies provide evidence that both phosphorus and 
nitrogen can play a role in the eutrophication of certain ecosystems. However, typically 
phosphorus is the limiting nutrient triggering eutrophication in freshwater ecosystems and 
nitrogen in marine or estuarine ecosystems. Thus, for this receiving water and this permit, 
nitrogen is the nutrient of concern evaluated for effluent limitations in the discussion below. 

5.1.10.1 Total Nitrogen 

Nitrogen is an essential nutrient for plant growth. However, elevated concentrations of nitrogen 
can result in eutrophication, where nutrient concentrations lead to excessive plant and algal 
growth. Respiration and decomposition of plants and algae under eutrophic conditions reduce 
dissolved oxygen in the water and can create poor habitat for aquatic organisms. Total Nitrogen 
is the sum of Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN) (ammonium, organic and reduced nitrogen) and 
nitrate-nitrite. It is derived by individually monitoring for organic nitrogen compounds, 
ammonia, nitrate, and nitrite and adding the components together. 
 
The MMA WWTP discharges to the Cape Cod Canal in the Buzzards Bay Watershed. The 2011 
Permit required quarterly monitoring for total Kjeldahl nitrogen, nitrate and nitrite, the sum of 
which provides the total nitrogen (TN) concentration. Using the TN concentration data and 
average monthly flow data, the calculated annual average total nitrogen loading from the MMA 
facility ranged from 0 lb/day to 110 lb/day and averaged 69 lb/day during the review period.  
 
The Facility discharges to the Cape Cod Canal which empties to the Buzzards Bay watershed.  
The 2011 permit noted that MMA loading is a very small percentage (0.000017%) of the overall 
nitrogen loading to the watershed. The 2011 Permit required the Permittee to evaluate 
alternatives for operating the treatment plant to optimize the removal of nitrogen. In a report 
dated April 20, 2012, the Permittee determined that a third treatment train with increased 
detention times and aeration with chemical addition in the equalization tank would be required to 
meet a target effluent nitrogen concentration of 10 mg/L.       
 
Although there are no impairments associated with nitrogen in Cape Cod Canal, there are some 
impairments in certain coves of Buzzards Bay. Therefore, EPA has determined that the facility 
must continue to optimize its treatment plant for the removal of total nitrogen.  
 
Specifically, the Draft Permit requires the continued evaluation of treatment facility operations to 
minimize nitrogen discharges, along with annual reports to summarize progress and activities 
related to optimizing nitrogen removal efficiencies and track trends relative to previous years. In 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 21 of 53 

 
 

addition to the optimization requirements, the Draft Permit continues monthly monitoring for 
total nitrogen (TN). For compliance reporting on monthly DMRs, the Draft Permit requires the 
reporting of monthly average TN load and concentration along with its components: total 
kjeldahl nitrogen, nitrite and nitrate. 
 

5.1.11 Metals 

5.1.11.1 Applicable Metals Criteria 

State water quality criteria for cadmium, copper, lead, nickel and zinc are established in terms of 
dissolved metals. However, many inorganic components of domestic wastewater, including 
metals, are in particulate form, and differences in the chemical composition between the effluent 
and the receiving water affects the partitioning of metals between the particulate and dissolved 
fractions as the effluent mixes with the receiving water, often resulting in a transition from the 
particulate to dissolved form (The Metals Translator: Guidance for Calculating a Total 
Recoverable Permit Limit from a Dissolved Criterion (USEPA 1996 [EPA-823-B96-007]). 
Consequently, quantifying only the dissolved fraction of metals in the effluent prior to discharge 
may not accurately reflect the biologically available portion of metals in the receiving water. 
Regulations at 40 CFR § 122.45(c) require, with limited exceptions, that effluent limits for 
metals in NPDES permits be expressed as total recoverable metals.  

The criteria for cadmium, copper, lead, nickel and zinc are presented in Appendix B, based on  
EPA’s National Recommended Water Quality Criteria: 2002, which are incorporated into the 
Massachusetts WQS by reference.  

5.1.11.2 Reasonable Potential Analysis and Limit Derivation 

To determine whether the effluent has the reasonable potential to cause or contribute to an 
exceedance above the in-stream water quality criteria for each metal, EPA uses the mass balance 
equation presented in Appendix B to project the concentration downstream of the discharge and, 
if applicable, to determine the limit required in the permit.  
 
For any metal with an existing limit in the 2011 Permit, the same mass balance equation is used 
to determine if a more stringent limit would be required to continue to meet WQS under current 
conditions. The limit is determined to be the more stringent of either (1) the existing limit or (2) 
the calculated effluent concentration (Cd) allowable to meet WQS based on current conditions.  
 
Based on the information described above, the results of this analysis for each metal are 
presented in Appendix B. As shown, there is no reasonable potential determined for any of the 
metals considered. For Outfall 002, the 2011 Permit carried over a daily maximum limit of 0.5 
mg/L for total copper. The Permittee has discontinued the use of a copper/silver ionization 
process in the swimming pool to reduce the formation of chlorination byproducts. (phone 
conversation between Kathy Driscoll of MMA and G. Papadopoulos of EPA on 8/4/21). 
However, since potable water is used for the swimming pool and copper is still being detected at 
low levels in the Outfall 002 effluent, the copper limit will remain due to anti-backsliding.       
 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 22 of 53 

 
 

Effluent and ambient monitoring for each of these metals will continue to be required in the 
WET tests.  
 

5.1.12 Whole Effluent Toxicity 
 
CWA §§ 402(a)(2) and 308(a) provide EPA and States with the authority to require toxicity 
testing. Section 308 specifically describes biological monitoring methods as techniques that may 
be used to carry out objectives of the CWA. Whole effluent toxicity (WET) testing is conducted 
to ensure that the additivity, antagonism, synergism and persistence of the pollutants in the 
discharge do not cause toxicity, even when the pollutants are present at low concentrations in the 
effluent. The inclusion of WET requirements in the Draft Permit will assure that the Facility does 
not discharge combinations of pollutants into the receiving water in amounts that would be toxic 
to aquatic life or human health. 
 
In addition, under CWA § 301(b)(1)(C), discharges are subject to effluent limitations based on 
WQSs. Under CWA §§ 301, 303 and 402, EPA and the States may establish toxicity-based 
limitations to implement the narrative water quality criteria calling for “no toxics in toxic 
amounts”. See also 40 CFR § 122.44(d)(1). The Massachusetts WQSs at 314 CMR 4.05(5)(e) 
state, “All surface waters shall be free from pollutants in concentrations or combinations that are 
toxic to humans, aquatic life or wildlife.”  
 
National studies conducted by EPA have demonstrated that domestic sources, as well as 
industrial sources, contribute toxic constituents to POTWs. These constituents include metals, 
chlorinated solvents, aromatic hydrocarbons and others. Some of these constituents may cause 
synergistic effects, even if they are present in low concentrations. Because of the source 
variability and contribution of toxic constituents in domestic and industrial sources, reasonable 
potential may exist for this discharge to cause or contribute to an exceedance of the “no toxics in 
toxic amounts” narrative water quality standard.  
 
In accordance with current EPA guidance and State policy10, whole effluent chronic effects are 
regulated by limiting the highest measured continuous concentration of an effluent that causes no 
observed chronic effect on a representative standard test organism, known as the chronic No 
Observed Effect Concentration (C-NOEC). Whole effluent acute effects are regulated by limiting 
the concentration that is lethal to 50% of the test organisms, known as the LC50. This policy 
recommends that permits for discharges having a dilution factor less than 10 require acute and 
chronic toxicity testing four times per year for two species. Additionally, for discharges with 
dilution factors less than 10, the C-NOEC effluent limit should be greater than or equal to the 
receiving water concentration and the LC50 limit should be greater than or equal to 100%. 
 
Due to the high dilution available to this discharge at Outfall 001, the acute WET limit in the 
2011 Permit is an LC50 greater than or equal to 50%, using Mysid shrimp (Mysidopsis bahia) as 

 
10 Massachusetts Water Quality Standards Implementation Policy for the Control of Toxic Pollutants in Surface 
Waters. February 23, 1990. 
 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 23 of 53 

 
 

the test species. The Facility has consistently met this limit with results of 100% for each of the 
last 5 years (Appendix A).  
 
Based on the potential for toxicity from domestic contributions, the state narrative water quality 
criterion, an estimated dilution factor of 500:1 and in accordance with EPA national and regional 
policy and 40 CFR § 122.44(d), the Draft Permit continues the effluent limit from the 2011 
Permit including the test organism and the annual testing frequency. Toxicity testing must be 
performed in accordance with the updated EPA Region 1 WET test procedure and protocol 
specified in Attachment A, Marine Acute Toxicity Test Procedure and Protocol (July 2012) of 
the Draft Permit. 
 

5.1.13 Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) 
 
As explained at https://www.epa.gov/pfas, PFAS are a group of synthetic chemicals that have 
been in use since the 1940s. PFAS are found in a wide array of consumer and industrial products. 
PFAS manufacturing and processing facilities, facilities using PFAS in production of other 
products, airports, and military installations can be contributors of PFAS releases into the air, 
soil, and water. Due to their widespread use and persistence in the environment, most people in 
the United States have been exposed to PFAS. Exposure to some PFAS above certain levels may 
increase risk of adverse health effects.11 EPA is collecting information to evaluate the potential 
impacts that discharges of PFAS from wastewater treatment plants may have on downstream 
drinking water, recreational and aquatic life uses.   
 
Background Information for Massachusetts 
 
On October 20, 2020, MassDEP published final regulations establishing a drinking water 
standard, or a Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) of 20 parts per trillion (ppt) for the sum of 
the following six PFAS:  [See 310 CMR 22.00] 
 

• Perfluorohexanesulfonic acid (PFHxS)  
• Perfluoroheptanoic acid (PFHpA)  
• Perfluorononanoic acid (PFNA) 
• Perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS)  
• Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA)  
• Perfluorodecanoic acid (PFDA)  

 
Although the Massachusetts water quality standards do not include numeric criteria for PFAS, 
the Massachusetts narrative criterion for toxic substances at 314 CMR 4.05(5)(e) states:  
 

All surface waters shall be free from pollutants in concentrations or combinations that are 
toxic to humans, aquatic life or wildlife.  

 
 

11 EPA, EPA’s Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) Action Plan, EPA 823R18004, February 2019.  
Available at: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2019-
02/documents/pfas_action_plan_021319_508compliant_1.pdf  

https://www.epa.gov/pfas
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2019-02/documents/pfas_action_plan_021319_508compliant_1.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2019-02/documents/pfas_action_plan_021319_508compliant_1.pdf


NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 24 of 53 

 
 

The narrative criterion is further elaborated at 314 CMR 4.05(5)(e)2 which states:  
 

Human Health Risk Levels. Where EPA has not set human health risk levels for a toxic 
pollutant, the human health-based regulation of the toxic pollutant shall be in accordance 
with guidance issued by the Department of Environmental Protection's Office of 
Research and Standards. The Department's goal is to prevent all adverse health effects 
which may result from the ingestion, inhalation or dermal absorption of toxins 
attributable to waters during their reasonable use as designated in 314 CMR 4.00.   

 
Since PFAS chemicals are persistent in the environment and may lead to adverse human health 
and environmental effects, the Draft Permit requires that the Facility conduct quarterly influent, 
effluent and sludge sampling for PFAS chemicals and annual sampling of certain industrial 
users, the first full calendar quarter beginning six months after EPA has notified the Permittee 
that appropriate, multi-lab validated test methods are made available by EPA to the public. 
 
The purpose of this monitoring and reporting requirement is to better understand potential 
discharges of PFAS from this facility and to inform future permitting decisions, including the 
potential development of water quality-based effluent limits on a facility specific basis. EPA is 
authorized to require this monitoring and reporting by CWA § 308(a), which states:  
 

“SEC. 308. (a) Whenever required to carry out the objective of this Act, including but not 
limited to (1) developing or assisting in the development of any effluent limitation, or 
other limitation, prohibition, or effluent standard, pretreatment standard, or standard of 
performance under this Act; (2) determining whether any person is in violation of any 
such effluent limitation, or other limitation, prohibition or effluent standard, pretreatment 
standard, or standard of performance; (3) any requirement established under this section; 
or (4) carrying out sections 305, 311, 402, 404 (relating to State permit programs), 405, 
and 504 of this Act—  

 
(A) the Administrator shall require the owner or operator of any point source to (i) 

establish and maintain such records, (ii) make such reports, (iii) install, use, 
and maintain such monitoring equipment or methods (including where 
appropriate, biological monitoring methods), (iv) sample such effluents (in 
accordance with such methods, at such locations, at such intervals, and in such 
manner as the Administrator shall prescribe), and (v) provide such other 
information as he may reasonably require;”.  

 
Since an EPA method for sampling and analyzing PFAS in wastewater and sludge is not 
currently available, the PFAS sampling requirement in the Draft Permit includes a compliance 
schedule which delays the effective date of this requirement until the first full calendar quarter 
beginning 6 months after EPA has notified the Permittee that a multi-lab validated method for 
wastewater and biosolids is made available to the public on EPA’s CWA methods program 
websites. For wastewater see https://www.epa.gov/cwa-methods/other-clean-water-act-test-
methods-chemical and https://www.epa.gov/cwa-methods. For biosolids, see 
https://www.epa.gov/cwa-methods/other-clean-water-act-test-methods-biosolids. EPA expects 
these methods will be available by the end of 2022. This approach is consistent with 40 CFR § 

https://www.epa.gov/cwa-methods/other-clean-water-act-test-methods-chemical
https://www.epa.gov/cwa-methods/other-clean-water-act-test-methods-chemical
https://www.epa.gov/cwa-methods
https://www.epa.gov/cwa-methods/other-clean-water-act-test-methods-biosolids


NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 25 of 53 

 
 

122.44(i)(1)(iv)(B) which states that in the case of pollutants or pollutant parameters for which 
there are no approved methods under 40 CFR Part 136 or methods are not otherwise required 
under 40 CFR chapter I, subchapter N or O, monitoring shall be conducted according to a test 
procedure specified in the permit for such pollutants or pollutant parameters.   
 
5.2 Sludge Conditions 
 
Section 405(d) of the Clean Water Act requires that EPA develop technical standards regarding 
the use and disposal of sewage sludge. On February 19, 1993, EPA promulgated technical 
standards. These standards are required to be implemented through permits. The conditions in 
the permit satisfy this requirement. 
 
5.3 Infiltration/Inflow (I/I) 
 
Infiltration is groundwater that enters the collection system though physical defects such as 
cracked pipes, or deteriorated joints. Inflow is extraneous flow entering the collection system 
through point sources such as roof leaders, yard and area drains, sump pumps, manhole covers, 
tide gates, and cross connections from storm water systems. Significant I/I in a collection system 
may displace sanitary flow, reducing the capacity and the efficiency of the treatment works and 
may cause bypasses to secondary treatment. It greatly increases the potential for sanitary sewer 
overflows (SSOs) in separate systems, and combined sewer overflows (CSOs) in combined 
systems. 
 
The Draft Permit includes a requirement for the permittee to control infiltration and inflow (I/I) 
within the sewer collection system it owns and operates. The permittee shall continue to 
implement an I/I removal program commensurate with the severity of I/I in the collection 
system. This program may be scaled down in sections of the collection system that have minimal 
I/I. 
 
5.4 Operation and Maintenance of the Sewer System 
 
The standard permit conditions for ‘Proper Operation and Maintenance’, found at 40 CFR 
§ 122.41(e), require the proper operation and maintenance of permitted wastewater systems and 
related facilities to achieve compliance with permit conditions. The requirements at 40 CFR 
§ 122.41(d) impose a ‘duty to mitigate,’ which requires the permittee to “take all reasonable 
steps to minimize or prevent any discharge in violation of the permit that has a reasonable 
likelihood of adversely affecting human health or the environment. EPA maintains that an I/I 
removal program is an integral component of ensuring permit compliance with the requirements 
of the permit under the provisions at 40 CFR § 122.41(d) and (e). 
 
General requirements for proper operation and maintenance, and mitigation have been included 
in Part II of the permit. Specific permit conditions have also been included in Part I.C. and I.D. 
of the Draft Permit. These requirements include mapping of the wastewater collection system, 
preparing and implementing a collection system operation and maintenance plan, reporting of 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 26 of 53 

 
 

unauthorized discharges including SSOs, maintaining an adequate maintenance staff12, 
performing preventative maintenance, controlling inflow and infiltration to separate sewer 
collection systems (combined systems are not subject to I/I requirements) to the extent necessary 
to prevent SSOs and I/I related effluent violations at the Facility, and maintaining alternate 
power where necessary. These requirements are included to minimize the occurrence of permit 
violations that have a reasonable likelihood of adversely affecting human health or the 
environment. 
 
Several of the requirements in the Draft Permit are not included in the 2011 Permit, including 
collection system mapping, and preparation of a collection system operation and maintenance 
plan. EPA has determined that these additional requirements are necessary to ensure the proper 
operation and maintenance of the collection system and has included schedules in the Draft 
Permit for completing these requirements. 
  
5.5 Standard Conditions 
 
The standard conditions of the permit are based on 40 CFR §122, Subparts A, C, and D and 40 
CFR § 124, Subparts A, D, E, and F and are consistent with management requirements common 
to other permits. 
 
Federal Permitting Requirements 
 
5.6 Endangered Species Act 
 
Section 7(a) of the Endangered Species Act of 1973, as amended (ESA), grants authority and 
imposes requirements on Federal agencies regarding endangered or threatened species of fish, 
wildlife, or plants (listed species) and habitat of such species that has been designated as critical 
(a “critical habitat”).  
 
Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA requires every Federal agency, in consultation with and with the 
assistance of the Secretary of Interior, to ensure that any action it authorizes, funds or carries out, 
in the United States or upon the high seas, is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of 
any listed species or result in the destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat.  The 
United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) administers Section 7 consultations for 
freshwater species. The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Fisheries Service 
(NOAA Fisheries) administers Section 7 consultations for marine and anadromous species. 
 
The Federal action being considered in this case is EPA’s proposed NPDES permit for the 
Massachusetts Maritime Academy. The Draft Permit is intended to replace the 2011 Permit in 
governing the Facility. As the federal agency charged with authorizing the discharge from this 
Facility, EPA determines potential impacts to federally listed species, and initiates consultation, 
when required under Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.    
 

 
12 See 314 CMR 12.04(3) and (4) for guidance on proper staffing to assure proper operation and maintenance of 
wastewater treatment facilities 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 27 of 53 

 
 

EPA has reviewed the federal endangered or threatened species of fish, wildlife, and plants in the 
expected action area of the outfall to determine if EPA’s proposed NPDES permit could 
potentially impact any such listed species in this section of the Cape Cod Canal within Segment 
MA95-14. 
 
Regarding protected species under the jurisdiction of NOAA Fisheries, a number of anadromous 
and marine species and life stages are present in Massachusetts waters. Various life stages 
of protected fish, sea turtles and whales have been documented in Massachusetts coastal and 
inland waters, either seasonally or year-round.  In general, adult and subadult life stages of 
Atlantic sturgeon (Acipenser oxyrinchus) and adult shortnose sturgeon (Acipenser brevirostrom) 
are present in coastal waters. These sturgeon life stages are also found in some river systems in 
Massachusetts, along with early life stages of protected sturgeon and juvenile shortnose sturgeon.  
Protected marine species, including adult and juvenile life stages of leatherback sea turtles 
(Dermochelys coriacea), loggerhead sea turtles (Caretta caretta), Kemp’s ridley sea 
turtles (Lepidochelys kempii) and green sea turtles (Chelonia mydas) are found in coastal waters 
and bays. Adult and juvenile life stages of North Atlantic right whales (Eubalaena glacialis) and 
fin whales (Balaenoptera physalus) have also been documented in coastal waters and bays. Those 
coastal areas have been designated as critical habitat for North Atlantic right whale feeding.   
 
In this case, the Facility’s outfall and action area overlap with coastal waters where protected 
marine species are found. The Facility’s discharges are directly into the Cape Cod Canal, which 
is a portion of the larger Buzzard’s Bay, which drains into the Atlantic Ocean. Two species of 
anadromous fish, the shortnose sturgeon (Acipenser brevirostrom) and the Atlantic sturgeon 
(Acipenser oxyrhynchus), are potentially present in the vicinity of the discharge. In general, adult 
shortnose sturgeon (SNS) and adult Atlantic sturgeon (ATS) are present in coastal waters. The 
Cape Cod Canal is possibly home for multiple lifestages, including adult and juvenile sturgeon 
that are expected to migrate, forage and overwinter in the area, young of year sturgeon that are 
expected to migrate and forage in the area and post yolk-sac larvae sturgeon that are expected to 
migrate and forage in the area. Also present in the action area are four species of sea turtle, 
including: the leatherback sea turtle (Dermochelys coriacea), green sea turtle (Chelonia mydas), 
kemp’s ridley sea turtle (Lepidochelys kempii), and the loggerhead sea turtle (Caretta caretta). 
This section of Buzzards Bay is known to be active migrating and foraging habitat for both adult 
and juvenile sea turtles, likely passing through the area as part of their larger annual migration 
route. The action area also overlaps with habitat for two Atlantic large whale species, the North 
Atlantic right whale (Eubalaena glacialis) and the fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus). Adult and 
juvenile whales are known to migrate, forage, and overwinter in and around the action area of the 
discharge.  
 
Because these species may be affected by the discharges authorized by the proposed permit, EPA 
has thoroughly evaluated the potential impacts of the permit action on these protected species 
through the preparation of a Biological Assessment (BA). EPA is in the process of finalizing the 
BA. On the basis of the evaluation, EPA’s preliminary determination is that this action may 
affect, but is not likely to adversely affect, the life stages of the protected species which are 
expected to inhabit the Cape Cod Canal in the vicinity of the action area of the discharge. 
Therefore, EPA has judged that a formal consultation pursuant to section 7 of the ESA is not 
required. EPA is seeking concurrence from NOAA Fisheries regarding this determination 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 28 of 53 

 
 

through the information in the Draft Permit, this Fact Sheet, as well as the detailed BA that will 
be sent to NOAA Fisheries Protected Resources Division during the Draft Permit’s public 
comment period. 
 
For protected species under the jurisdiction of the USFWS, three listed species, the northern 
long-eared bat (Myotis septentrionalis), the roseate tern (Sterna dougallii dougallii), and the 
Plymouth redbelly turtle (Pseudemys rubriventris bangsi) were identified as potentially 
occurring in the action area of the Facility’s discharge.  
 
According to the USFWS, the threatened northern long-eared bat is found in the following 
habitats based on seasons, “winter – mines and caves; summer – wide variety of forested 
habitats.” This species is not considered aquatic. However, because the Facility’s projected 
action area in the Cape Cod Canal near Buzzards Bay, MA overlaps with the general statewide 
range of the northern long-eared bat, EPA prepared an Effects Determination Letter for the 
Massachusetts Maritime Academy NPDES Permit Reissuance and submitted it to USFWS. 
Based on the information submitted by EPA, the USFWS notified EPA by letter, dated 
December 7, 2021, that the permit reissuance is consistent with activities analyzed in the 
USFWS January 5, 2016, Programmatic Biological Opinion (PBO).13 The PBO outlines 
activities that are excepted from “take” prohibitions applicable to the northern long-eared bat 
under the Endangered Species Act of 1973 (ESA) (87 Stat.884, as amended; 16 U.S.C. 1531 et 
seq.). The USFWS consistency letter concluded EPA’s consultation responsibilities for the 
Massachusetts Maritime Academy NPDES permitting action under ESA section 7(a)(2) with 
respect to the northern long-eared bat. No further ESA section 7 consultation is required with 
USFWS. 
 
The roseate tern has a historical range down the Atlantic Coast ranging from Maine to North 
Carolina, with additional habitat in Florida, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands. The roseate 
tern is classified as endangered throughout the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic and classified as 
threatened in Florida, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands. While not an aquatic species, the 
tern relies on the consumption of small fish and engages in a plunge-dive behavior where it is 
completely submerged to retrieve fish. Because the near shore canal action area of the Facility is 
not expected to overlap with the feeding behavior and habitat of the roseate tern, no ESA 
consultation with USFWS for this federal action is necessary regarding this species. 
   
The Plymouth redbelly turtle is an endangered reptile whose range stretches from the Western 
bank of the Cape Cod Bay to the Eastern edge of the city of Providence, Rhode Island. The range 
extends as far north as Brockton, MA, and as far south as New Bedford, MA. Critical habitat for 
the Plymouth redbelly turtle has been established by the USFWS but is not yet available for 
analysis. The turtle is an aquatic freshwater species commonly occuring in lakes, ponds, rivers, 
streams, and marshes. The permitted facility has an outfall directly discharging into the Cape 
Cod Canal and does not directly interact with freshwater bodies in or around the Facility. 
Subsequently, the permitted Facility’s action does not overlap with the Plymouth redbelly turtle 
or its habitat. No ESA consultation with USFWS for this federal action is necessary regarding 
this species. 

 
13 USFWS Event Code: 05E1NE00-2021-E-14173, September 2, 2021. 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 29 of 53 

 
 

 
At the beginning of the public comment period, EPA notified NOAA Fisheries Protected 
Resources Division and USFWS that the Draft Permit and Fact Sheet were available for review 
and provided a link to the EPA NPDES Permit website to allow direct access to the documents.  
 
ESA consultation with NOAA Fisheries is required as a result of this permitting action.  Once 
completed, re-initiation of consultation is required and shall be requested by the EPA or by 
USFWS/NOAA Fisheries where discretionary Federal involvement or control over the action has 
been retained or is authorized by law and: (a) If new information reveals effects of the action that 
may affect listed species or critical habitat in a manner or to an extent not previously considered 
in the analysis; (b) If the identified action is subsequently modified in a manner that causes an 
effect to the listed species or critical habitat that was not considered in this analysis; or (c) If a 
new species is listed or critical habitat designated that may be affected by the identified action. 
No take is anticipated or exempted. If there is any incidental take of a listed species, initiation 
of consultation would be required. 
 
5.7 Essential Fish Habitat 
 
Under the 1996 Amendments (PL 104-267) to the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and 
Management Act (see 16 U.S.C. § 1801 et seq., 1998), EPA is required to consult with the 
NOAA Fisheries if EPA’s action or proposed actions that it funds, permits, or undertakes, “may 
adversely impact any essential fish habitat”. See 16 U.S.C. § 1855(b).  
 
The Amendments broadly define “essential fish habitat” (EFH) as: “waters and substrate 
necessary to fish for spawning, breeding, feeding, or growth to maturity”. See 16 U.S.C. § 
1802(10). “Adverse impact” means any impact that reduces the quality and/or quantity of EFH. 
50 CFR § 600.910(a). Adverse effects may include direct (e.g., contamination or physical 
disruption), indirect (e.g., loss of prey, reduction in species’ fecundity), site specific or habitat-
wide impacts, including individual, cumulative, or synergistic consequences of actions. 
 
EFH is only designated for fish species for which federal Fisheries Management Plans exist. See 
16 U.S.C. § 1855(b)(1)(A). EFH designations for New England were approved by the U.S. 
Department of Commerce on March 3, 1999. A New England Fishery Management Council’s 
Omnibus Essential Fish Habitat Amendment in 2017 updated the descriptions.   
 
The Federal action being considered in this case is EPA’s proposed NPDES permit for the 
Massachusetts Maritime Academy, which discharges through Outfall 001 and Outfall 002, to the 
Cape Cod Canal segment MA 95-14, in Buzzards Bay, MA. The Cape Cod Canal is covered by 
EFH designation for ocean systems at Latitude 41º 44' 23" N, and Longitude 71º 22' 42" W, as 
determined by the NOAA EFH Mapper.14 EPA’s review of available EFH information indicated 
that this water body is designated EFH for 21 fish species and two habitat areas of particular 
concern. Therefore, consultation with NOAA Fisheries under the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery 
Conservation and Management Act is required. The following is a list of the EFH species and 
applicable life stage(s) for the Cape Cod Canal including waters in Buzzards Bay, MA: 

 
14 NOAA EFH Mapper available at https://www.habitat.noaa.gov/apps/efhmapper/ 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 30 of 53 

 
 

 
Species/Management Unit Lifestage(s) Found at Location 

Atlantic Wolffish ALL 
Winter Flounder  ALL 
Little Skate  Juvenile, Adult 
Atlantic Herring  Juvenile, Adult 
Atlantic Cod  ALL 
Red Hake  ALL 
Yellowtail Flounder  Juvenile, Adult 
Windowpane Flounder  Juvenile, Adult 
Winter Skate  Juvenile, Adult 
Ocean Pout  Eggs 
White Shark  Larvae 
Black Sea Bass  ALL 
Scup  ALL 
Northern Shortfin Squid  Adult 
Longfin Inshore Squid  Eggs, Juvenile, Adult 
Atlantic Mackerel  Eggs, Juvenile, Adult 
Bluefish  Juvenile, Adult 
Atlantic Butterfish  Eggs, Juvenile, Adult 
Spiny Dogfish  Juvenile, Adult 
Atlantic Surfclam  Juvenile, Adult 
Summer Flounder  Larvae, Juvenile, Adult 

HAPC Name 
Inshore 20m Juvenile Cod 

Summer Flounder 
 
EPA has determined that the operation of this Facility, as governed by this permit action, may 
adversely affect the EFH in the Cape Cod Canal. The Draft Permit has been conditioned in the 
following way to minimize any impacts that reduce the quality and/or quantity of EFH:  
 

5.7.1 EPA’s Finding of all Potential Impacts to EFH Species 
 

• This Draft Permit action does not constitute a new source of pollutants. It is the reissuance 
of an existing NPDES permit; 

• The Facility withdraws no water from the Cape Cod Canal, so the EFH will not be reduced 
in quality and/or quantity through impingement or entrainment of EFH designated species or 
their prey; 

• Acute toxicity tests will be conducted once a year to ensure that the discharge does not 
exhibit toxicity;      

 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2022 Fact Sheet 
  Page 31 of 53 

 
 

 
• Total suspended solids, biochemical oxygen demand, pH, Enterococcus, fecal coliform, 

total residual chlorine and acute toxicity are regulated by the Draft Permit to meet water 
quality standards; 

• The Draft Permit prohibits the discharge of pollutants or combination of pollutants in toxic 
amounts;  

• The effluent limitations and conditions in the Draft Permit were developed to be protective 
of all aquatic life; 

• The Draft Permit prohibits violations of the state water quality standards; and 
• The proposed Draft Permit requirements minimize any reduction in quality and/or quantity 

of EFH, either directly or indirectly. 
 
EPA believes that the conditions and limitations contained in the Draft Permit adequately protect 
all aquatic life, as well as the essential fish habitat in the Cape Cod Canal. Further mitigation is 
not warranted. Should adverse impacts to EFH be detected as a result of this permit action, or if 
new information is received that changes the basis for EPA’s conclusions, NOAA Fisheries 
Habitat and Ecosystem Services Division will be contacted and an EFH consultation will be re-
initiated.  
 
At the beginning of the public comment period, EPA notified NOAA Fisheries Habitat and 
Ecosystem Services Division that the Draft Permit and Fact Sheet were available for review and 
provided a link to the EPA NPDES Permit website to allow direct access to the documents.  
In addition to this Fact Sheet and the Draft Permit, information to support EPA’s finding was 
included in a letter under separate cover that will be sent to the NOAA Fisheries Habitat and 
Ecosystem Services Division during the public comment period. 

5.8 Coastal Zone Management (CZM) Consistency Review 
 
The regulation at 40 CFR § 122.49(d) states “The Coastal Zone Management Act, 16 U.S.C. 
1451 et seq. section 307(c) of the Act and implementing regulations (15 CFR part 930) prohibit 
EPA from issuing a permit for an activity affecting land or water in the coastal zone until the 
applicant certifies that the proposed activity complies with the State Coastal Zone Management 
program, and the State or its designated agency concurs with the certification (or the Secretary of 
Commerce) overrides the State’s nonconcurrence. 
 
The discharge is within the defined CZM boundaries. The Permittee submitted a letter dated 
November 8, 2021 to the Massachusetts CZM Program stating their intention to abide by the 
CZM water quality and habitat policies. EPA expects that CZM will find the discharge consistent 
with its policies.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2022 Fact Sheet 
Page 32 of 53 

6.0 Public Comments, Hearing Requests and Permit Appeals 

All persons, including applicants, who believe any condition of the Draft Permit is inappropriate 
must raise all issues and submit all available arguments and all supporting material for their 
arguments in full by the close of the public comment period, to: 

George Papadopoulos 
EPA Region 1  
5 Post Office Square, Suite 100 (06-1) 
Boston, MA 02109-3912; Telephone: (617) 918-1579 
Email: papadopoulos,george@epa.gov 

. 

Prior to the close of the public comment period, any person, may submit a written request to 
EPA for a public hearing to consider the Draft Permit. Such requests shall state the nature of the 
issues proposed to be raised in the hearing. A public hearing may be held if the criteria stated in 
40 CFR § 124.12 are satisfied. In reaching a final decision on the Draft Permit, EPA will respond 
to all significant comments in a Response to Comments document attached to the Final Permit 
and make these responses available to the public at EPA's Boston office and on EPA’s website. 

Following the close of the comment period, and after any public hearings, if such hearings are 
held, EPA will issue a Final Permit decision, forward a copy of the final decision to the 
applicant, and provide a copy or notice of availability of the final decision to each person who 
submitted written comments or requested notice. Within 30 days after EPA serves notice of the 
issuance of the Final Permit decision, an appeal of the federal NPDES permit may be 
commenced by filing a petition for review of the permit with the Clerk of EPA’s Environmental 
Appeals Board in accordance with the procedures at 40 CFR § 124.19.  

7.0 Administrative Record 

Following U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and U.S. Office of Personnel 
Management (OPM) guidance and specific state guidelines impacting our regional offices, 
EPA’s workforce has been directed to telework to help prevent transmission of the coronavirus. 
While in this telework status, there are practical limitations on the ability of Agency personnel to 
allow the public to review the administrative record in person at EPA’s Boston office. However, 
any documents relating to this draft can be requested from the individual listed above. 

The administrative record on which this Draft Permit is based may be accessed at EPA’s Boston 
office by appointment, Monday through Friday, excluding holidays from George Papadopoulos, 
EPA Region 1, 5 Post Office Square, Suite 100 (06-1), Boston, MA 02109-3912 or via email to 
papadopoulos.george@epa.gov

Date 

January 2022

Ken Moraff, Director  
Water Division 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

mailto:permit.writer@epa.gov
mailto:papadopoulos.george@epa.gov


NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 33 of 53 

 

 
 

Figure 1: Location Map - Mass Maritime Academy WWTF 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 34 of 53 

Figure 2 – Schematic of Wastewater Treatment Plant 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 35 of 53 

 

 
 

Appendix A – Discharge Monitoring Data 

MASS MARITIME ACADEMY - Outfall Serial Number 001 Effluent Monitoring 

Parameter Flow Flow Flow BOD5 BOD5 BOD5 BOD5 BOD5 TSS TSS TSS 

  
Annual 
Rolling 
AVG 

Monthly 
Avg 

Daily 
Max 

Monthly 
Avg 

Monthly 
Avg 

Weekly 
Average 

Daily 
Max 

Daily      
Max 

Monthly 
Avg 

Weekly 
Average 

Daily 
Max 

Units MGD gal/d MGD lb/d mg/L mg/L lb/d mg/L Mg/L     Mg/L     Mg/L 
Effluent Limit 0.077 Report Report 35 30 45 Report Report 30 45 Report 
Minimum 0.003 3000 0.007 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 3.9 
Maximum 0.042 42000 0.072 5 10.1 10.1 9 14 34 34 44 
Median 0.025 25000 0.0505 1.4 6.85 6.55 2.9 9 8.3 8.3 12.1 
No. of Violations 0 N/A N/A 0 0 0 N/A N/A 1 0 N/A 
Monitoring 
Period End Date                     

5/31/2016 0.035 35000 0.05 2.7 8.1 8.2 3.6 9.5 5.2 3.1 3.9 
6/30/2016 0.02 20000 0.05 1.7 8.5 9 4.2 10.9 10.2 13.3 26 
7/31/2016 0.012 12000 0.032 1.1 7.3 7.3 1.6 8.7 7 7 11.4 
8/31/2016 0.017 17000 0.05 1.4 9.1 9.1 1.9 9.9 9 9 15.8 
9/30/2016 0.035 35000 0.054 2.6 8.1 8.1 3.6 9.5 8.6 8.6 12.2 
10/31/2016 0.036 36000 0.062 4.4 10 10 5.6 14 14 14 17 
11/30/2016 0.033 33000 0.057 2.1 5.3 5.3 2.9 6 12.8 12.8 22 
12/31/2016 0.029 29000 0.071 1.8 6.3 6.3 3.7 9.6 8.8 8.8 15 
1/31/2017 0.01 10000 0.03 0.4 3.9 3.9 0.8 5.5 6.1 6.1 10 
2/28/2017 0.008 8000 0.023 0.3 4.6 4.6 0.4 5.3 7.5 7.5 11 
3/31/2017 0.036 36000 0.055 2.9 7.9 7.9 3.8 11 16.7 16.7 36 
4/30/2017 0.03 30000 0.062 3.1 10 10 4.6 10 20 20 24 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 36 of 53 

Parameter Flow Flow Flow BOD5 BOD5 BOD5 BOD5 BOD5 TSS TSS TSS 
Annual 
Rolling 
AVG 

Monthly 
Avg 

Daily 
Max 

Monthly 
Avg 

Monthly 
Avg 

Weekly 
Average 

Daily 
Max 

Daily   
Max 

Monthly 
Avg 

Weekly 
Average 

Daily 
Max 

Units MGD gal/d MGD lb/d mg/L mg/L lb/d mg/L Mg/L     Mg/L     Mg/L 
5/31/2017     0.032    32000 0.048 3.3 9.1 9.1 3.7 10 22 22 38 
6/30/2017 0.021 21000 0.051 2 9.1 9.1 4.3 10 12.8 12.8 20 
7/31/2017 0.011 11000 0.045 0.7 7.3 7.3 0.9 9 7.3 7.3 9 
8/31/2017 0.016 16000 0.054 0.8 6.9 6.9 1.7 9 18 18 29 
9/30/2017 0.032 32000 0.047 3.2 8.5 8.5 3.8 10 15 15 23 
10/31/2017 0.036 36000 0.05 3.5 8.8 8.8 4.2 10 12 12 16 
11/30/2017 0.032 32000 0.052 2.6 6.8 6.8 4.1 10 7.2 7.2 9 
12/31/2017 0.026 26000 0.058 1.1 5 5 2.1 8 6.3 6.3 10 
1/31/2018 0.01 10000 0.032 0.05 4 4 2 6 5 5 8 
2/28/2018 0.008 8000 0.02 0 3 3 0 3 2 2 4 
3/31/2018 0.031 31000 0.051 1 4 4 3 9 6 6 7 
4/30/2018 0.039 39000 0.067 1 3 3 2 4 4 4 5 
5/31/2018 0.034 34000 0.053 1.4 3.5 3.5 1.9 5 4.8 4.8 6 
6/30/2018 0.024 24000 0.057 1.1 5.8 5.8 2.4 8 5.5 5.5 7 
7/31/2018 0.017 17000 0.045 1.3 7.3 7.3 2.3 8 10.5 10.5 22 
8/31/2018 0.022 22000 0.059 0.6 5 5 0.5 3 5 5 6 
9/30/2018 0.037 37000 0.053 3.3 7.8 7.8 4 9 10 10 17 
10/31/2018 0.038 38000 0.058 3 8 8 4 9 15 15 18 
11/30/2018 0.032 32000 0.032 3 8 8 4 10 10 10 12 
12/31/2018 0.025 25000 0.051 2 7 7 3 10 12 12 20 
1/31/2019 0.01 10000 0.026 0.06 6 6 1.7 8 10 10 13 
2/28/2019 0.009 9000 0.02 0.3 3.3 3.3 0.5 5 7 7 14 
3/31/2019 0.034 34000 0.053 3 9 9 4 10 34 34 44 
4/30/2019 0.033 33000 0.052 3 9 9 4 10 14 14 24 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368  2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 37 of 53 

 

 
 

Parameter Flow Flow Flow BOD5 BOD5 BOD5 BOD5 BOD5 TSS TSS TSS 

 
Annual 
Rolling 
AVG 

Monthly 
Avg 

Daily 
Max 

Monthly 
Avg 

Monthly 
Avg 

Weekly 
Average 

Daily 
Max 

Daily      
Max 

Monthly 
Avg 

Weekly 
Average 

Daily 
Max 

Units MGD gal/d MGD lb/d mg/L mg/L lb/d mg/L Mg/L     Mg/L     Mg/L 
5/31/2019 0.039 39000 0.06 4 9 9 5 10 15 15 22 
6/30/2019 0.025 25000 0.057 2 8 8 4 9 7 7 10 
7/31/2019 0.016 16000 0.037 1 7 7 1 9 13 13 27 
8/31/2019 0.021 21000 0.065 1 7 7 2 9 8 8 15 
9/30/2019 0.039 39000 0.068 3 6 6 3 8 8 8 10 
10/31/2019 0.042 42000 0.063 2 6 6 4 9 7 7 10 
11/30/2019 0.035 35000 0.061 2.1 4.5 4.5 4.1 8 4 4 5 
12/31/2019 0.026 26000 0.072 1 4 4 2 5 5 5 7 
1/31/2020 0.013 13000 0.032 1 5 5 1 7 5 5 8 
2/29/2020 0.009 9000 0.02 0 5 5 0 8 7 6 12 
3/31/2020 0.039 39000 0.062 4.1 10.1 10.1 5 12.6 11.4 11.4 17 
4/30/2020 0.037 37000 0.063 4 9.6 9.6 4.8 11.6 8.8 8.8 15 
5/31/2020 0.003 3000 0.008 5 0 0 9 0 9 9 11 
6/30/2020 0.004 4000 0.007 0 4 4 0 7 5.8 5.8 6.5 
7/31/2020 0.004 4000 0.01 0 4 4 0 6 6.6 6.6 8.5 
8/31/2020 0.011 11000 0.025 0 2 2 0 3 3 3 4.3 
9/30/2020 0.019 19000 0.034 0.7 5 5 1.1 6.3 5 5 6 
10/31/2020 0.018 18000 0.033 1 7 5 1 7 4 4 5 
11/30/2020 0.017 17000 0.019 1 4 4 4 8 6 6 6.3 
12/31/2020 0.007 7000 0.024 0.2 4.8 4.8 0.5 6.5 10 10 16 
1/31/2021 0.004 4000 0.008 0.2 5.9 5.9 0.3 9.2 20 20 29 
2/28/2021 0.027 27000 0.046 2.1 8.2 8.2 3.2 9.7 13 13 16 
3/31/2021 0.028 28000 0.043 1.7 8.6 8.6 2.9 9.5 11 11 19 

Notes: 0 = parameter not detected;  N/A = not applicable 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 38 of 53 

MASS MARITIME ACADEMY - Outfall Serial Number 001 Effluent Monitoring – Continued 

Parameter pH pH BOD5 
% Removal 

TSS 
% Removal 

Settleable 
Solids 

Entero- 
coccus 

Entero- 
coccus 

Fecal 
Coliform 

Fecal 
Coliform 

Min Max Monthly 
Average 

Monthly 
Average Daily Max 

Monthly 
Geometric 
Mean 

Daily 
Max 

Monthly 
Geometric 

Mean 

Daily 
Max 

Units SU SU % % mL/L CFU/100 
mL 

CFU/100 
mL 

CFU/100 
mL 

CFU/100 
mL 

Effluent Limit 6.5 8.5 85 85 Report 35 276 14 43 
Minimum 6.5 7.5 85 86 0 0 0 0 0 
Maximum 7.5 8.5 99 99 0 5 48 0 0 
Median 6.7 8.1 95 96 0 0 0 0 0 
No. of Violations 0 0 0 0 N/A 0 0 0 0 
Monitoring 
Period End Date 
5/31/2016 6.5 7.6 97 99 0 0 0 0 0 
6/30/2016 6.8 8 96 99 0 0 0 0 0 
7/31/2016 6.9 8.2 92 99 0 0 0 0 0 
8/31/2016 6.9 8.3 96 99 0 0 0 0 0 
9/30/2016 6.7 8.2 93 99 0 0 0 0 0 
10/31/2016 7.2 8.3 98 99 0 0 1 0 0 
11/30/2016 6.5 8.5 99 99 0 1 4 0 0 
12/31/2016 6.5 8.5 98 99 0 0 0 0 0 
1/31/2017 6.8 8.5 94 99 0 0 0 0 0 
2/28/2017 7.5 8.5 95 99 0 0 0 0 0 
3/31/2017 6.5 8.4 97 99 0 0 0 0 0 
4/30/2017 6.5 8.3 95 99 0 0 43 0 0 
5/31/2017 6.5 7.5 98 99 0 0 0 0 0 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 39 of 53 

Parameter pH pH BOD5 
% Removal 

TSS 
% Removal 

Settleable 
Solids 

Entero- 
coccus 

Entero- 
coccus 

Fecal 
Coliform 

Fecal 
Coliform 

Min Max Monthly 
Average 

Monthly 
Average Daily Max 

Monthly 
Geometric 

Mean 

Daily 
Max 

Monthly 
Geometric 

Mean 

Daily 
Max 

Units SU SU % % mL/L CFU/100 
mL 

CFU/100 
mL 

CFU/100 
mL 

CFU/100 
mL 

6/30/2017 6.5 8.5 96 99 0 0 3 0 0 
7/31/2017 6.6 8.5 96 99 0 0 0 0 0 
8/31/2017 6.7 8.5 97 99 0 0 0 0 0 
9/30/2017 6.5 8.5 96 93 0 0 6 0 0 
10/31/2017 6.5 8.4 97 95 0 0 8 0 0 
11/30/2017 6.5 7.7 96 92 0 0 0 0 0 
12/31/2017 6.7 7.8 95 95 0 0 0 0 0 
1/31/2018 6.8 7.8 92 94 0 0 0 0 0 
2/28/2018 7.2 7.7 85 95 0 0 0 0 0 
3/31/2018 6.5 7.7 95 93 0 0 0 0 0 
4/30/2018 6.5 7.8 98 92 0 5 17 0 0 
5/31/2018 6.5 7.7 98 97 0 0 0 0 0 
6/30/2018 6.8 8.1 97 96 0 0 0 0 0 
7/31/2018 6.8 8.1 93 87 0 0 0 0 0 
8/31/2018 6.5 8.2 96 96 0 0 0 0 0 
9/30/2018 6.7 8.1 94 94 0 0 0 0 0 
10/31/2018 6.5 8.3 96 93 0 4 48 0 0 
11/30/2018 6.5 8.4 96 94 0 0 0 0 0 
12/31/2018 6.9 8.2 95 92 0 0 0 0 0 
1/31/2019 6.5 8.4 95 93 0 4 37 0 0 
2/28/2019 6.5 8.5 95 93 0 0 0 0 0 
3/31/2019 6.5 8.4 85 96 0 0 0 0 0 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 40 of 53 

Parameter pH pH BOD5 
% Removal 

TSS 
% Removal 

Settleable 
Solids 

Entero- 
coccus 

Entero- 
coccus 

Fecal 
Coliform 

Fecal 
Coliform 

Min Max Monthly 
Average 

Monthly 
Average Daily Max 

Monthly 
Geometric 

Mean 

Daily 
Max 

Monthly 
Geometric 

Mean 

Daily 
Max 

Units SU SU % % mL/L CFU/100 
mL 

CFU/100 
mL 

CFU/100 
mL 

CFU/100 
mL 

4/30/2019 6.6 8.3 92 88 0 0 0 0 0 
5/31/2019 6.6 8.3 92 89 0 0 0 0 0 
6/30/2019 6.7 8.5 86 94 0 0 0 0 0 
7/31/2019 6.7 8.5 85 94 0 0 0 0 0 
8/31/2019 6.5 8.4 93 95 0 0 0 0 0 
9/30/2019 6.7 8.4 95 97 0 0 0 0 0 
10/31/2019 6.5 7.7 95 96 0 4 48 0 0 
11/30/2019 6.7 7.6 94 96 0 0 0 0 0 
12/31/2019 6.6 7.8 98 98 0 0 0 0 0 
1/31/2020 6.8 7.9 94 97 0 0 0 0 0 
2/29/2020 6.6 7.8 91 96 0 0 0 0 0 
3/31/2020 7.1 7.5 97 99 0 0 0 0 0 
4/30/2020 6.5 7.8 97 99 0 0 0 0 0 
5/31/2020 6.8 7.5 98 86 0 0 0 0 0 
6/30/2020 6.9 7.6 88 96 0 0 0 0 0 
7/31/2020 6.6 7.8 86 92 0 0 0 0 0 
8/31/2020 7 7.6 87 98 0 0 0 0 0 
9/30/2020 6.8 7.7 98 98 0 0 0 0 0 
10/31/2020 6.9 7.6 97 98 0 0 0 0 0 
11/30/2020 6.9 7.7 93 98 0 0 0 0 0 
12/31/2020 7.1 7.9 93 90 0 0 0 0 0 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 41 of 53 

Parameter pH pH BOD5 
% Removal 

TSS 
% Removal 

Settleable 
Solids 

Entero- 
coccus 

Entero- 
coccus 

Fecal 
Coliform 

Fecal 
Coliform 

Min Max Monthly 
Average 

Monthly 
Average Daily Max 

Monthly 
Geometric 

Mean 

Daily 
Max 

Monthly 
Geometric 

Mean 

Daily 
Max 

Units SU SU % % mL/L CFU/100 
mL 

CFU/100 
mL 

CFU/100 
mL 

CFU/100 
mL 

1/31/2021 7 7.7 85 89 0 0 0 0 0 
2/28/2021 6.8 7.6 91 96 0 0 0 0 0 
3/31/2021 6.6 7.5 96 90 0 0 0 0 0 

Notes: 0 = parameter not detected;  N/A = not applicable 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 42 of 53 

MASS MARITIME ACADEMY - Outfall Serial Number 001 
Effluent Monitoring – Continued 

Parameter Ammonia TKN TN Nitrite+Nitrate 

Daily Max Daily Max Daily Max Daily Max 

Units mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L 
Effluent Limit Report Report Report Report 
Minimum 0 0 0 0 
Maximum 86 45 110 100 
Median 0.76 3.95 69 58.65 
No. of Violations N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Monitoring 
Period End Date 
5/31/2016 0.5 0.9 95.8 92.4 
6/30/2016 0 2.4 62.8 60.4 
7/31/2016 0 0 0 0 
8/31/2016 0 2.7 58.5 56 
9/30/2016 86 0.6 91 86 
10/31/2016 0.52 33.3 68.7 35.4 
11/30/2016 0 2.7 91.8 89.1 
12/31/2016 3 6.6 83 77 
1/31/2017 0 1.9 60.3 58 
2/28/2017 0 1.7 45.6 44 
3/31/2017 2.7 6.7 81.5 75 
4/30/2017 13.5 22.6 82.5 59.9 
5/31/2017 22 32 99 67 
6/30/2017 2.3 8.5 61 52 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 43 of 53 

Parameter Ammonia TKN TN Nitrite+Nitrate 
Daily Max Daily Max Daily Max Daily Max 

Units mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L 

7/31/2017 0 2 32 29.6 
8/31/2017 6.2 11 52 41 
9/30/2017 27 34 110 73 
10/31/2017 21 26 99 73 
11/30/2017 0 3.4 104 100 
12/31/2017 0 6.1 85 78 
1/31/2018 0.61 4.3 72 68 
2/28/2018 0 1.1 28 27 
3/31/2018 1.4 7.5 74 66 
4/30/2018 0 1.9 102 100 
5/31/2018 0 2.4 90 88 
6/30/2018 0 1.8 69 67 
7/31/2018 1.1 2.5 39 36.5 
8/31/2018 6.2 10 55 45.3 
9/30/2018 3.5 9.8 86 75.8 
10/31/2018 0.72 1.6 80 78.1 
11/30/2018 0 3.6 81 77.8 
12/31/2018 11 12 69 57 
1/31/2019 0 1.3 37 37 
2/28/2019 0.99 6.7 47 40.1 
3/31/2019 39 45 96 51.5 
4/30/2019 30 38 109 71 
5/31/2019 20 29 95 65.5 
6/30/2019 26 31 104 73 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 44 of 53 

Parameter Ammonia TKN TN Nitrite+Nitrate 
Daily Max Daily Max Daily Max Daily Max 

Units mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L 

7/31/2019 4.2 12 57 44.2 
8/31/2019 11 17 58 41.2 
9/30/2019 12 20 80 59.1 
10/31/2019 4.3 7.8 76 68.6 
11/30/2019 0 1.8 57 55.5 
12/31/2019 2.7 4.5 76 71.6 
1/31/2020 1.7 4.9 62 57.5 
2/29/2020 0 1.3 37 35.9 
3/31/2020 26.9 33.3 91.5 58.2 
4/30/2020 8.4 13.4 30.2 17 
5/31/2020 0 0.9 17 16.2 
6/30/2020 0 1.1 25 23.7 
7/31/2020 0 1.3 30 16 
8/31/2020 0 2 24 21.8 
9/30/2020 78 1.6 0 76.6 
10/31/2020 0 0 35 36 
11/30/2020 0 0 87 86.5 
12/31/2020 0 1.1 31 30.3 
1/31/2021 0 1.2 4.8 3.6 
2/28/2021 22 26 100 76 
3/31/2021 0.8 6.2 75 68.9 

Notes: 0 = parameter not detected;  N/A = not applicable 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 45 of 53 

MASS MARITIME ACADEMY - Outfall Serial Number 002 Effluent Monitoring 

Parameter Flow pH pH TRC Copper 

Daily Max Minimum Maximum Daily Max Daily Max 

Units gal/d SU SU mg/L mg/L 
Effluent Limit 10000 6.5 8.5 1 0.5 
Minimum 6000 7 7 0 0 
Maximum 187000 7.8 7.8 0.5 0.2 
Median 9500 7.6 7.6 0 0.01 
No. of Violations 1 0 0 0 0 
Monitoring 
Period End Date 

5/31/2016 8500 7.6 7.6 0 0 
6/30/2016 8250 7.6 7.6 0 0 
7/31/2016 8500 7.6 7.6 0 0 
8/31/2016 6000 7.5 7.5 0 0 
9/30/2016 187000# 7.6 7.6 0 0 
10/31/2016 9500 7.6 7.6 0 0 
11/30/2016 8000 7.6 7.6 0 0.1 
12/31/2016 6200 7.7 7.7 0 0.2 
1/31/2017 9500 7.6 7.6 0 0.2 
2/28/2017 9500 7.7 7.7 0 0.2 
3/31/2017 8800 7.7 7.7 0.5 0.2 
4/30/2017 10000 7.6 7.6 0.01 0.2 
5/31/2017 8750 7.7 7.7 0.02 0.1 
6/30/2017 8000 7.5 7.5 0 0.01 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 46 of 53 

Parameter Flow pH pH TRC Copper 
Daily Max Minimum Maximum Daily Max Daily Max 

Units gal/d SU SU mg/L mg/L 

7/31/2017 8200 7.7 7.7 0.5 0.1 
8/31/2017 7750 7.7 7.7 0 0 
9/30/2017 9200 7.7 7.7 0 0.2 
10/31/2017 9200 7.6 7.6 0 0.01 
11/30/2017 9450 7.8 7.8 0 0.01 
12/31/2017 7800 7.8 7.8 0 0.01 
1/31/2018 8100 7.8 7.8 0 0.02 
2/28/2018 9800 7.8 7.8 0 0.003 
3/31/2018 9100 7.8 7.8 0 0.01 
4/30/2018 6500 7.7 7.7 0 0.01 
5/31/2018 9200 7.6 7.6 0 0.02 
6/30/2018 9310 7.5 7.5 0 0.01 
7/31/2018 8500 7.7 7.7 0 0.02 
8/31/2018 9000 7.6 7.6 0 0.01 
9/30/2018 10000 7.7 7.7 0 0.01 
10/31/2018 10000 7.7 7.7 0 0.01 
11/30/2018 7500 7.7 7.7 0 0.01 
12/31/2018 9500 7.7 7.7 0 0.02 
1/31/2019 9890 7.5 7.5 0 0.01 
2/28/2019 9500 7.6 7.6 0 0.02 
3/31/2019 7000 7 7 0 0.01 
4/30/2019 9400 7.7 7.7 0 0.02 
5/31/2019 9500 7.8 7.8 0 0.01 
6/30/2019 9000 7.6 7.6 0 0.01 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 47 of 53 

Parameter Flow pH pH TRC Copper 
Daily Max Minimum Maximum Daily Max Daily Max 

Units gal/d SU SU mg/L mg/L 

7/31/2019 9860 7.8 7.8 0 0.02 
8/31/2019 10000 7.6 7.6 0 0.01 
9/30/2019 10000 7.7 7.7 0 0.01 
10/31/2019 9000 7.8 7.8 0 0.02 
11/30/2019 10000 7.6 7.6 0 0.01 
12/31/2019 9000 7.6 7.6 0 0.01 
1/31/2020 10000 7.7 7.7 0 0.01 
2/29/2020 10000 7.7 7.7 0 0.02 
3/31/2020 9800 7.7 7.7 0 0.01 
4/30/2020 7800 7.6 7.6 0 0.02 
5/31/2020 10000 7.6 7.6 0 0.01 
6/30/2020 10000 7.6 7.6 0 0.01 
7/31/2020 10000 7.5 7.5 0 0.02 
8/31/2020 10000 7.6 7.6 0 0.01 
9/30/2020 10000 7.6 7.6 0 0.02 
10/31/2020 10000 7.6 7.6 0 0.02 
11/30/2020 10000 7.7 7.7 0 0.01 
12/31/2020 10000 7.6 7.6 0 0.01 
1/31/2021 10000 7.5 7.5 0 0.01 
2/28/2021 10000 7.6 7.6 0 0.01 
3/31/2021 10000 7.6 7.6 0 0.01 

# Swimming pool completely discharged 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 48 of 53 

Mass Maritime Academy  
          Outfall 001 - Whole Effluent Toxicity Testing - Effluent 

Parameter 

LC50 - 
Acute 

Mysidopsis 
Bahia 

Aluminum Cadmium Copper Lead Nickel Zinc Ammonia 

Daily Min 
Units % mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L 
Effluent Limit 50 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Minimum 100 0 0 0.027 0 0.007 0.019 0 
Maximum 100 0.915 0 0.222 0 0.135 0.555 0.076 
Median 100 0.127 0 0.057 0 0.010 0.187 0.007 
No. of Violations 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Monitoring 
Period End Date 

6/30/2016 100 0. 0 0.035 0 0.014 0.187 0.007 
6/30/2017 100 0.337 0 0.057 0 0.008 0.19 0.015 
6/30/2018 100 0.127 0 0.064 0 0.135 0.112 0.076 
6/30/2019 100 0.915 0 0.222 0 0.007 0.555 0. 
6/30/2020 100 0.065 0 0.027 0 0.010 0.019 0 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 49 of 53 

Mass Maritime Academy  
Outfall 001 - Whole Effluent Toxicity Testing – Receiving Water 

Parameter Aluminum Cadmium Copper Lead Nickel Zinc Ammonia pH 

Daily Max Daily 
Max 

Daily 
Max 

Daily 
Max 

Daily 
Max 

Daily 
Max 

Daily 
Max 

Daily 
Max 

Units mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L 
Effluent 
Limit Report Report Report Report Report Report Report Report 

Minimum 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6.59 
Maximum 0.11 0 0.004 0 0.031 0.076 0 7.9 
Median 0.024 0 0 0 0 0.007 0 7.82 
No. of 
Violations N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Monitoring 
Period End 
Date 
6/30/2016 0.01 0 0 0 0.031 0.007 0 7.9 
6/30/2017 0.08 0 0      0 0 0.015 0 7.82 
6/30/2018 0.11 0 0 0 0 0.076 0 7.89 
6/30/2019 0.024 0 0 0 0 0 0 6.7 
6/30/2020 0 0 0.004 0 0      0        0 6.59 

Notes: 0 = parameter not detected;  N/A = not applicable 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 50 of 53 

Appendix B: Reasonable Potential Analysis 

Methodology 

A reasonable potential analysis is completed using a single set of critical conditions for flow and pollutant concentration that will ensure 
the protection of water quality standards. To determine the critical condition of the effluent, EPA projects an upper bound of the effluent 
concentration based on the observed monitoring data and a selected probability basis. EPA generally applies the quantitative approach 
found in Appendix E of the Technical Support Document for Water Quality-based Toxics Control (TSD)15 to determine the upper bound 
of the effluent data. This methodology accounts for effluent variability based on the size of the dataset and the occurrence of non-detects 
(i.e., samples results in which a parameter is not detected above laboratory minimum levels). EPA used this methodology to calculate the 
95th percentile. 

EPA uses the calculated upper bound of the effluent data, along with a concentration representative of the parameter in the receiving 
water, the critical effluent flow, and the critical upstream flow to project the downstream concentration after complete mixing using the 
following simple mass-balance equation:  

QsCs + QeCe = QdCd 
Where: 

Cd = downstream concentration  
Cs = upstream concentration (median value of available ambient data) 
Ce = effluent concentration (95th percentile of effluent concentrations) 
Qs = upstream flow (7Q10 flow upstream of the outfall)  
Qe = effluent flow of the Facility (permitted maximum daily flow) 
Qd = downstream flow (Qs + Qe)  

15 USEPA, Technical Support Document for Water Quality-Based Toxics Control, Office of Water, Washington, D.C., March 1991. 



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 51 of 53 

Solving for the receiving water concentration downstream of the discharge (Cd) yields: 

Cd =
CsQs + CeQe

Qd

EPA uses the calculated upper bound of the effluent data and a concentration representative of the parameter in the receiving water 
outside of the zone of influence of the discharge to project the downstream concentration after complete mixing using the following 
simple mass-balance equation:  

𝐶𝐶𝑠𝑠(𝐷𝐷𝐷𝐷 − 1) + Ce = Cd(DF) 

Where: 

Cd = downstream concentration  
Ce = effluent concentration (95th percentile of effluent concentrations)  
DF = dilution factor (See Available Dilution section of the Fact Sheet) 

Solving for the receiving water concentration downstream of the discharge (Cd) yields: 

𝐶𝐶𝑑𝑑 =
𝐶𝐶𝑠𝑠(𝐷𝐷𝐷𝐷 − 1) + 𝐶𝐶𝑒𝑒

𝐷𝐷𝐷𝐷

When the downstream concentration exceeds the applicable criterion, there is reasonable potential for the discharge to cause, or contribute 
to an excursion above WQSs. See 40 CFR § 122.44(d). When EPA determines that a discharge causes, has the reasonable potential to 
cause, or contribute to such an excursion, the permit must contain WQBELs for the parameter. The limitation is calculated by rearranging 
the above mass balance equation to solve for the effluent concentration using the applicable criterion as the downstream concentration. 
See 40 CFR § 122.44(d)(1)(iii).  



NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 52 of 53 

Determination of Applicable Criteria 

State water quality criteria are derived from EPA’s National Recommended Water Quality Criteria: 2002, which are incorporated into the 
state WQSs by reference at 314 CMR 4.05(5). For dissolved to total recoverable metal conversion, see Appendix A - Conversion Factors 
for Dissolved Metals: http://water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/standards/criteria/current/index.cfm#appendxa required by 314 CMR 
4.05(5)(e). The criteria are presented in the following table: 

Summary of Applicable Criteria 

Parameter 
Applicable Criteria1 

Acute Criterion (CMC)        Chronic Criterion (CCC)        

Units µg/L µg/L 
Aluminum -----       ----- 
Cadmium 40.2 8.9 

Copper 5.8 3.7 
Lead 220.8 8.5 

Nickel 74.7 8.3 
Zinc 95.1 85.6 

Ammonia (warm)2 44.0 6.6 
Ammonia (cold)2 200 30 

1 For dissolved to total recoverable metal conversion, see Appendix A - Conversion Factors for Dissolved Metals: 
http://water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/standards/criteria/current/index.cfm#appendxa; Required by 314 CMR 4.05(5)(e).   
2 Ammonia data was divided between warm weather months (April 1 – October 31) and cold weather months (November 1 – March 30). Ammonia criteria are 
calculated based on the temperature and pH of the receiving water. A temperature of 25°C was assumed for calculating warm weather criteria and a temperature of 
5°C for cold weather criteria. A receiving water pH of 7.82 S.U. was calculated based on pH data from quarterly WET tests. 

http://water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/standards/criteria/current/index.cfm#appendxa
http://water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/standards/criteria/current/index.cfm#appendxa


NPDES Permit No. MA0024368 2021 Fact Sheet 
Page 53 of 53 

Calculation of Reasonable Potential 

EPA first calculated the upper bound of expected effluent concentrations for each parameter. EPA then used the calculated upper bound of 
expected effluent concentrations, the median value of the available ambient data, the permitted daily maximum effluent flow and the 
upstream 7Q10 flow to project the in-stream concentration downstream from the discharge. When this resultant in-stream concentration 
(C) exceeds the applicable criterion, there is reasonable potential for the discharge to cause, or contribute to an excursion above water
quality standards. The table below presents the reasonable potential calculations and, if applicable, the calculation of the limits required in
the permit.

Summary of Reasonable Potential Results 

Parameter Ambient 
Concentration1 

Effluent 
Concentration2 

Downstream 
Acute 

Concentration3

Downstream 
Chronic 

Concentration3 

Acute 
Criterion 

Chronic 
Criterion 

Acute 
Reasonable 
Potential4 

Chronic 
Reasonable 
Potential4 

Units µg/L µg/L µg/L µg/L µg/L µg/L ― ― 

Aluminum 24 2104 28.2 28.2         ---- ----        N/A N/A 

Cadmium 0 0 0 0 40.2 8.9 N N 

Copper 0 510.6 1.0 1.0 1.0        3.7 N N 

Lead 0 0 0 0 220.8 8.5 N N 

Nickel 0 310.5 0.6 0.6 74.7       8.3 N N 

Zinc 7 1267.5 9.5 9.5 95.1 85.6 N N 
Ammonia 

(cold) 0 22.7 0 0 200.0 30.0 N N 

Ammonia 
(warm) 0          63.4 0.1    0.1  44.0 6.6 N N 

1 Values represent the median receiving water concentration from Whole Effluent Toxicity testing. For certain parameters, the value of “0” represents a median value 
of non-detect. 
2 Values represent the 95th percentile concentration calculated using the monitoring data reported by the Facility (See Appendix A). 
3 Values are calculated as described above, using the dilution factor of 500:1 
4 ‘Y’ indicates there is a reasonable potential, ‘N’ indicates there is no reasonable potential 



UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL  
PROTECTION AGENCY – REGION 1 (EPA) 
WATER DIVISION  
5 POST OFFICE SQUARE  
BOSTON, MASSACHUSETTS 02109 

MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF   
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (MASSDEP) 
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
1 WINTER STREET  
BOSTON, MASSACHUSETTS 02108 

EPA PUBLIC NOTICE OF A DRAFT NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION 
SYSTEM (NPDES) PERMIT TO DISCHARGE INTO WATERS OF THE UNITED STATES UNDER 
SECTION 402 OF THE CLEAN WATER ACT (CWA), AS AMENDED, AND MASSDEP PUBLIC 
NOTICE OF EPA REQUEST FOR STATE CERTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 401 OF THE CWA. 

PUBLIC NOTICE PERIOD: January 10, 2022 to February 8, 2022 

PERMIT NUMBER:  MA0024368 
 
NAME AND MAILING ADDRESS OF APPLICANT: 

Massachusetts Maritime Academy 
101 Academy Drive 
Buzzards Bay, MA  02532 

NAME AND ADDRESS OF THE FACILITY WHERE DISCHARGE OCCURS: 

Massachusetts Maritime Academy 
101 Academy Drive 
Buzzards Bay, MA  02532 

RECEIVING WATER AND CLASSIFICATION:  

Cape Cod Canal (MA 95-14); Buzzards Bay Watershed 
Class SB – restricted shellfishing 

PREPARATION OF THE DRAFT PERMIT AND EPA REQUEST FOR CWA § 401 CERTIFICATION: 

EPA is issuing for public notice and comment the Draft NPDES Permit for the Massachusetts Maritime 
Academy Facility, which discharges treated sanitary wastewater, chiller water and treated swimming pool 
water. The effluent limits and permit conditions have been drafted pursuant to, and assure compliance with, 
the CWA, including EPA-approved State Surface Water Quality Standards at 314 CMR 4.00. MassDEP 
cooperated with EPA in the development of the Draft NPDES Permit. MassDEP retains independent 
authority under State law to publish for public notice and issue a separate Surface Water Discharge Permit 
for the discharge, not the subject of this notice, under the Massachusetts Clean Waters Act, M.G.L. c. 21, §§ 
26-53.

In addition, EPA has requested that MassDEP grant or deny certification of this Draft Permit pursuant to 
Section 401 of the CWA and implementing regulations. Under federal regulations governing the NPDES 
program at 40 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 124.53(e), state certification shall contain conditions 
that are necessary to assure compliance with the applicable provisions of CWA sections 208(e), 301, 302, 
303, 306, and 307 and with appropriate requirements of State law, including any conditions more stringent 

https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=082047017b0b9be08dc0c842c39971a9&term_occur=999&term_src=Title:40:Chapter:I:Subchapter:D:Part:124:Subpart:D:124.53
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=a65af6358b6fb418657a3d5f195b7431&term_occur=999&term_src=Title:40:Chapter:I:Subchapter:D:Part:124:Subpart:D:124.53
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=4334aaf0d9c0e9534622ad5db0e59f61&term_occur=999&term_src=Title:40:Chapter:I:Subchapter:D:Part:124:Subpart:D:124.53
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=082047017b0b9be08dc0c842c39971a9&term_occur=999&term_src=Title:40:Chapter:I:Subchapter:D:Part:124:Subpart:D:124.53


than those in the Draft Permit that MassDEP finds necessary to meet these requirements. Furthermore, 
MassDEP may provide a statement of the extent to which each condition of the Draft Permit can be made 
less stringent without violating the requirements of State law. 

INFORMATION ABOUT THE DRAFT PERMIT: 

The Draft Permit and explanatory Fact Sheet may be obtained at no cost at https://www.epa.gov/npdes-
permits/massachusetts-draft-individual-npdes-permits or by contacting: 

  

. 

George Papadopoulos 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency – Region 1 
5 Post Office Square, Suite 100 (06-1) 
Boston, MA 02109-3912 
Telephone: (617) 918-1579 
Email: Papadopoulos.George@epa.gov

Following U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and U.S. Office of Personnel 
Management (OPM) guidance and specific state guidelines impacting our regional offices, EPA’s workforce 
has been directed to telework to help prevent transmission of the coronavirus. While in this workforce 
telework status, there are practical limitations on the ability of Agency personnel to allow the public to 
review the administrative record in person at the EPA Boston office. However, any electronically available 
documents that are part of the administrative record can be requested from the EPA contact above.   

PUBLIC COMMENT AND REQUESTS FOR PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

All persons, including applicants, who believe any condition of this Draft Permit is inappropriate must raise 
all reasonably ascertainable issues and submit all reasonably available arguments supporting their position 
by February 8, 2022, which is the close of the public comment period. Comments, including those 
pertaining to EPA’s request for CWA § 401 certification, should be submitted to the EPA contact at the 
address or email listed above. Upon the close of the public comment period, EPA will make all comments 
available to MassDEP. All commenters who want MassDEP to consider their comments in the state 
decision-making processes (i.e., the separate state permit and the CWA § 401 certification) must submit 
such comments to MassDEP during the state comment period for the state Draft Permit and CWA § 401 
certification. For information on submitting such comments to MassDEP, please follow the instructions 
found in the state public notice at: https://www.mass.gov/service-details/massdep-public-hearings-
comment-opportunities

Any person, prior to the close of the EPA public comment period, may submit a request in writing to EPA 
for a public hearing on the Draft Permit under 40 CFR § 124.10. Such requests shall state the nature of the 
issues proposed to be raised in the hearing. A public hearing may be held after at least thirty days public 
notice if the Regional Administrator finds that response to this notice indicates significant public interest. In 
reaching a final decision on this Draft Permit, the Regional Administrator will respond to all significant 
comments and make the responses available to the public. 

Due to the COVID-19 National Emergency, if comments are submitted in hard copy form, please also email 
a copy to the EPA contact above. 

https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=6ca1e02f68d20132a2d9c5ba8a45339e&term_occur=999&term_src=Title:40:Chapter:I:Subchapter:D:Part:124:Subpart:D:124.53
https://www.epa.gov/npdes-permits/massachusetts-draft-individual-npdes-permits
https://www.epa.gov/npdes-permits/massachusetts-draft-individual-npdes-permits
mailto:Papadopoulos.George@epa.gov
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.mass.gov%2Fservice-details%2Fmassdep-public-hearings-comment-opportunities&data=04%7C01%7CDemeo.Sharon%40epa.gov%7C05a09110f74448e20cc308d8f86461f3%7C88b378b367484867acf976aacbeca6a7%7C0%7C0%7C637532457301655994%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=wA%2BL55miwGpLU%2FkccOIxoUt9RxJYvVIMcNQ70su3Dos%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.mass.gov%2Fservice-details%2Fmassdep-public-hearings-comment-opportunities&data=04%7C01%7CDemeo.Sharon%40epa.gov%7C05a09110f74448e20cc308d8f86461f3%7C88b378b367484867acf976aacbeca6a7%7C0%7C0%7C637532457301655994%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=wA%2BL55miwGpLU%2FkccOIxoUt9RxJYvVIMcNQ70su3Dos%3D&reserved=0


FINAL PERMIT DECISION: 

Following the close of the comment period, and after a public hearing, if such hearing is held, the Regional 
Administrator will issue a final permit decision and notify the applicant and each person who has submitted 
written comments or requested notice.   

KEN MORAFF, DIRECTOR 
WATER DIVISION   
UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION AGENCY – REGION 1 

LEALDON LANGLEY, DIRECTOR 
DIVISION OF WATERSHED MGMT 
MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 


	01.25.22 BOSC Agenda - Stamped
	7a. Pump Operations for 2021
	7b. Hideaway Village Vice President requesting a meeting
	7b. Hidaway Village Agreement March 8 2019
	7b. Operation and Maintenance Agreement dated June 26 1990
	7b. List of Private Sewer Systems
	7b. Tom Guerino Memo to Selectmen - Hideaway village history on costs
	7b. BOSC minutes dated - 3.19.2013 - 7.30.2013 - 10.15.2013 - 01.07.2014 - 03.31.2015 - 03.08.2016
	7b. IMA with Wareham February 23 2010
	7b. BOSC Minutes denying funding to Hideaway Village - August 25 2020
	7c. Alfano - Wastewater Advisory
	7c. Andrews - Wastewater Advisory
	7c. Barber - Wastewater Advisory
	7c. Hyldburg - Wastewater Advisory
	7c. Langille - Wastewater Advisory
	7c. Mealy - Wastewater Advisory
	7c. Potter - Wastewater Advisory
	7c. Chair Email - Requesting Wastewater Advisory Committee Volunteers - January 20 2022
	7c. Mastrangelo Email - Wastewater Advisory Committee - January 20 2022
	7e. Sewer Budget Fiscal Year 2023
	7e. FY23 Capital Outlay ATM 2022 Updated 1.1.2022
	7f. Buzzards Bay Commercial Wastewater Summary Sheet - Jan 21 2022
	rptUsageTotalsSubReport

	7g. Barnstable County request for ARPA comments Press Release
	7g. Cannon Email - Public Comment on ARPA Funding - January 6 2022
	7h. Draft NPDES Permit for the Massachusetts Maritime Academy - MA0024368
	7h. DRAFT MA Maritime permit
	Part I: MA Draft NPDES Discharge Permit 
	Attachment A: Marine Acute Toxicity Test Procedure and Protocol July 2012
	V.2.a. Use of Concurrent Reference Toxicity Testing


	Part II: Standard Conditions (April 26, 2018)
	A. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS
	B. OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF POLLUTION CONTROLS
	C. MONITORING REQUIREMENTS
	D.  REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
	E. DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

	Fact Sheet
	Table 1: Summary of Designated Uses and Listing Status
	Figure 1: Location Map
	Figure 2: Schematic of Wastewater Treatment Plant
	Appendix A: Discharge Monitoring Data for Outfall 001
	Appendix B: Reasonable Potential Analysis

	Public Notice




